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                         PART 1 - FINANCIAL INFORMATION 
 
                          ITEM 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
                               MOVADO GROUP, INC. 
                           CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 
 
                      (in thousands, except share amounts) 
                                   (Unaudited) 
 
 
                                                                              JULY 31,            JANUARY 31,          JULY 31, 
                                                                                2000                 2000                1999 
                                                                                ----                 ----                ---- 
                                                                                                               
ASSETS 
 
Current assets: 
    Cash and cash equivalents                                                  $8,191              $26,615              $32,628 
    Trade receivables, net                                                    109,928              103,795              104,641 
    Inventories                                                               100,749               77,075              118,143 
    Other current assets                                                       21,232               19,341               20,120 
                                                                             --------             --------             -------- 
       Total current assets                                                   240,100              226,826              275,532 
 
Plant, property and equipment, net                                             29,006               27,593               26,728 
Other assets                                                                   14,178               12,767               13,021 
                                                                             --------             --------             -------- 
                                                                             $283,284             $267,186             $315,281 
                                                                             ========             ========             ======== 
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 
 
Current liabilities: 
    Loans payable to banks                                                    $29,990              $13,500              $47,950 
    Current portion of long-term debt                                           5,000                5,000                5,000 
    Accounts payable                                                           22,040               17,562               17,857 
    Accrued liabilities                                                        20,675               26,602               15,081 
    Deferred and current taxes payable                                          6,343                5,432                8,790 
                                                                             --------             --------             -------- 
       Total current liabilities                                               84,048               68,096               94,678 
 
Long-term debt                                                                 45,000               45,000               50,000 
Deferred and non-current foreign income taxes                                   4,594                5,105                6,286 
Other liabilities                                                               1,227                1,170                1,627 
                                                                             --------             --------             -------- 
       Total liabilities                                                      134,869              119,371              152,591 
                                                                             --------             --------             -------- 
 
 
Shareholders' equity: 
    Preferred Stock, $0.01 par value, 
    5,000,000 shares authorized; no shares issued                                   -                    -                    - 
    Common Stock, $0.01 par value, 
       20,000,000 shares authorized;  9,505,298, 9,496,529 and 
       9,472,425 shares issued, respectively                                       95                   95                   95 
    Class A Common Stock, $0.01 par value, 
       10,000,000 shares authorized; 3,509,733, 3,509,733 and 
       3,509,773 shares issued and outstanding, respectively                       35                   35                   35 
    Capital in excess of par value                                             66,199               66,113               65,403 
    Retained earnings                                                         122,588              118,615              114,242 
    Accumulated other comprehensive income                                    (14,106)             (16,462)              (6,629) 
    Treasury stock, 1,437,270, 920,690 and 488,490 shares, 
    respectively, at cost                                                     (26,396)             (20,581)             (10,456) 
                                                                             --------             --------             -------- 
                                                                              148,415              147,815              162,690 
                                                                             --------             --------             -------- 
                                                                             $283,284             $267,186             $315,281 
                                                                             ========             ========             ======== 
 
 
                 SEE NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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                               MOVADO GROUP, INC. 
                        CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME 
 
               (in thousands, except share and per share amounts) 
                                   (Unaudited) 
 
 
 
                                                           SIX MONTHS ENDED JULY 31,               THREE MONTHS ENDED JULY 31, 
                                                           -------------------------               --------------------------- 
                                                           2000                1999                 2000                1999 
                                                           ----                ----                 ----                ---- 
                                                                                                            
Net Sales                                                $129,512            $117,191             $76,173              $69,538 
 
Costs and expenses: 
    Cost of sales                                          51,685              46,935              30,387               28,317 
    Selling, general and administrative                    68,672              61,001              37,627               33,961 
                                                         --------            --------             -------              ------- 
 
Operating income                                            9,155               9,255               8,159                7,260 
 
Net interest expense                                        3,079               2,665               1,853                1,518 
 
Gain on disposition of business                                 -               4,752                   -                    - 
                                                         --------            --------             -------              ------- 
 
Income before income taxes                                  6,076              11,342               6,306                5,742 
 
Provision for income taxes                                  1,519               2,609               1,576                1,320 
                                                         --------            --------             -------              ------- 
 
Net income                                                 $4,557              $8,733              $4,730               $4,422 
                                                         ========            ========             =======              ======= 
 
Basic income per share                                      $0.39               $0.69               $0.41                $0.35 
                                                         ========            ========             =======              ======= 
 
Diluted income per share                                    $0.38               $0.67               $0.40                $0.34 
                                                         ========            ========             =======              ======= 
 
Dividends declared per share                                $0.05               $0.05              $0.025               $0.025 
                                                         ========            ========             =======              ======= 
 
Average shares outstanding                                 11,806              12,687              11,632               12,604 
 
Dilutive effect of stock options                              173                 393                 117                  393 
                                                         --------            --------             -------              ------- 
 
Average shares outstanding assuming dilution               11,979              13,080              11,749               12,997 
                                                         ========            ========             =======              ======= 
 
 
                 SEE NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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                               MOVADO GROUP, INC. 
                      CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
 
                                 (in thousands) 
                                   (Unaudited) 
 
 
 
                                                                                         SIX MONTHS ENDED JULY 31, 
                                                                                         ------------------------- 
                                                                                        2000                   1999 
                                                                                        ----                   ---- 
                                                                                                          
Cash flows from operating activities: 
   Net income                                                                          $ 4,557                 $ 8,733 
   Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash used in operating 
   activities: 
      Depreciation and amortization                                                      2,634                   2,533 
      Deferred and non-current foreign income taxes                                       (477)                    808 
      Provision for losses on accounts receivable                                          513                     437 
      Provision for losses on inventory                                                    129                       - 
      Gain on disposition of business                                                        -                  (4,752) 
      Changes in current assets and liabilities: 
          Trade receivables                                                             (7,165)                  4,051 
          Inventories                                                                  (24,137)                (16,136) 
          Other current assets                                                          (2,000)                   (826) 
          Accounts payable                                                               4,659                  (6,323) 
          Accrued liabilities                                                           (5,536)                 (8,036) 
          Deferred & current taxes payable                                                 517                  (1,106) 
          Other non-current assets                                                       2,350                  (1,126) 
          Other non-current liabilities                                                     55                    (180) 
                                                                                       -------                 ------- 
   Net cash used in operating activities                                               (23,901)                (21,923) 
                                                                                       -------                 ------- 
Cash flows from investing activities: 
   Capital expenditures                                                                 (3,883)                 (6,010) 
   Proceeds from disposition of business                                                    -                   28,409 
   Goodwill, trademarks and other intangibles                                             (538)                 (1,019) 
                                                                                       -------                 ------- 
   Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities                                  (4,421)                 21,380 
                                                                                       -------                 ------- 
Cash flows from financing activities: 
   Repayment of Senior Notes                                                                 -                  (5,000) 
   Net proceeds from bank borrowings                                                    16,490                  40,750 
   Principal payments under capital leases                                                   -                     (69) 
   Stock options exercised                                                                   7                     301 
   Dividends paid                                                                         (577)                   (632) 
   Purchase of treasury stock                                                           (5,814)                 (7,468) 
                                                                                       -------                 ------- 
   Net cash provided by financing activities                                            10,106                  27,882 
                                                                                       -------                 ------- 
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents                              (208)                   (337) 
                                                                                       -------                 ------- 
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents                                   (18,424)                 27,002 
 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period                                        26,615                   5,626 
                                                                                       -------                 ------- 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period                                             $ 8,191                 $32,628 
                                                                                       =======                 ======= 
 
 
 
                 SEE NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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                               MOVADO GROUP, INC. 
                   NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
BASIS OF PRESENTATION 
 
The accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements have been prepared 
by Movado Group, Inc. (the "Company") in a manner consistent with that used in 
the preparation of the financial statements included in the Company's fiscal 
2000 Annual Report filed on Form 10-K. In the opinion of management, the 
accompanying financial statements reflect all adjustments, consisting of only 
normal and recurring adjustments, necessary for a fair presentation of the 
financial position and results of operations for the periods presented. These 
consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the 
aforementioned annual report. 
 
NOTE 1 - RECLASSIFICATION 
 
Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current 
presentation. 
 
NOTE 2 - INVENTORIES 
 
Inventories consist of the following (in thousands): 
 
 
 
                                             JULY 31,           JANUARY 31,           JULY 31, 
                                              2000                2000                 1999 
                                              ----                ----                 ---- 
                                                                             
Finished goods                               $60,141             $50,565              $75,257 
Work-in-process and component parts           40,608              26,510               42,886 
                                            --------             -------             -------- 
                                            $100,749             $77,075             $118,143 
                                            --------             -------             -------- 
 
 
 
NOTE 3 - SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION 
 
The following is provided as supplemental information to the consolidated 
statements of cash flows (in thousands): 
 
 
 
                                             SIX MONTHS 
                                            ENDED JULY 31, 
                                            -------------- 
                                        2000              1999 
                                        ----              ---- 
                                                    
Cash paid during the period for: 
  Interest                             $3,115            $2,995 
  Income taxes                         $3,236            $3,310 
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NOTE 4  - COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
 
The components of comprehensive income are as follows (in thousands): 
 
 
 
                                                 SIX MONTHS ENDED JULY 31,                THREE MONTHS ENDED JULY 31, 
                                                 -------------------------                --------------------------- 
                                                2000                 1999                2000                    1999 
                                                ----                 ----                ----                    ---- 
                                                                                                     
Net income                                     $4,557               $8,733              $4,730                  $4,422 
Foreign currency translation adjustment         2,356                 (623)              4,879                  (2,887) 
                                               ------               ------              ------                  ------ 
Comprehensive income                           $6,913               $8,110              $9,609                  $1,535 
                                               ======               ======              ======                  ====== 
 
 
NOTE 5 - SEGMENT INFORMATION 
 
In fiscal 1999, the Company adopted SFAS No. 131, "Disclosures about Segments of 
an Enterprise and Related Information," which requires reporting certain 
financial information according to the "management approach." This approach 
requires reporting information regarding operating segments on the basis used 
internally by management to evaluate segment performance. The Company conducts 
its business primarily in two operating segments: "Wholesale" and "Other". The 
Company's wholesale segment includes the designing, manufacturing and 
distribution of quality watches. Other includes the Company's retail and service 
center operations. Operating segment data as of July 31, 2000 and 1999 are as 
follows (in thousands): 
 
 
 
                                                          NET SALES                             OPERATING PROFIT 
                                                          ---------                             ---------------- 
                                                                  FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED JULY 31, 
                                                                  --------------------------------- 
                                                  2000                 1999                2000                   1999 
                                                  ----                 ----                ----                   ---- 
                                                                                                     
Wholesale                                      $110,476             $102,163            $ 11,209                $ 11,023 
Other                                            19,036               15,028              (2,054)                 (1,768) 
                                               --------             --------            --------                -------- 
Consolidated total                             $129,512             $117,191            $  9,155                $  9,255 
                                               ========             ========            ========                ======== 
 
 
 
 
 
                                                        NET SALES                              OPERATING PROFIT 
                                                        ---------                              ---------------- 
                                                              FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED JULY 31, 
                                                              ----------------------------------- 
                                                 2000                1999                2000                    1999 
                                                 ----                ----                ----                    ---- 
                                                                                                     
Wholesale                                      $65,495              $60,585             $ 9,004                 $ 7,543 
Other                                           10,678                8,953                (845)                   (283) 
                                               -------              -------             -------                 ------- 
Consolidated total                             $76,173              $69,538             $ 8,159                 $ 7,260 
                                               =======              =======             =======                 ======= 
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NOTE 6  -  BANK CREDIT AGREEMENT 
 
On June 22, 2000, the Company amended its revolving and working capital lines 
with its domestic bank group to provide for a three year $100.0 million 
unsecured revolving line of credit and $15.0 million of uncommitted working 
capital line of credit. These new facilities replace the $90.0 million unsecured 
revolving line of credit and $31.6 million of uncommitted working capital lines 
of credit. 
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Item 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results 
of Operations 
 
FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS 
 
Statements included under Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial 
Condition and Results of Operations, in this report, as well as statements in 
future filings by the Company with the Securities and Exchange Commission 
("SEC"), in the Company's press releases and oral statements made by or with the 
approval of an authorized executive officer of the Company, which are not 
historical in nature, are intended to be, and are hereby identified as, "forward 
looking statements" for purposes of the safe harbor provided by Section 21E of 
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. The Company cautions readers that forward 
looking statements include, without limitation, those relating to the Company's 
future business prospects, revenues, working capital, liquidity, capital needs, 
plans for future operations, effective tax rates, margins, interest costs, and 
income, as well as assumptions relating to the foregoing. Forward looking 
statements are subject to certain risks and uncertainties, some of which cannot 
be predicted or quantified. Actual results and future events could differ 
materially from those indicated in the forward looking statements due to several 
important factors herein identified, among others, and other risks and factors 
identified from time to time in the Company's reports filed with the SEC 
including, without limitation, the following: general economic and business 
conditions which may impact disposable income of consumers, competitive products 
and pricing, ability to enforce intellectual property rights, seasonality, 
availability of alternative sources of supply in the case of loss of any 
significant supplier, the Company's dependence on key officers, continued 
availability to the Company of financing and credit on favorable terms and 
success of hedging strategies in respect of currency exchange rate fluctuations. 
 
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED JULY 31, 2000 AS COMPARED TO THE 
SIX MONTHS ENDED JULY 31, 1999. 
 
Net sales: Comparative net sales by product class were as follows: 
 
 
 
                                                                 Six Months Ended July 31, 
                                                                  2000             1999 
                                                                  ----             ---- 
                                                                            
                Concord, Movado, Coach and ESQ 
                    Domestic                                     $85,440          $80,386 
                    International                                 25,036           21,777 
                Other                                             19,036           15,028 
                                                                --------         -------- 
                Net Sales                                       $129,512         $117,191 
                                                                ========         ======== 
 
 
 
Net sales increased by $12.3 million or 10.5% for the six months ended July 31, 
2000 as compared to the six months ended July 31, 1999. Domestic wholesale sales 
of our brands increased by $5.1 million or 6.3% while international wholesale 
sales increased by $3.3 million or 15.0%. All of our brands posted mid to high 
single digit domestic sales increases. International sales increases were led by 
growth in our Concord and Coach Watch brands. International sales were 
negatively impacted by approximately $ 2.2 million due to changes in currency 
translation rates. 
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Other net sales, which include our Company outlet stores, Movado Boutiques and 
our after sales service business, increased by $4.0 million or 26.7%. Growth in 
the other sales category was primarily attributable to comparable store sales 
increases in our outlets and Boutiques and new store openings. 
 
Gross Margin. Gross profit for the six months ended July 31, 2000 was $77.8 
million (60.1% of net sales) as compared to $70.3 million (60.0% of net sales) 
for the six months ended July 31, 1999. Gross profit for the six months ended 
July 31, 2000 increased $7.5 million or 10.7% to $77.8 million from $70.3 
million in the first six months of the prior year. This increase was 
attributable to sales increases. Gross margin for the six months ended July 31, 
2000 was 60.1% of sales, approximately consistent with a gross margin of 60.0% 
for the first six months of last year. 
 
Selling, General and Administrative. Selling, general and administrative 
expenses for the six months ended July 31, 2000 were $68.7 million or 53.0% of 
net sales, a 12.6% increase over the $61.0 million or 52.1% of net sales in the 
first six months of last year. The 12.6% increase was primarily attributable to 
expenses associated with several of the Company's growth initiatives. These 
include the opening of four additional outlet stores, the opening of the 
Company's fifth Movado Boutique, additions to the Company's ESQ and Coach sales 
staffs in connection with the expansion of these brands and addition of 
personnel in anticipation of launching the new Tommy Hilfiger watch line in 
Spring 2001. 
 
Interest Expense. Net interest expense increased $0.4 million or 15.5%. The 
increase in interest costs reflects higher interest rates on borrowings under 
the Company's bank lines of credit and a reduction in interest income due to 
lower invested cash balances. These factors were somewhat mitigated by lower 
average working capital employed in the business as well as lower interest costs 
on long-term debt due to the repayment of $5.0 million of Senior Notes in 
January 2000. 
 
Income Taxes. Income tax expense of $1.5 million for the six months ended July 
31, 2000 decreased as compared to $2.6 million for the six months ended July 31, 
1999. Income taxes in the prior year also included a provision for taxes of $1.1 
million on the gain of the Company's sale of its Piaget distribution business. 
Taxes were recorded at a 25% rate for fiscal 2001 as compared to a 23% rate for 
fiscal 2000. The Company believes that the near term future effective tax rate 
will be 25%, which reflects the Company's current expectation that domestic 
earnings will gradually increase as a percentage of the overall earnings mix. 
However, there can be no assurance of this result as it is dependent on a number 
of factors, including the mix of foreign to domestic earnings, local statutory 
tax rates and the Company's ability to utilize net operating loss carryforwards 
in certain jurisdictions. 
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED JULY 31, 2000 AS COMPARED TO 
THE THREE MONTHS ENDED JULY 31, 1999. 
 
Net sales: Comparative net sales by product class were as follows: 
 
 
 
                                                                Three Months Ended July 31, 
                                                                   2000             1999 
                                                                   ----             ---- 
                                                                             
                Concord, Movado, Coach and ESQ 
                    Domestic                                     $51,026          $47,807 
                    International                                 14,469           12,778 
                Other                                             10,678            8,953 
                                                                 -------          ------- 
                Net Sales                                        $76,173          $69,538 
                                                                 =======          ======= 
 
 
 
Net sales increased by $6.6 million or 9.5% for the three months ended July 31, 
2000 as compared to the three months ended July 31, 1999. Domestic wholesale 
sales of our brands increased by $3.2 million or 6.7% and international 
wholesale sales increased by $1.7 million or 13.2%. Domestic sales increases 
were led by increases in Movado and Concord brands offset by a decline in sales 
of our Coach Watch brand. Prior year second quarter sales of Coach Watch 
included significant initial shipments to a major chain jeweler whereas 
there were no significant door expansions in this year's second quarter. ESQ 
sales were consistent with last year's second quarter sales, which included 
significant liquidation sales at less than normal gross margins that were not 
repeated this year. International sales increases were led by our Movado, 
Concord and Coach Watch brands. International sales were negatively impacted by 
approximately $1.1 million due to changes in foreign currency translation rates. 
 
Other net sales, which include our Company outlet stores, Movado Boutiques and 
our after sales service business, increased by $1.7 million or 19.3%. Growth in 
the other sales category was attributable to both comparable store sales 
increases in our outlets and Boutiques and new store openings. 
 
Gross Margin. Gross profit for the three months ended July 31, 2000 was $45.8 
million (60.1% of net sales) as compared to $41.2 million (59.3% of net sales) 
for the three months ended July 31, 1999. The 80 basis point increase in gross 
margin for the quarter primarily relates to reduced levels of liquidation sales 
and product cost reductions in the component procurement and assembly aspects of 
our supply chain operation. 
 
Selling, General and Administrative. Selling, general and administrative 
expenses for the three months ended July 31, 2000 were $37.6 million or 49.4% of 
net sales, a 10.8% increase over the $34.0 million or 48.8% of net sales in the 
second quarter of last year. The 10.8% increase was primarily attributable to 
increases in brand marketing and advertising expenses, increase in variable 
expenses associated with sales growth and expenses associated with several of 
the Company's growth initiatives. These include the opening of four additional 
outlet stores, the opening of the Company's fifth Movado Boutique, additions to 
the Company's ESQ and Coach sales staffs in connection with the expansion of 
these brands and addition of personnel in anticipation of launching the new 
Tommy Hilfiger watch line in Spring 2001. 
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Interest Expense. Net interest expense for the three months ended July 31, 2000 
increased $0.3 million or 22.1%. The increase in interest costs reflects higher 
interest rates on borrowings under the Company's bank lines of credit and a 
reduction in interest income for the quarter due to lower invested cash 
balances. These factors were somewhat mitigated by lower average working capital 
employed in the business as well as lower interest costs on long-term debt due 
to the repayment of $5.0 million of Senior Notes in January 2000. 
 
Income Taxes. Income tax expense of $1.6 million for the three months ended July 
31, 2000 increased as compared to $1.3 million for the three months ended July 
31, 1999. Taxes were recorded at a 25% rate for fiscal 2001 as compared to a 23% 
rate for fiscal 2000. The Company believes that the near term future effective 
tax rate will be 25%, which reflects the Company's current expectation that 
domestic earnings will gradually increase as a percentage of the overall 
earnings mix. However, there can be no assurance of this result as it is 
dependent on a number of factors, including the mix of foreign to domestic 
earnings, local statutory tax rates and the Company's ability to utilize net 
operating loss carryforwards in certain jurisdictions. 
 
LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL POSITION 
 
Cash flows used in operating activities for the six months ended July 31, 2000 
were $23.9 million as compared to the use of $21.9 million for the six months 
ended July 31, 1999. The increase in cash used in operating activities was the 
result of increased seasonal inventory in anticipation of second half sales 
growth and an increase in accounts receivable due to sales growth. 
 
The Company used $4.4 million of cash for investing activities for the six 
months ended July 31, 2000 as compared to generating $21.4 million in cash for 
the six months ended July 31, 1999. Cash generated from investing activities in 
the prior year resulted primarily from the sale of the Piaget distribution 
business in February 1999 for $28.4 million. Capital expenditures for the first 
six months were $3.9 million compared to $6.0 million in the prior years with 
the reduction being attributable to lower information system outlays as the 
Company nears completion of implementation of a new enterprise wide information 
system. 
 
Cash generated from financing activities amounted to $10.1 million for the six 
months ended July 31, 2000 as compared to $27.9 million in cash generated from 
financing activities for the comparable prior year period. The reduction is 
attributable to reduced borrowings due to more effective working capital 
management and use of internal cash resources to fund operations. 
 
At July 31, 2000, the Company had two series of Senior Notes outstanding. Senior 
Notes due January 31, 2005 which were originally issued in a private placement 
completed in fiscal 1994. These notes have required annual principal payments of 
$5.0 million since January 1998. The Company repaid $5.0 million principal 
amount of these notes in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2000 and is scheduled to 
repay an additional $5.0 million in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2001. At July 
31, 2000, $25 million in principal amount of these notes remained outstanding. 
 
During fiscal 1999, the Company issued $25 million of Series A Senior Notes 
under a Note Purchase and Private Shelf Agreement dated November 30, 1998. This 
agreement allows for the issuance for up to two years from the date of the 
agreement of Senior Promissory Notes in the aggregate principal amount of up to 
$50 million with maturities up to 12 years from their original date of issuance. 
These notes bear interest at 6.90%, mature on October 30, 2010 and are subject 
to annual repayments of $5.0 million commencing October 31, 2006. 
 
During the second quarter of fiscal 2001, the Company completed the renewal of 
its revolving credit and working capital lines with its bank group. The new 
agreement provides for a three-year $100 million unsecured 
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revolving line of credit and $15.0 million of uncommitted working capital lines. 
At July 31, 2000, the Company had $30 million of outstanding borrowings under 
its bank lines as compared to $48 million at July 31, 1999. 
 
Under a series of share repurchase authorizations approved by the Board of 
Directors, the Company has maintained a discretionary buy-back program. Current 
year purchases under the repurchase program amounted to $5.9 million. The 
Company has remaining open Board authorization of $6 million for additional 
repurchase of its common shares. 
 
The Company paid dividends of $577,000 for the first six months of fiscal 2001 
compared to $632,000 in the first six months of last year. The decrease is 
attributable to a reduction in outstanding shares related to the share 
repurchase programs described above. 
 
Cash and cash equivalents at July 31, 2000 amounted to $8 million compared to 
$32 million at July 31, 1999. The reduction in cash related primarily to the 
funding of the Company's share repurchase program, repayment of $5 million of 
long-term debt in January 2000 and reduction of bank borrowings. Debt to total 
capitalization at July 31, 2000 was 35% as compared to 38.9 at July 31, 1999. 
 
YEAR 2000 
 
The Company experienced no significant problems relating to the Year 2000 issue 
in the first six months of this year. The Company does not foresee any problems 
for the remainder of 2000; however, if not all Year 2000 issues have been 
identified or foreseen, there can be no assurance that such issues will not 
materially adversely impact the Company's results of operations or adversely 
affect the Company's relationships with customers, vendors, or others. 
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                           PART II - OTHER INFORMATION 
 
ITEM 1.    LEGAL PROCEEDINGS 
 
           None 
 
ITEM 4.    SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS 
 
           On June 20, 2000 the Company held its annual meeting of shareholders 
           at the offices of Simpson, Thacher & Bartlett located at 425 
           Lexington Avenue, New York, New York. 
 
           The following matters were voted upon at the meeting: 
 
              (i) The election of the following directors, constituting the 
                  entire board of directors: 
 
                  Margaret Hayes Adame 
                  Richard Cote 
                  Efraim Grinberg 
                  Gedalio Grinberg 
                  Alan H. Howard 
                  Donald Oresman 
                  Leonard L. Silverstein 
 
            (ii)  A proposal to ratify the selection of PricewaterhouseCoopers 
                  LLP as the Company's independent public accountants for the 
                  fiscal year ending January 31, 2001; 
 
           With respect to the above referenced proposals that were voted on at 
           the annual shareholders meeting, the following votes were tabulated. 
           There were no broker non-votes. 
 
           Proposal (i) on election of directors: 
 
 
 
                                  Nominee                                         For         Witheld/Against      Exception/Abstain
                                  -------                                         ---         ---------------      -----------------
                                                                                                           
           Margaret Hayes Adame............................................    33,636,541        214,652              50,162 
           Richard  Cote...................................................    33,635,174        216,019              50,162 
           Efraim Grinberg.................................................    33,636,439        214,754              50,162 
           Gedalio Grinberg................................................    33,636,439        214,754              50,162 
           Alan H. Howard..................................................    33,635,041        216,152              50,162 
           Donald Oresman..................................................    33,586,879        264,314              50,162 
           Leonard L. Silverstein..........................................    33,636,174        215,019              50,162 
 
           Proposal (ii)  on ratification of appointment of accountants....    33,838,080         13,002                 111 
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ITEM 6.  EXHIBITS AND REPORTS ON FORM 8-K 
 
           (a)    Exhibits 
 
                  10.1     Credit agreement dated June 22, 2000 among the 
                           Registrant, the Chase Manhattan Bank as 
                           Administrative Agent, and as Swingline Bank, and as 
                           Issuing Bank, Fleet Bank, N.A. as Syndication Agent, 
                           the Bank of New York as Documentation Agent and the 
                           other Lenders Signatory thereto. 
 
                  27       Financial Data Schedule for the six months ended July 
                           31, 2000, submitted to the Securities and Exchange 
                           Commission in electronic format. 
 
 
           (b)    Reports on Form 8-K 
 
                  None 
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                                   SIGNATURES 
 
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, the 
Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the 
undersigned thereunto duly authorized. 
 
                                            MOVADO GROUP, INC. 
                                              (Registrant) 
 
Dated:  September 14, 2000            By:     /s/ Kenneth J. Adams 
                                              --------------------- 
                                              Kenneth J. Adams 
                                              Senior Vice President and 
                                              Chief Financial Officer 
                                              (Chief Financial Officer and 
                                               Principal Accounting Officer) 
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                                  EXHIBIT INDEX 
 
 
 
 
EXHIBIT 
 NUMBER                                   DESCRIPTION 
 ------                                   ----------- 
                         
  10.1                     Credit agreement dated June 22, 2000 among the 
                           Registrant, the Chase Manhattan Bank as 
                           Administrative Agent, and as Swingline Bank, and as 
                           Issuing Bank, Fleet Bank, N.A. as Syndication Agent, 
                           the Bank of New York as Documentation Agent and the 
                           other Lenders Signatory thereto. 
 
   27                      Financial Data Schedule for the three months ended 
                           July 31, 2000, submitted to the Securities and 
                           Exchange Commission in electronic format. 
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                            dated as of June 22, 2000 
 
                                      among 
 
                               MOVADO GROUP, INC. 
 
                                       and 
 
                          the Lenders signatory hereto 
 
                                       and 
 
                            THE CHASE MANHATTAN BANK, 
                 as Administrative Agent, and as Swingline Bank, 
                              and as Issuing Bank, 
 
                                       and 
 
                                FLEET BANK, N.A., 
                              as Syndication Agent 
 
                                       and 
 
                              THE BANK OF NEW YORK, 
                             as Documentation Agent 
 
 
                     --------------------------------------- 
 
 
                             CHASE SECURITIES INC., 
                                   as Arranger 
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     CREDIT AGREEMENT dated as of June 22, 2000 among MOVADO GROUP, INC., a 
corporation organized under the laws of New York (the "Borrower"); each of the 
lenders which is a signatory hereto (individually a "Lender" and collectively 
the "Lenders"); THE CHASE MANHATTAN BANK, a New York banking corporation, as 
administrative agent for the Lenders (in such capacity, together with its 
successors in such capacity, the "Administrative Agent"), and as swingline bank 
(in such capacity, together with its successor in such capacity, the "Swingline 
Bank"), and as issuing bank (in such capacity, together with its successors in 
such capacity, the "Issuing Bank"); FLEET BANK, N.A., a national banking 
association, as syndication agent for the Lenders (in such capacity, together 
with its successors in such capacity, the "Syndication Agent"); and THE BANK OF 
NEW YORK, a New York banking corporation, as documentation agent for the Lenders 
(in such capacity, together with its successors in such capacity, the 
"Documentation Agent"). 
 
     The Borrower desires that the Lenders, the Swingline Bank and the Issuing 
Bank extend credit as provided herein, and the Lenders, the Swingline Bank and 
the Issuing Bank are prepared to extend such credit. Accordingly, the Borrower, 
the Lenders, the Swingline Bank, the Issuing Bank, the Administrative Agent, the 
Syndication Agent and the Documentation Agent agree as follows: 
 
                    1. ARTICLE DEFINITIONS; ACCOUNTING TERMS. 
 
1.1. Section Definitions . As used in this Agreement the following terms have 
the following meanings (terms defined in the singular to have a correlative 
meaning when used in the plural and vice versa): 
 
     "ABR Borrowing" means a Borrowing comprised of ABR Loans that are 
Syndicated Loans or a Borrowing of an ABR Loan that is a Swingline Loan. 
 
     "ABR Loan" means any Loan bearing interest at a rate determined by 
reference to the Alternate Base Rate in accordance with the provisions of 
Article 2. 
 
     "Acceptable Credit Rating" is defined in Section 8.5. 
 
     "Acquisition" is defined in Section 8.11. 
 
     "Adjusted LIBO Rate" means, with respect to any LIBOR Borrowing for any 
Interest Period, an interest rate per annum (rounded upwards, if necessary, to 
the next 1/32nd of 1%) equal to the product of (a) the LIBO Rate in effect for 
such Interest Period and (b) Statutory Reserves. 
 
     "Administrative Agent" is defined in the initial paragraph of this 
Agreement. 
 
     "Administrative Agent Fees" is defined in Section 2.7. 
 
                                        v 
 
 



   7 
 
 
     "Affiliate" means, when used with respect to a specified Person, another 
Person that directly, or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, Controls 
or is Controlled by or is under common Control with the Person specified. 
 
     "Aggregate Credit Exposure" means, at any time, the sum at such time of (i) 
the aggregate of the Lenders' Syndicated Loan Exposures, (ii) the L/C Exposure 
and (iii) the outstanding principal balance of all Swingline Loans. 
 
     "Aggregate Net Cash Proceeds" means, as to sales and mergers that are 
Designated Sales, the aggregate cash proceeds received by the Borrower or a 
Subsidiary (including cash proceeds subsequently received (as and when received) 
in respect of non-cash consideration initially received), net of (a) selling 
expenses (including reasonable broker's fees or commissions, transfer and 
similar taxes, any amount actually paid by the Borrower or a Subsidiary to repay 
or discharge Debt secured by a Lien on any property or asset included in the 
applicable Designated Sale other than Debt incurred in contemplation of the 
applicable Designated Sale, and the Borrower's good faith estimate of income 
taxes paid or payable in connection with the receipt of such cash proceeds), and 
(b) amounts provided as a reserve, in accordance with GAAP, against any 
liabilities under indemnification obligations associated with such sales and 
mergers (provided that, to the extent and at such time any such amounts are 
released from such reserve, such amounts shall be included in Aggregate Net Cash 
Proceeds). 
 
     "Agreement" means this Credit Agreement, as amended or supplemented from 
time to time. References to Articles, Sections, Exhibits, Schedules and the like 
refer to the Articles, Sections, Exhibits, Schedules and the like of this 
Agreement unless otherwise indicated. 
 
     "Alternate Base Rate" means, for any day, a rate per annum equal to the 
greater of (a) the Prime Rate in effect on such day, or (b) the Federal Funds 
Effective Rate in effect on such day plus 1/2 of 1%. Any change in the Alternate 
Base Rate due to a change in the Prime Rate or the Federal Funds Effective Rate 
shall be effective on the effective date of such change in the Prime Rate or the 
Federal Funds Effective Rate, respectively. 
 
     "Applicable Rate" means, for any day, with respect to any LIBOR Loan, or 
with respect to the Commitment Fees, as the case may be, the applicable rate per 
annum set forth on Schedule II under the caption "LIBOR Loan Spread" or 
"Commitment Fee Rate", as the case may be, based upon the Average Debt Coverage 
Ratio. Each change in the Applicable Rate resulting from a change in the Average 
Debt Coverage Ratio shall be effective with respect to all outstanding LIBOR 
Loans and with respect to the Commitment Fees on and after the first day of the 
calendar month following the date of delivery to the Administrative Agent of the 
financial statements required by subsection (a) or (b) (as the case may be) of 
Section 7.8 indicating that a change in the Average Debt Coverage Ratio has 
occurred, through the date immediately preceding the first day of the calendar 
month following the next date of delivery of such financial statements 
indicating that another change in the Average Debt Coverage Ratio has occurred. 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, but subject to the next sentence, during the 
period commencing on the Closing Date and ending on the date immediately 
preceding the first day of the calendar month following the date of delivery of 
the first such financial statements, the Average Debt Coverage Ratio shall be 
deemed to be in Category 3 (as set forth on Schedule II) for purposes of 
determining the Applicable Rate. Notwithstanding the foregoing, (a) at any time 
during which the Borrower has failed to deliver the financial statements 
required by either such subsection of Section 7.8, or (b) at any time after the 
occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of Default, the Average Debt 
Coverage Ratio shall be deemed to be in Category 4 (as set forth on Schedule II) 
for purposes of determining the Applicable Rate. 
 
     "Assignment and Assumption Agreement" is defined in Section 12.5. 
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     "Authorization Letter" means the letter agreement executed by the Borrower 
in the form of Exhibit B. 
 
     "Average Debt Coverage Ratio" means the ratio of (i) the sum of 
indebtedness for borrowed money, indebtedness for the deferred purchase price of 
property or services (excluding trade payables in the ordinary course of 
business; and excluding wages or other compensation payable to employees of the 
Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries in the ordinary course of business), 
obligations arising under acceptance facilities, and obligations as lessee under 
Capital Leases, (in all cases) of the Borrower and its Consolidated Subsidiaries 
on a consolidated basis as of the last day of each fiscal quarter for four 
consecutive fiscal quarters, divided by four; to (ii) consolidated earnings 
before interest expense, taxes, depreciation and amortization of the Borrower 
and its Consolidated Subsidiaries for such period of four consecutive fiscal 
quarters (excluding the Special Amount from such consolidated earnings for the 
fiscal quarter ended January 31, 2000). 
 
     "Board" means the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System of the 
United States of America. 
 
     "Borrower" means Movado Group, Inc., a New York corporation. 
 
     "Borrowing" means (in the case of Syndicated Loans) a group of Syndicated 
Loans of a single Type made by the Lenders on a single date and as to which a 
single Interest Period is in effect or (in the case of Swingline Loans) a 
Swingline Loan made by the Swingline Bank on a single date. 
 
     "Borrowing Request" means a Syndicated Loan Borrowing Request or a 
Swingline Loan Borrowing Request. 
 
     "Breakage Event" is defined in Section 4.4. 
 
     "Business Day" means any day other than a Saturday, Sunday or day on which 
banks in New York City are authorized or required by law to close; provided, 
however, that when used in connection with a LIBOR Loan, the term "Business Day" 
shall also exclude any day on which banks are not open for dealings in dollar 
deposits in the London interbank market. 
 
     "Capital Expenditures" means for any period, the dollar amount of gross 
expenditures (including obligations under Capital Leases) made for fixed assets, 
real property, plant and equipment, and all renewals, improvements and 
replacements thereto (but not repairs thereof) incurred during such period, as 
determined in accordance with GAAP. 
 
     "Capital Lease" means any lease which has been or should be capitalized on 
the books of the lessee in accordance with GAAP. 
 
     "Cash Collateral Account" is defined in Section 2.13. 
 
     "Closing Date" means the date this Agreement has been executed and 
delivered by the Borrower, the Lenders, the Swingline Bank, the Issuing Bank and 
the Administrative Agent. 
 
     "Code" means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended from time to 
time. 
 
     "Commitment Fees" is defined in Section 2.7. 
 
     "Consolidated Capital Expenditures" means Capital Expenditures of the 
Borrower and its Consolidated Subsidiaries, as determined on a consolidated 
basis in accordance with GAAP. 
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     "Consolidated Net Income"for any fiscal year of the Borrower means the 
consolidated net income (loss) of the Borrower and its Consolidated Subsidiaries 
for such fiscal year, determined in accordance with GAAP and after provisions 
for minority interests, but not including in the computation of the foregoing 
any of the following: 
 
     (i)  extraordinary gains and extraordinary losses; 
 
     (i)  any portion of the net income of any Subsidiary which for any reason 
     is unavailable to pay dividends to the Borrower by reason of legal or 
     contractual restrictions; 
     (ii) any aggregate net gain (in excess of net losses) exceeding $200,000 in 
     any fiscal year arising from the sale, exchange or other disposition of 
     capital assets (such term to include all fixed assets, whether tangible or 
     intangible, all inventory sold in conjunction with the disposition of fixed 
     assets, and all securities); 
 
     (i)  any write-up of any asset; 
 
     (i)  any gain or loss arising from the acquisition of any securities of the 
     Borrower or any Subsidiary; 
 
     (i)  net income or gain (net of any loss) resulting from discontinuing or 
     disposing of operations, or prior period adjustments; and 
 
     (i)  the income (loss) of any Person accrued prior to the date it becomes a 
     Subsidiary. 
 
     "Consolidated Subsidiary" means any Subsidiary whose accounts are or are 
required to be consolidated with the accounts of the Borrower in accordance with 
GAAP. 
 
     "Consolidated Tangible Net Worth" means Tangible Net Worth of the Borrower 
and its Consolidated Subsidiaries, as determined on a consolidated basis in 
accordance with GAAP. 
 
     "Control" means the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to 
direct or cause the direction of the management or policies of a Person, whether 
through the ownership of voting securities, by contract or otherwise, and the 
terms "Controlling" and "Controlled" shall have meanings correlative thereto. 
 
     "Core Business" means the business of designing, manufacturing and 
distributing watches, jewelry and other accessories (including the operation of 
retail stores to distribute the same), other businesses related thereto, or 
businesses that in the judgment of the board of directors of the Borrower are 
derived from the exploitation by the Borrower of its trademarks, including the 
operation of retail stores to distribute products utilizing the same. 
 
     "Debt" means, with respect to any Person: (a) indebtedness of such Person 
for borrowed money; (b) indebtedness for the deferred purchase price of property 
or services (except trade payables in the ordinary course of business; and 
except wages or other compensation payable to employees of such Person in the 
ordinary course of business); (c) the face amount of any outstanding letters of 
credit issued for the account of such Person; (d) obligations arising under 
acceptance facilities; (e) (without duplication of other Debt) guaranties, 
endorsements (other than for collection in the ordinary course of business) and 
other contingent obligations to purchase, to provide funds for payment, to 
supply funds to invest in any Person, or otherwise to assure a creditor against 
loss; (f) obligations secured by any Lien on property of such Person; and (g) 
obligations of such Person as lessee under Capital Leases. 
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     "Debt Coverage Ratio" for any fiscal year means the ratio of (a) the sum of 
indebtedness for borrowed money, indebtedness for the deferred purchase price of 
property or services (excluding trade payables in the ordinary course of 
business; and excluding wages or other compensation payable to employees of the 
Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries in the ordinary course of business), 
obligations arising under acceptance facilities, and obligations as lessee under 
Capital Leases, (in all cases) of the Borrower and its Consolidated Subsidiaries 
on a consolidated basis as of the last day of such fiscal year; to (b) 
consolidated earnings before interest expense, taxes, depreciation and 
amortization of the Borrower and its Consolidated Subsidiaries for such fiscal 
year. 
 
     "Debt Ratio"means, as of any date of determination, the ratio of (x) 
consolidated indebtedness for borrowed money and Capital Leases of the Borrower 
and its Consolidated Subsidiaries as of such date, to (y) the sum of 
Consolidated Tangible Net Worth as of such date plus consolidated indebtedness 
for borrowed money and Capital Leases of the Borrower and its Consolidated 
Subsidiaries as of such date. 
 
     "Default" means any event which with the giving of notice or lapse of time, 
or both, would become an Event of Default. 
 
     "Default Rate" is defined in Section 2.9. 
 
     "Designated Sales" means (i) sales of assets of the Borrower or any 
Subsidiary that are prohibited by Section 8.7 (excluding clause (f) thereof), 
and (ii) sales of all the shares of capital stock of any Subsidiary that are 
prohibited by Section 8.8 (excluding clause (c) thereof); and (iii) cash mergers 
of a Subsidiary into another entity (that is, where the outstanding shares of 
such Subsidiary are entirely converted to cash upon such merger) that are 
prohibited by Section 8.10 (excluding clause (c) thereof), provided that such 
sales and mergers shall be for fair market value and on an arms'-length basis, 
and provided further that: 
 
          (a)  50% of the excess over $20,000,000 of the Aggregate Net Cash 
     Proceeds of all such sales and mergers shall (immediately upon receipt by 
     the Borrower or such Subsidiary) be applied to reduce the Swingline Loans 
     and the Syndicated Loans and to secure the L/C Exposure (in the sequence 
     and manner provided in Section 8.1(g)), and the Total Revolving Credit 
     Commitment shall be permanently reduced by an amount equal to 50% of such 
     excess over $20,000,000; and 
 
          (b)  in the case of each such sale and merger where the Aggregate Net 
     Cash Proceeds thereof is $10,000,000 or more: the Borrower shall provide to 
     the Administrative Agent at least 20 days before the effective date of such 
     sale or merger, for distribution to the Lenders, a pro-forma consolidated 
     balance sheet and income statement as to the Borrower and its Consolidated 
     Subsidiaries after giving effect to such sale or merger, together with a 
     written certification of the Borrower that such sale or merger will not 
     result in a Default or an Event of Default, either immediately or (based 
     upon the Borrower's reasonable and good faith projections) at any time 
     thereafter prior to the Maturity Date. 
 
     "Documentation Agent" is defined in the initial paragraph of this 
Agreement. 
 
     "dollars" or "$" means lawful money of the United States of America. 
 
     "Environmental Laws" means any and all federal, state, local and foreign 
statutes, laws, regulations, ordinances, rules, judgments, orders, decrees, 
permits, concessions, grants, franchises, licenses, agreements or other 
governmental restrictions relating to the environment or to emissions, 
discharges, releases or threatened releases of pollutants, contaminants, 
chemicals, or industrial, toxic or hazardous substances or wastes into the 
environment including, without limitation, ambient air, surface water, ground 
water, or land, or otherwise relating to the manufacture, processing 
distribution, use, treatment, storage, disposal, transport, or handling of 
pollutants, contaminants, chemicals, or industrial, toxic or hazardous 
substances or wastes. 
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     "ERISA" means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as 
amended from time to time, including any rules and regulations promulgated 
thereunder. 
 
     "ERISA Affiliate" means any corporation or trade or business which is a 
member of any group of organizations (i) described in Section 414(b) or (c) of 
the Code of which the Borrower is a member, or (ii) solely for purposes of 
potential liability under Section 302(c)(11) of ERISA and Section 412(c)(11) of 
the Code and the lien created under Section 302(f) of ERISA and Section 412(n) 
of the Code, described in Section 414(m) or (o) of the Code of which the 
Borrower is a member. 
 
     "Event of Default" is defined in Section 10.1. 
 
     "Excluded Taxes" means, with respect to the Administrative Agent, any 
Lender, the Swingline Bank, the Issuing Bank or any other recipient of any 
payment to be made by or on account of any obligation of the Borrower hereunder, 
(a) (i) income or franchise taxes imposed on (or measured by) its net income, 
and (ii) any branch profits taxes or similar taxes imposed, and (b) in the case 
of a Lender organized under the laws of a jurisdiction other than the United 
States (a "foreign Lender"), any withholding tax that is imposed on amounts 
payable hereunder to such foreign Lender to the extent such tax is in effect and 
would apply as of the date such foreign Lender becomes a party to this Agreement 
or designates a new Lending Office, or that is attributable to such foreign 
Lender's failure to comply with Section 11.14. 
 
     "Facility Documents" means this Agreement, the Notes, the Authorization 
Letter, and each Guarantee. 
 
     "Federal Funds Effective Rate" means, for any day, the weighted average of 
the rates on overnight Federal funds transactions with members of the Federal 
Reserve System arranged by Federal funds brokers, as published on the next 
succeeding Business Day by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, or, if such 
rate is not so published for any day that is a Business Day, the average of the 
quotations for the day for such transactions received by the Administrative 
Agent from three Federal funds brokers of recognized standing selected by it. 
 
     "Fee Letter" means the Fee Letter dated May 19, 2000 between the Borrower 
and the Administrative Agent. 
 
     "Fees" means the Commitment Fees, the Administrative Agent Fees, the L/C 
Participation Fees and the Issuing Bank Fees. 
 
     "Forfeiture Proceeding" means any action or proceeding against the Borrower 
or any of its Subsidiaries before any court, governmental department, 
commission, board, bureau, agency or instrumentality, domestic or foreign, or 
the receipt of notice by any such party that any of them is a suspect in or a 
target of any governmental investigation, as to which there is a reasonable 
possibility of a determination adverse to the Borrower or such Subsidiary and 
which (if determined adversely to the Borrower or such Subsidiary) would, in any 
one case or in the aggregate, materially adversely affect the financial 
condition, operations or business of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries taken as 
a whole or the ability of the Borrower to perform its obligations under the 
Facility Documents to which it is a party. 
 
     "GAAP" means generally accepted accounting principles in the United States 
of America as in effect on the date hereof, applied on a basis consistent with 
those used in the preparation of the financial statements referred to in Section 
6.5. 
 
     "Governmental Authority" means any Federal, state, local or foreign court 
or governmental agency, authority, instrumentality or regulatory body. 
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     "Grinberg Group" means the group consisting of Gedalio Grinberg, his 
spouse, each of their estates and their issue; and Efraim Grinberg, his spouse, 
each of their estates and their issue; and every Person (other than an 
individual) Controlled by any of the foregoing. 
 
     "Guarantee" means a guarantee executed and delivered by a Guarantor in 
favor of the Lenders, the Swingline Bank, the Issuing Bank and the 
Administrative Agent in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit D 
(including, without limitation, the Initial Guarantee). 
 
     "Guarantors" means the Initial Guarantors and each other Subsidiary that 
becomes a Guarantor pursuant to Section 7.9. The liability of the Guarantors 
shall be joint and several. 
 
     "Hazardous Material" is defined in Section 6.12. 
 
     "HLT" Classification" is defined in Section 4.7. 
 
     "Inactive Subsidiary" means a Subsidiary of the Borrower that has (and only 
for so long as it has) assets of less than $1,000,000; provided, however, that 
(i) there shall not be more than ten Inactive Subsidiaries at any time during 
the term of this Agreement and (ii) the assets of all Inactive Subsidiaries in 
the aggregate shall not exceed $4,000,000. 
 
     "including" is deemed to mean "including without limitation". 
 
     "Incremental TNW Amount" means, as of any date of determination, an amount 
equal to the product of (a) Consolidated Net Income for each fiscal year of the 
Borrower ended after the Closing Date and on or before such date of 
determination, if Consolidated Net Income for such fiscal year is a positive 
number, multiplied by (b) 50%. 
 
     "Indemnified Taxes" means Taxes arising from any payment made hereunder or 
from the execution, delivery or enforcement of, or otherwise with respect to, 
this Agreement other than Excluded Taxes and Other Taxes. 
 
     "Initial Guarantee" is the collective reference to the Guarantees executed 
and delivered by the Initial Guarantors (respectively) on the Closing Date in 
favor of the Lenders, the Swingline Bank, the Issuing Bank and the 
Administrative Agent. 
 
     "Initial Guarantors" means SwissAm Inc., a New Jersey corporation, and 
Movado Corporation, a Delaware corporation. 
 
     "Interest Coverage Ratio"for any period means the ratio of (a) consolidated 
earnings before interest expense and taxes of the Borrower and its Consolidated 
Subsidiaries for such period, to (b) cash interest paid during such period by 
the Borrower and its Consolidated Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis; 
provided, however, that the Special Amount shall be excluded from such 
consolidated earnings for the fiscal quarter ended January 31, 2000; and 
provided, further, however, that if such an interest payment on the Prudential 
Existing Notes and/or the Prudential Shelf Notes is scheduled to be made on a 
non-Business Day and is instead actually made on the next succeeding Business 
Day, and if a determination date (as described in Section 9.3) occurs on such 
non-Business Day or on any subsequent non-Business Day prior to such next 
succeeding Business Day, then such interest payment will be deemed to have been 
made on such determination date (provided that there is no amendment of the 
payment schedule of any of the Prudential Existing Notes or the Prudential Shelf 
Notes). 
 
     "Interest Payment Date" means, with respect to any Loan, the last day of 
the Interest Period applicable to the Borrowing of which such Loan is a part 
and, in the case of a LIBOR Borrowing with an 
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Interest Period of more than three months' duration, each day that would have 
been an Interest Payment Date had successive Interest Periods of three months' 
duration been applicable to such Borrowing, and in addition, the date of any 
prepayment of such Borrowing or (as to a Borrowing of Syndicated Loans) the date 
of any conversion of such Borrowing to a Borrowing of a different Type. 
 
     "Interest Period" means 
 
     (a) as to any LIBOR Borrowing, the period commencing on the date of such 
     Borrowing (or in the case of the conversion of any ABR Borrowing into a 
     LIBOR Borrowing, the date of such conversion or in the case of a 
     continuation of any LIBOR Borrowing as a LIBOR Borrowing, the date of such 
     continuation) and ending on the numerically corresponding day (or, if there 
     is no numerically corresponding day, on the last day) in the calendar month 
     that is 1, 2, 3, 6 or (subject to availability) 9 or 12 months thereafter, 
     as the Borrower may elect; and 
 
     (b) as to any ABR Borrowing, the period commencing on the date of such 
     Borrowing (or in the case of the conversion of any LIBOR Borrowing into an 
     ABR Borrowing, the date of such conversion) and ending on the earliest of 
     (i) the next succeeding March 31, June 30, September 30 or December 31 (in 
     which event subsequent successive Interest Periods as to such Borrowing 
     shall commence on the day next following such dates respectively), (ii) the 
     Maturity Date, and (iii) the date such Borrowing is converted to a 
     Borrowing of a different Type in accordance with Section 2.11 or prepaid in 
     accordance with Section 2.11 or 2.12; 
 
provided, however, that if any Interest Period would end on a day other than a 
Business Day, such Interest Period shall be extended to the next succeeding 
Business Day unless, in the case of a LIBOR Borrowing only, such next succeeding 
Business Day would fall in the next calendar month, in which case such Interest 
Period shall end on the next preceding Business Day. Interest shall accrue from 
and including the first day of an Interest Period to but excluding the last day 
of such Interest Period. 
 
     "Issuing Bank" means The Chase Manhattan Bank and its successors. 
 
     "Issuing Bank Fees" is defined in Section 3.9. 
 
     "L/C Commitment" means the commitment of the Issuing Bank to issue Letters 
of Credit pursuant to Article 3. 
 
     "L/C Disbursement" means a payment or disbursement made by the Issuing Bank 
pursuant to a Letter of Credit. 
 
     "L/C Exposure" means at any time the sum of (a) the aggregate undrawn 
amount of all outstanding Letters of Credit at such time, plus (b) the aggregate 
principal amount of all L/C Disbursements that have not yet been reimbursed at 
such time. The L/C Exposure of any Lender at any time means its Pro Rata 
Percentage of the aggregate L/C Exposure at such time. 
 
     "L/C Participation Fee" is defined in Section 3.9. 
 
     "L/C Reimbursement Loans" means Syndicated Loans made pursuant to Section 
2.2(e) in order to reimburse the Issuing Bank for an L/C Disbursement. 
 
     "Lenders" means (a) the financial institutions listed on Schedule I (other 
than any such financial institution that has ceased to be a party hereto 
pursuant to an Assignment and Assumption Agreement) and (b) any financial 
institution that has become a party hereto pursuant to an Assignment and 
Assumption Agreement. 
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     "Lending Office" means, for each Lender and for each Type of Loan, the 
lending office of such Lender (or of an Affiliate of such Lender) designated as 
such for such Type of Loan on its signature page hereof or such other office of 
such Lender (or of an Affiliate of such Lender) as such Lender may from time to 
time specify to the Administrative Agent and the Borrower as the office by which 
its Loans of such Type are to be made and maintained. 
 
     "Letter of Credit" means any letter of credit issued pursuant to Article 3. 
 
     "LIBO Rate" means, with respect to any LIBOR Borrowing for any Interest 
Period, the rate appearing on Page 3750 of the Telerate Service (or on any 
successor or substitute page of such Service, or any successor to or substitute 
for such Service providing rate quotations comparable to those currently 
provided on such page of such Service, as determined by the Administrative 
Agent, in consultation with the Borrower, from time to time for purposes of 
providing quotations of interest rates applicable to dollar deposits in the 
London interbank market) at approximately 11:00 a.m. London time, two Business 
Days prior to the commencement of such Interest Period, as the rate for dollar 
deposits with a maturity comparable to such Interest Period. In the event that 
such rate is not available at such time for any reason, then the "LIBO Rate" 
with respect to such LIBOR Borrowing for such Interest Period shall be the rate 
at which the Administrative Agent is offered dollar deposits of $5,000,000 and 
for a maturity comparable to such Interest Period in immediately available funds 
in the London interbank market at approximately 11:00 a.m. London time, two 
Business Days prior to the commencement of such Interest Period. 
 
     "LIBOR Borrowing" means a Borrowing comprised of LIBOR Loans. 
 
     "LIBOR Loan" means any Syndicated Loan bearing interest at a rate 
determined by reference to the Adjusted LIBO Rate in accordance with the 
provisions of Article 2. 
 
     "Lien" means any lien (statutory or otherwise), security interest, 
mortgage, deed of trust, priority, pledge, charge, conditional sale, title 
retention agreement, financing lease or other encumbrance or similar right of 
others, or any agreement to give any of the foregoing. 
 
     "Loans" means Syndicated Loans and Swingline Loans. 
 
     "Maturity Date" means the third anniversary of the Closing Date. 
 
     "Multiemployer Plan" means a Plan defined as such in Section 3(37) of ERISA 
to which contributions have been made by the Borrower or any ERISA Affiliate and 
which is covered by Title IV of ERISA. 
 
     "Notes" means the Syndicated Loan Notes and the Swingline Loan Note. 
 
     "Other Taxes" means any and all present or future stamp or documentary 
taxes or any other excise or property taxes, charges or similar levies arising 
from any payment made hereunder or from the execution, delivery or enforcement 
of, or otherwise with respect to, this Agreement. 
 
     "PBGC" means the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation and any entity 
succeeding to any or all of its functions under ERISA. 
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     "Permitted Investments" means: 
 
          (a)  direct obligations of, or obligations the principal of and 
interest on which are unconditionally guaranteed by, the United States of 
America (or by any agency thereof to the extent such obligations are backed by 
the full faith and credit of the United States of America), in each case 
maturing within one year from the date of acquisition thereof; 
 
          (b)  investments in commercial paper maturing within 270 days from the 
date of acquisition thereof and having, at such date of acquisition, the highest 
credit rating obtainable from Standard & Poor's Ratings Service or from Moody's 
Investors Service, Inc.; 
 
          (c)  investments in certificates of deposit, banker's acceptances and 
time deposits maturing within one year from the date of acquisition thereof 
issued or guaranteed by or placed with, and money market deposit accounts issued 
or offered by, any domestic office of any commercial bank organized under the 
laws of the United States of America or any State thereof that has a combined 
capital and surplus and undivided profits of not less than $500,000,000; and 
 
          (d)  other investment instruments approved in writing by the Required 
Lenders and offered by financial institutions which have a combined capital and 
surplus and undivided profits of not less than $500,000,000. 
 
     "Person" means an individual, partnership, corporation, business trust, 
joint stock company, limited liability company, trust, unincorporated 
association, joint venture, governmental authority or other entity of whatever 
nature. 
 
     "Plan" means any employee benefit or other plan established or maintained, 
or to which contributions have been made, by the Borrower or any ERISA Affiliate 
and which is covered by Title IV of ERISA, other than a Multiemployer Plan. 
 
     "Prime Rate" means the rate of interest per annum publicly announced from 
time to time by the entity which is the Administrative Agent as its prime rate 
in effect at its principal office in New York City; each change in such prime 
rate shall be effective on the date such change is publicly announced as being 
effective. 
 
     "Pro Rata Percentage" of any Lender at any time means the percentage of the 
Total Revolving Credit Commitment represented by such Lender's Revolving Credit 
Commitment (or, if the Lenders' Revolving Credit Commitments shall have expired 
or been terminated in accordance with this Agreement and the Aggregate Credit 
Exposure is greater than zero, such percentage immediately prior to such 
expiration or termination, giving effect to any assignments by or to such Lender 
pursuant to Section 12.5.) 
 
     "Prudential Existing Notes" means (a) the promissory notes of the Borrower 
in the original aggregate principal amount of $40,000,000 issued pursuant to the 
Note Agreement dated as of November 9, 1993 between the Borrower and The 
Prudential Insurance Company of America, and (b) the Series A promissory notes 
of the Borrower in the original aggregate principal amount of $25,000,000 issued 
pursuant to the Note Purchase and Private Shelf Agreement dated as of November 
30, 1998 between the Borrower and The Prudential Insurance Company of America. 
 
     "Prudential Shelf Notes" means, to the extent hereafter actually issued, 
the shelf promissory notes of the Borrower in the aggregate principal amount of 
Iup to $25,000,000 authorized (although not issued) pursuant to the Note 
Purchase and Private Shelf Agreement dated as of November 30, 1998 between the 
Borrower and The Prudential Insurance Company of America. 
     "Rate" is defined in the definition of the term "Type" in this Section 1.1. 
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     "Regulation D" means Regulation D of the Board of Governors of the Federal 
Reserve System as the same may be amended or supplemented from time to time. 
 
     "Regulation U" means Regulation U of the Board of Governors of the Federal 
Reserve System as the same may be amended or supplemented from time to time. 
 
     "Release" is defined in Section 6.12. 
 
     "Required Lenders" means, at any time, Lenders having Syndicated Loans 
outstanding, L/C Exposure and unused Revolving Credit Commitments representing 
at least 56% of the sum of all Syndicated Loans outstanding, L/C Exposure and 
unused Revolving Credit Commitments at such time. 
 
     "Required Payment" is defined in Section 11.13. 
 
     "Retail Rent Differential" is defined in Section 8.4. 
 
     "Revolving Credit Commitment" means, with respect to each Lender, the 
commitment of such Lender to make Syndicated Loans hereunder as set forth on 
Schedule I, or in the Assignment and Assumption Agreement pursuant to which such 
Lender assumed its Revolving Credit Commitment, as applicable, as the same may 
be (a) reduced from time to time pursuant to Section 2.10 and (b) reduced or 
increased from time to time pursuant to assignments by or to such Lender 
pursuant to Section 12.5. 
 
     "Special Amount" means $8,000,000, which represents the aggregate amount of 
(a) nonrecurring expenses incurred by the Borrower and its Consolidated 
Subsidiaries during the fiscal quarter ended January 31, 2000, and (b) reserves 
taken by the Borrower and its Consolidated Subsidiaries during such fiscal 
quarter for future nonrecurring expenditures (in each case, on a consolidated 
basis), as such nonrecurring expenses and reserves for future nonrecurring 
expenditures are (i) reflected in the financial statements described in Section 
6.5 for the fiscal year ended January 31, 2000 (although they may not be 
specifically identified in detail in such financial statements), and (ii) 
specifically identified in reasonable detail (by nature and amount) in a 
certificate dated May 26, 2000 signed by the chief financial officer of the 
Borrower and delivered to the Administrative Agent prior to the Closing Date. 
 
     "Statutory Reserves" means a fraction (expressed as a decimal), the 
numerator of which is the number one and the denominator of which is the number 
one minus the aggregate of the maximum reserve, liquid asset or similar 
percentages (including any marginal, special, emergency or supplemental 
reserves) expressed as a decimal established by any Governmental Authority of 
the jurisdiction of such currency to which banks in such jurisdiction are 
subject for any category of deposits or liabilities customarily used to fund 
loans in such currency or by reference to which interest rates applicable to 
Loans in such currency are determined. Such reserve, liquid asset or similar 
percentages shall, in the case of dollars, include those imposed by the Board 
with respect to the Adjusted LIBO Rate for Eurocurrency Liabilities (as defined 
in Regulation D of the Board). LIBOR Loans shall be deemed to constitute 
Eurocurrency Liabilities and to be subject to such reserve requirements without 
benefit of or credit from proration, exemptions or offsets that may be available 
from time to time to any Lender under such Regulation D or any other applicable 
law, rule or regulation. Statutory Reserves shall be adjusted automatically on 
and as of the effective date of any change in any reserve percentage. 
 
     "Subsidiary" means, with respect to any Person, any corporation or other 
entity of which at least a majority of the securities or other ownership 
interests having ordinary voting power (absolutely or contingently) for the 
election of directors or other persons performing similar functions are at the 
time owned directly or indirectly by such Person. Unless the context otherwise 
requires, references in this Agreement to a Subsidiary mean a Subsidiary of the 
Borrower. 
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     "Swingline Bank" means The Chase Manhattan Bank and its successors. 
 
     "Swingline Loan Borrowing Request" means a request by the Borrower for a 
Swingline Loan in accordance with the terms of Section 2.4 in form satisfactory 
to the Administrative Agent. 
 
     "Swingline Loan Note" is defined in Section 2.6. 
 
     "Swingline Loans" means the revolving loans made by the Swingline Bank to 
the Borrower pursuant to Section 2.4. Each Swingline Loan shall be an ABR Loan. 
 
     "Syndicated Loan Borrowing Request" means a request by the Borrower for 
Syndicated Loans in accordance with the terms of Section 2.3 in form 
satisfactory to the Administrative Agent. 
 
     "Syndicated Loan Exposure" means, with respect to any Lender at any time, 
the aggregate principal amount at such time of all outstanding Syndicated Loans 
of such Lender. 
 
     "Syndicated Loan Note" is defined in Section 2.6. 
 
     "Syndicated Loans" means the revolving loans made by the Lenders to the 
Borrower pursuant to Section 2.1 or (in the case of loans to refinance a 
Swingline Loan) Section 2.5 or (in the case of L/C Reimbursement Loans) Section 
2.2(e). Each Syndicated Loan shall be outstanding as a LIBOR Loan or an ABR 
Loan. 
 
     "Syndication Agent" is defined in the initial paragraph of this Agreement. 
 
     "Tangible Net Worth" of a Person means, at any date of determination 
thereof, the excess of total assets of such Person over total liabilities of 
such Person, excluding, however, (A) from the determination of total assets: (i) 
all assets which would be classified as intangible assets under GAAP, including, 
without limitation, goodwill (whether representing the excess of cost over book 
value of assets acquired or otherwise), patents, trademarks, trade names, 
copyrights, franchises, and deferred charges (including, without limitation, 
unamortized debt discount and expense, organization cost, and research and 
development costs); and (ii) any write-up in the book value of any asset since 
January 31, 1999; and (B) any foreign exchange translation adjustment in the 
cumulative amount, and any adjustments to other comprehensive income for 
derivative instruments and other hedging activities, that would (in each case) 
be properly shown in the Shareholders' Equity section of such Person's balance 
sheet prepared in accordance with GAAP. 
 
     "Taxes" means any and all present or future taxes, levies, imposts, duties, 
deductions, charges or withholdings imposed by any Governmental Authority. 
 
     "Total Revolving Credit Commitment" means, at any time, the aggregate 
amount of the Revolving Credit Commitments, as in effect at such time. 
 
     "Type", when used in respect of any Syndicated Loan or Borrowing of 
Syndicated Loans, shall refer to the Rate by reference to which interest on such 
Loan or on the Loans comprising such Borrowing is determined. For purposes 
hereof, the term "Rate" means the Adjusted LIBO Rate or the Alternate Base Rate. 
 
     "Unfunded Benefit Liabilities" means, with respect to any Plan, the amount 
(if any) by which the present value of all benefit liabilities (within the 
meaning of Section 4001(a)(16) of ERISA) under the Plan exceeds the fair market 
value of all Plan assets allocable to such benefit liabilities, as determined on 
the most 
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recent valuation date of the Plan and in accordance with the provisions of ERISA 
for calculating the potential liability of the Borrower or any ERISA Affiliate 
under Title IV of ERISA. 
 
1.1. Section Accounting Terms . All accounting terms used herein and not 
specifically defined herein shall be construed in accordance with GAAP, and all 
financial data required to be delivered hereunder shall be prepared in 
accordance with GAAP. If any change in GAAP, as in effect on the date hereof, 
occurs after the date of this Agreement, compliance with all financial covenants 
contained herein shall continue to be determined in accordance with GAAP as in 
effect on the date hereof, except to the extent that the Borrower and the 
Required Lenders otherwise agree in writing. 
1.2. 
1.3. 
 
                             2. ARTICLE THE LOANS. 
 
1.1. Section Syndicated Loans . Subject to the terms and conditions and relying 
upon the representations and warranties herein set forth, each Lender agrees, 
severally and not jointly, to make Syndicated Loans to the Borrower, at any time 
and from time to time on or after the date hereof, and until the earlier of the 
Maturity Date or the termination of the Revolving Credit Commitment of such 
Lender in accordance with the terms hereof, in dollars, in an aggregate 
principal amount at any time outstanding that will not result in: 
 
     (i)  the sum of (x) such Lender's Syndicated Loan Exposure, plus (y) such 
     Lender's L/C Exposure, plus (z) such Lender's Pro Rata Percentage of all 
     outstanding Swingline Loans exceeding such Lender's Revolving Credit 
     Commitment, or 
 
     (i)  the Aggregate Credit Exposure exceeding the Total Revolving Credit 
     Commitment. 
 
Within the limits set forth in the preceding sentence and subject to the terms, 
conditions and limitations set forth herein, the Borrower may borrow, pay or 
prepay and reborrow Syndicated Loans. 
 
(a)  Section Making of Syndicated Loans . Each Syndicated Loan shall be made as 
part of a Borrowing consisting of Syndicated Loans made by the Lenders ratably 
in accordance with their respective Revolving Credit Commitments; provided, 
however, that the failure of any Lender to make any Syndicated Loan shall not in 
itself relieve any other Lender of its obligation to lend hereunder (it being 
understood, however, that no Lender shall be responsible for the failure of any 
other Lender to make any Syndicated Loan required to be made by such other 
Lender). Except for Syndicated Loans that are L/C Reimbursement Loans and 
Syndicated Loans that are made pursuant to Section 2.5(a) in order to refinance 
Swingline Loans, the Syndicated Loans comprising any Borrowing shall be in an 
aggregate principal amount that is an integral multiple of $500,000 and not less 
than $1,000,000 (in the case of each ABR Borrowing) or $3,000,000 (in the case 
of each LIBOR Borrowing) or in an amount which is equal to the remaining balance 
of the Total Revolving Credit Commitment. 
(b)  Subject to Sections 4.1 and 4.3, each Borrowing of Syndicated Loans shall 
be comprised entirely of ABR Loans or LIBOR Loans as the Borrower may request 
pursuant to Section 2.3. Each Lender may at its option make any LIBOR Loan by 
causing any domestic or foreign branch or Affiliate of such Lender to make such 
Loan; provided that any exercise of such option shall not affect the obligation 
of the Borrower to repay such Loan in accordance with the terms of this 
Agreement. Borrowings of more than one Type may be outstanding at the same time; 
provided, however, that the Borrower shall not be entitled to request any 
Borrowing that, if made, would result in more than twelve LIBOR Borrowings 
outstanding hereunder at any time. For purposes of the foregoing, Borrowings 
having different Interest Periods, regardless of whether they commence on the 
same date, shall be considered separate Borrowings. 
(c) 
(d)  Except with respect to Syndicated Loans that are L/C Reimbursement Loans, 
each Lender shall make each Syndicated Loan to be made by it hereunder on the 
proposed date thereof by wire transfer 
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of immediately available funds to such account as the Administrative Agent may 
designate, not later than 12:00 (noon), New York City time, and the 
Administrative Agent shall promptly credit the amounts so received to an account 
in the name of the Borrower maintained with the Administrative Agent in New York 
City or to another account designated by the Borrower in writing and approved by 
the Administrative Agent, or, if a Borrowing shall not occur on such date 
because any condition precedent herein specified shall not have been met, return 
the amounts so received to the respective Lenders. 
(e) 
 
(f)  Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, the Borrower shall 
not be entitled to request any Borrowing of Syndicated Loans that are LIBOR 
Loans if the Interest Period requested with respect thereto would end after the 
Maturity Date. 
(g) 
(h)  If the Issuing Bank shall not have received from the Borrower the payment 
required to be made by Section 3.5 within the time specified in such Section, 
the Issuing Bank will promptly notify the Administrative Agent of the L/C 
Disbursement and the Administrative Agent will promptly notify each Lender of 
such L/C Disbursement and its Pro Rata Percentage thereof. Each Lender shall pay 
by wire transfer of immediately available funds to the Administrative Agent not 
later than 2:00 p.m., New York City time, on the date it receives such notice 
(or, if such Lender shall have received such notice later than 12:00 (noon) New 
York City time, on any day, then not later than 10:00 a.m., New York City time, 
on the immediately following Business Day), an amount equal to such Lender's Pro 
Rata Percentage of such L/C Disbursement; such payment shall constitute a 
Syndicated Loan and an ABR Loan of such Lender, and such payment shall reduce 
the L/C Exposure and shall be deemed to satisfy (pro tanto) the obligation of 
the Borrower to make the reimbursement payment under Section 3.5. The 
Administrative Agent will promptly pay to the Issuing Bank amounts so received 
by it from the Lenders. The Administrative Agent will promptly pay to the 
Issuing Bank any amounts received by it from the Borrower pursuant to Section 
3.5 prior to the time that any Lender makes any payment pursuant to this 
paragraph (e); any such amounts received by the Administrative Agent thereafter 
will be promptly remitted by the Administrative Agent to the Lenders that shall 
have made such payments and to the Issuing Bank, as their interests may appear. 
If any Lender shall not have made its Pro Rata Percentage of such L/C 
Disbursement available to the Administrative Agent as provided above, such 
Lender and the Borrower severally agree to pay interest on such amount, for each 
day from and including the date such amount is required to be paid in accordance 
with this paragraph to but excluding the date such amount is paid, to the 
Administrative Agent for the account of the Issuing Bank at (i) in the case of 
the Borrower, a rate per annum equal to the Alternate Base Rate, and (ii) in the 
case of such Lender, a rate per annum equal to, for the first such day, the 
Federal Funds Effective Rate, and for each day thereafter, one percent per annum 
in excess of the Federal Funds Effective Rate. 
(i) 
(j)  Section Borrowing Procedure as to Syndicated Loans . In order to request a 
Borrowing of Syndicated Loans (other than a Borrowing of an L/C Reimbursement 
Loan, as to which this Section 2.3 shall not apply), the Borrower shall hand 
deliver or telecopy to the Administrative Agent a duly completed Syndicated Loan 
Borrowing Request (a) in the case of a LIBOR Borrowing, not later than 11:00 
a.m., New York City time, three Business Days before a proposed Borrowing, and 
(b) in the case of an ABR Borrowing, not later than 12:00 noon, New York City 
time, one Business Day before a proposed Borrowing. Notwithstanding the 
immediately preceding sentence, the Administrative Agent agrees that it will 
(subject to the Authorization Letter) accept from the Borrower a Syndicated Loan 
Borrowing Request by telephone by the applicable date and time specified in the 
immediately preceding sentence, provided that the same is confirmed by the 
Borrower to the Administrative Agent in writing promptly (and in all events on 
the same day as such telephone communication). Each Syndicated Loan Borrowing 
Request shall be irrevocable, shall be signed on behalf of the Borrower, shall 
refer to this Agreement and shall specify the following information: that such 
Request relates to Syndicated Loans and not a Swingline Loan; whether the 
Borrowing then being requested is to be a LIBOR Borrowing or an ABR Borrowing; 
the date of such Borrowing (which shall be a Business Day); the number and 
location of the account to which funds are to be disbursed (which shall be an 
account that complies with the requirements of Section 2.2(c)); the amount of 
such Borrowing; and if such Borrowing is to be a LIBOR Borrowing, the Interest 
Period or Periods with 
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respect thereto; provided, however, that notwithstanding any contrary 
specification in any Syndicated Loan Borrowing Request, each requested Borrowing 
of Syndicated Loans shall comply with the requirements set forth in Section 2.2. 
If no election (or an incomplete election) as to the Type of Borrowing is 
specified in any such notice, then the requested Borrowing shall be an ABR 
Borrowing. If no Interest Period with respect to any LIBOR Borrowing is 
specified in any such notice, then the Borrower shall be deemed to have selected 
an Interest Period of one month's duration. The Administrative Agent shall 
promptly advise the Lenders of any notice given pursuant to this Section 2.3 
(and the contents thereof), and of each Lender's portion of the requested 
Borrowing. 
(k) 
(l)  Section Swingline Loans . Subject to the terms and conditions and relying 
upon the representations and warranties herein set forth, the Swingline Bank 
agrees to make Swingline Loans to the Borrower, at any time and from time to 
time on and after the date hereof until two Business Days before the Maturity 
Date, in dollars, in an aggregate principal amount at any time outstanding that 
will not result in: 
(m) 
 
          (i)  the aggregate principal amount of Swingline Loans being in excess 
          of $10,000,000, or 
 
          (i)  the Aggregate Credit Exposure exceeding the Total Revolving 
          Credit Commitment. 
 
Within such limits, and subject to the terms, conditions and limitations set 
forth herein, the Borrower may borrow, pay or prepay and reborrow Swingline 
Loans from the Swingline Bank. 
 
(a)       The Swingline Loans shall be made in dollars and maintained as ABR 
Loans. 
(b) 
(c)       Each Borrowing of a Swingline Loan shall be in an amount not less than 
$1,000,000 and shall be in integral multiples of $500,000. 
(d) 
(e)       In order to request a Borrowing of a Swingline Loan, the Borrower 
shall hand deliver or telecopy to the Administrative Agent a duly completed 
Swingline Loan Borrowing Request not later than 11:00 a.m., New York City time, 
on the Business Day on which the proposed Borrowing is to be made. 
Notwithstanding the immediately preceding sentence, the Administrative Agent 
agrees that it will (subject to the Authorization Letter) accept from the 
Borrower a Swingline Loan Borrowing Request by telephone by the applicable date 
and time specified in the immediately preceding sentence, provided that the same 
is confirmed by the Borrower to the Administrative Agent in writing promptly 
(and in all events on the same day as such telephone communication). Each 
Swingline Loan Borrowing Request shall be irrevocable, shall be signed on behalf 
of the Borrower, shall refer to this Agreement and shall state (i) that the 
requested Borrowing is to be of a Swingline Loan, and (ii) the amount of such 
Borrowing, and (iii) the date of such Borrowing (which is to be a Business Day). 
The Administrative Agent shall promptly notify the Swingline Bank of such 
Swingline Loan Borrowing Request. On the date so specified, the Swingline Bank 
shall make available the amount of the Swingline Loan to be made by it on such 
date to the Administrative Agent, in immediately available funds, at an account 
designated and maintained by the Administrative Agent. The amount so received by 
the Administrative Agent shall, subject to the terms and conditions of this 
Agreement, be made available to the Borrower by depositing the same in an 
account of the Borrower maintained at the Administrative Agent. 
(f) 
(g)       Section Refinancing by All Lenders of Swingline Loans . At any time 
and from time to time, on any Business Day, the Swingline Bank may in its sole 
discretion give notice to the Lenders that one or more of the Swingline Loans 
(the aggregate amount of which shall be specified in such notice) shall be 
refinanced with a Borrowing of Syndicated Loans. Each Lender shall pay by wire 
transfer of immediately available funds to the Administrative Agent not later 
than 2:00 p.m., New York City time, on the day it receives such notice (or, if 
such Lender shall have received such notice later than 12:00 (noon), New York 
City time on any day, then not later then 10:00 a.m. on the immediately 
following Business Day) an amount equal to such 
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Lender's Pro Rata Percentage of the aggregate amount of such Syndicated Loans 
specified in such notice; such payment shall constitute a Syndicated Loan and an 
ABR Loan of such Lender, and such payment shall reduce (to the extent of such 
payment) the Swingline Loans specified in such notice. The Administrative Agent 
shall promptly pay to the Swingline Bank amounts so received by it from the 
Lenders. If any Lender shall not have made its Pro Rata Percentage of such 
aggregate amount specified in such notice available to the Administrative Agent 
as provided in the immediately preceding sentence, such Lender shall 
(independently of and in addition to the Borrower's obligation to pay interest 
on such amount) pay interest on its Pro Rata Percentage of such amount, for each 
day from and including the date the same is required to be paid in accordance 
with this paragraph to but excluding the date the same is paid, to the 
Administrative Agent for the account of the Swingline Bank at (i) for the first 
such day, the Federal Funds Effective Rate, and (ii) for each day thereafter, 
one percent per annum in excess of the Federal Funds Effective Rate. 
(h) 
(i)       By borrowing any Swingline Loan, the Borrower irrevocably agrees to 
incur the Borrowing of Syndicated Loans with respect to such Swingline Loan as 
provided in this Section if and when the Swingline Bank elects in its discretion 
to require a refinancing thereof as provided in this Section. 
(j) 
(k)       Each Lender hereby irrevocably agrees to make a Syndicated Loan in the 
amount and in the manner and on each date specified in paragraph (a) of this 
Section, irrespective of whether or not a Default or Event of Default exists or 
whether any condition specified in Article 5 is satisfied, and notwithstanding 
that the amount of such Borrowing may not comply with the minimum amount for 
Borrowings of Syndicated Loans otherwise specified herein. 
(l) 
(m)       In the event that any Borrowing described in this Section cannot for 
any reason be made on the date required in this Section (including, without 
limitation, as a result of the commencement of a proceeding under the Federal 
bankruptcy code with respect to the Borrower), then each Lender shall forthwith 
purchase (as of the date that such Borrowing would otherwise have occurred) from 
the Swingline Bank such participations in the outstanding Swingline Loans as 
shall be necessary to cause the Lenders to share in the outstanding Swingline 
Loans ratably in accordance with their respective Pro Rata Percentages. Each 
Lender shall in addition pay to the Administrative Agent for the account of the 
Swingline Bank interest on the amount of such obligation of such Lender, for 
each day from and including the date such amount is required to be paid in 
accordance with this paragraph to but excluding the date such amount is paid, at 
(i) for the first such day, the Federal Funds Effective Rate, and (ii) for each 
day thereafter, one percent per annum in excess of the Federal Funds Effective 
Rate. 
(n) 
(o)       Section Repayment of Loans . The Borrower hereby unconditionally 
agrees to pay to the Administrative Agent for the account of each Lender on the 
Maturity Date the then unpaid principal amount of each Syndicated Loan of such 
Lender. Such obligation in favor of each Lender shall be evidenced by a 
promissory note in favor of such Lender in substantially the form of Exhibit A-1 
hereto (the "Syndicated Loan Note" of such Lender). 
(p) 
(q)       The Borrower hereby unconditionally agrees to pay to the 
Administrative Agent for the account of the Swingline Bank the unpaid principal 
amount of each Swingline Loan on the Maturity Date. Such obligation in favor of 
the Swingline Bank shall be evidenced by a single promissory note in favor of 
the Swingline Bank in the amount of $10,000,000 in substantially the form of 
Exhibit A-2 hereto (the "Swingline Loan Note"). 
(r) 
(s)       Each Lender and the Swingline Bank shall maintain in accordance with 
its usual practice an account or accounts evidencing the indebtedness of the 
Borrower to such Lender or the Swingline Bank resulting from each Loan made by 
such Lender or the Swingline Bank from time to time, including the amounts of 
principal and interest payable and paid to such Lender or the Swingline Bank 
from time to time under this Agreement. 
(t) 
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(u)       The Administrative Agent shall maintain accounts in which it will 
record (i) the amount of each Loan made hereunder, the Type thereof, the 
Interest Period applicable thereto and whether such Loan is a Syndicated Loan or 
a Swingline Loan, (ii) the amount of any principal or interest due and payable 
or to become due and payable from the Borrower to each Lender or the Swingline 
Bank hereunder and (iii) the amount of any sum received by the Administrative 
Agent hereunder from the Borrower or any Guarantor and each Lender's or the 
Swingline Bank's share thereof. 
(v) 
(w)       The entries made in the accounts maintained pursuant to paragraphs (c) 
and (d) above shall be prima facie evidence of the existence and amounts of the 
obligations therein recorded; provided, however, that the failure of any Lender 
or the Swingline Bank or the Administrative Agent to maintain such accounts or 
any error therein shall not in any manner affect the obligations of the Borrower 
to repay the Loans in accordance with their terms. 
(x) 
(y)       Section Certain Fees . The Borrower agrees to pay to each Lender, 
through the Administrative Agent, on the last day of March, June, September and 
December in each year and on the date on which the Revolving Credit Commitment 
of such Lender shall expire or be terminated as provided herein, a commitment 
fee equal to the average daily unused amount of the Revolving Credit Commitment 
of such Lender during the preceding quarter (or other period commencing with the 
Closing Date or ending with the Maturity Date or the date on which the Revolving 
Credit Commitment of such Lender shall expire or be terminated) multiplied by 
the Applicable Rate for such quarter or other period (appropriately pro-rated, 
if the Applicable Rate changes during such quarter or other period). "Usage"of 
the Revolving Credit Commitment of a Lender shall include the Syndicated Loans 
of such Lender and such Lender's Pro Rata Percentage of the L/C Exposure, but 
shall exclude Swingline Loans. 
(z) 
(aa)      All commitment fees described in subsection (a) of this Section (the 
"Commitment Fees") shall be computed on the basis of the actual number of days 
elapsed in a year of 360 days. The Commitment Fee due to each Lender shall 
commence to accrue on the Closing Date and shall cease to accrue on the date on 
which the Revolving Credit Commitment of such Lender shall expire or be 
terminated as provided herein. 
(bb) 
(cc)      The Borrower agrees to pay to the Administrative Agent, for its own 
account, the fees set forth in the Fee Letter at the times and in the amounts 
specified therein (the "Administrative Agent Fees"). 
(dd) 
(ee)      The Commitment Fees and the Administrative Agent Fees shall be paid on 
the dates due in immediately available funds to the Administrative Agent, for 
distribution, if and as appropriate, among the Lenders. Once paid, none of such 
Fees shall be refundable under any circumstances. 
(ff) 
(gg)      Section Interest on Loans . Subject to the provisions of Section 2.9, 
the Loans comprising each ABR Borrowing (whether of Syndicated Loans or of a 
Swingline Loan) shall bear interest at a rate per annum equal to the Alternate 
Base Rate. Such interest shall be computed on the basis of the actual number of 
days elapsed, over (if such interest is determined on the basis of the Prime 
Rate) a year of 365 or 366 days, as the case may be, or (if such interest is 
determined on the basis of the Federal Funds Effective Rate) a year of 360 days. 
(hh) 
(ii)      Subject to the provisions of Section 2.9, the Loans comprising each 
LIBOR Borrowing of Syndicated Loans shall bear interest (computed on the basis 
of the actual number of days elapsed over a year of 360 days) at a rate per 
annum equal to the Adjusted LIBOR Rate for the Interest Period in effect for 
such Borrowing plus the Applicable Rate in effect from time to time. 
(jj) 
(kk)      Interest on each Loan shall be payable on the Interest Payment Dates 
applicable to such Loan except as otherwise provided in this Agreement. The 
applicable Alternate Base Rate or Adjusted 
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LIBOR Rate for each Interest Period or day within an Interest Period, as the 
case may be, shall be determined by the Administrative Agent, and such 
determination shall be conclusive absent manifest error. 
(ll) 
1.2. Section Default Interest . If the Borrower shall default in the payment of 
the principal of or interest on any Loan or any other amount becoming due under 
this Agreement, at stated maturity, by acceleration or otherwise, or under any 
other Facility Document, the Borrower shall on demand from time to time pay 
interest, to the extent permitted by law, on such defaulted amount to but 
excluding the date of actual payment (after as well as before judgment) at a 
rate (the "Default Rate") equal to (a) in the case of overdue principal, the 
rate otherwise applicable to such Loan pursuant to Section 2.8 plus 2.0% per 
annum and (b) in all other cases, the Alternate Base Rate plus 2.0% per annum. 
 
(a)  Section Termination and Reduction of Commitments . The Revolving Credit 
Commitments and the L/C Commitment shall automatically expire and terminate on 
the Maturity Date. 
(b) 
(c)  Upon at least three Business Days' prior irrevocable written or telecopy 
notice to the Administrative Agent, the Borrower may at any time in whole 
permanently terminate, or from time to time in part permanently reduce, the 
Revolving Credit Commitments; provided, however, that (i) each partial reduction 
of the Revolving Credit Commitments shall be an integral multiple of $1,000,000 
and in a minimum amount of $5,000,000 and (ii) the Total Revolving Credit 
Commitment shall not be reduced to an amount that is less than the Aggregate 
Credit Exposure at the time (after giving effect to any concurrent prepayment of 
Loans). If the Administrative Agent receives such a notice from the Borrower, 
the Administrative Agent shall promptly advise the Lenders thereof. 
(d) 
(e)  If a transaction occurs that is not permitted pursuant to Section 8.7 or 
Section 8.8 or Section 8.10 other than as a Designated Sale, then the Revolving 
Credit Commitments shall be reduced to the extent provided in the definition of 
Designated Sales. 
(f) 
(g)  If proceeds of the sale(s) of assets by the Borrower or any of its 
Subsidiaries are applied to the complete or partial retirement of the Prudential 
Existing Notes or the Prudential Shelf Notes (whether by prepayment or 
reacquisition by the Borrower or such Subsidiary or otherwise), then (in 
addition to any reduction effected pursuant to paragraph (c) of this Section) 
each Lender's Revolving Credit Commitment shall be reduced by the percentage 
equivalent of a fraction whose numerator is the aggregate outstanding principal 
amount of the Prudential Existing Notes and the Prudential Shelf Notes so 
retired and whose denominator is the aggregate outstanding principal amount of 
the Prudential Existing Notes and the Prudential Shelf Notes immediately prior 
to such retirement. The Borrower shall give the Administrative Agent and the 
Lenders seven (7) days' prior written notice of any complete or partial 
retirement of the Prudential Existing Notes or the Prudential Shelf Notes out of 
proceeds of any such sale(s) of assets. 
(h) 
(i)  Each reduction in the Revolving Credit Commitments hereunder shall be made 
ratably among the Lenders in accordance with their respective Revolving Credit 
Commitments. The Borrower shall pay to the Administrative Agent for the account 
of the applicable Lenders, on the date of each termination or reduction, the 
Commitment Fees on the amount of the Revolving Credit Commitments so terminated 
or reduced accrued to but excluding the date of such termination or reduction. 
(j) 
(k)  Section Conversion and Continuation of Borrowings . The Borrower shall have 
the right at any time upon prior irrevocable notice to the Administrative Agent 
(a) not later than 12:00 (noon), New York City time, one Business Day prior to 
conversion, to convert any LIBOR Borrowing into an ABR Borrowing, (b) not later 
than 11:00 a.m., New York City time, three Business Days prior to conversion or 
continuation, to convert any ABR Borrowing of Syndicated Loans into a LIBOR 
Borrowing or to continue any LIBOR Borrowing as a LIBOR Borrowing for an 
additional Interest Period or Periods, and (c) not later than 11:00 a.m., New 
York City time, three Business Days prior to conversion, to convert the Interest 
Period with respect to any LIBOR Borrowing to another permissible Interest 
Period, subject in each case to the following: 
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(l) 
 
     (i)  each conversion or continuation shall be made pro rata among the 
     Lenders in accordance with the respective principal amounts of the Loans 
     comprising the converted or continued Borrowing; 
 
     (i)  if less than all the outstanding principal amount of any Borrowing 
     shall be converted or continued, then each resulting Borrowing shall 
     satisfy the limitations specified in Sections 2.2(a) and 2.2(b) regarding 
     the principal amount and maximum number of Borrowings of the relevant Type; 
 
     (i)  each conversion shall be effected by each Lender and the 
     Administrative Agent by recording for the account of such Lender the new 
     Loan of such Lender resulting from such conversion and reducing the Loan 
     (or portion thereof) of such Lender being converted by an equivalent 
     principal amount; accrued interest on any LIBOR Loan (or portion thereof) 
     being converted shall be paid by the Borrower at the time of conversion; 
 
     (i)  if any LIBOR Borrowing is converted at a time other than the end of 
     the Interest Period applicable thereto, the Borrower shall pay, upon 
     demand, any amounts due the Lenders pursuant to Section 4.4; 
 
     (i)  no ABR Borrowing may be converted into a LIBOR Borrowing during the 
     one-month period prior to the Maturity Date; and no LIBOR Borrowing whose 
     Interest Period ends during the one-month period prior to the Maturity Date 
     may be continued as a LIBOR Borrowing for an additional Interest Period; 
 
     (i)  any portion of a LIBOR Borrowing that cannot be continued as a LIBOR 
     Borrowing by reason of the immediately preceding clause shall at the end of 
     the Interest Period in effect for such Borrowing be automatically converted 
     into an ABR Borrowing; and 
 
     (i)  upon notice to the Borrower from the Administrative Agent given at the 
     request of the Required Lenders, after the occurrence and during the 
     continuance of a Default or Event of Default, (x) no outstanding Loan may 
     be converted into, or continued as, a LIBOR Loan, and (y) unless repaid, 
     each LIBOR Borrowing shall be converted into an ABR Borrowing at the end of 
     the Interest Period applicable thereto. 
 
     Each notice pursuant to this Section shall be irrevocable and shall refer 
to this Agreement and specify (i) the identity and amount of the Borrowing that 
the Borrower requests be converted or continued, (ii) whether such Borrowing is 
to be converted to or continued as a LIBOR Borrowing or an ABR Borrowing, (iii) 
if such notice requests a conversion, the date of such conversion (which shall 
be a Business Day), and (iv) if such Borrowing is to be converted to or 
continued as a LIBOR Borrowing, the Interest Period with respect thereto. No 
such notice shall be given more than seven Business Days prior to the effective 
date of the applicable conversion or continuation. If no Interest Period is 
specified in any such notice with respect to any conversion to or continuation 
as a LIBOR Borrowing, the Borrower shall be deemed to have selected an Interest 
Period of one month's duration. The Administrative Agent shall advise the 
Lenders of any notice given pursuant to this Section and of each Lender's 
portion of any converted or continued Borrowing. If the Borrower shall not have 
given notice in accordance with this Section to continue any LIBOR Borrowing of 
Syndicated Loans into a subsequent Interest Period (and shall not otherwise have 
given notice in accordance with this Section to convert such Borrowing), such 
Borrowing shall, at the end of the Interest Period applicable thereto (unless 
repaid pursuant to the terms hereof), automatically be continued into a new 
Interest Period as an ABR Borrowing. 
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(a)       Each ABR Borrowing shall, if such ABR Borrowing remains outstanding on 
the last day of an Interest Period, automatically be continued into a new 
Interest Period. A Swingline Loan may not be converted into a LIBOR Loan. 
(b) 
(c)  Section Optional Prepayment . The Borrower shall have the right at any time 
and from time to time to prepay any Borrowing, in whole or in part, upon at 
least three Business Days' (in the case of LIBOR Borrowings) or one Business 
Day's (in the case of ABR Borrowings of Syndicated Loans) prior written or 
telecopy notice to the Administrative Agent before 11:00 a.m., New York City 
time or (in the case of a Borrowing of a Swingline Loan) upon such notice to the 
Administrative Agent before 11:00 a.m., New York City time, on the day of such 
prepayment; provided, however, that each partial prepayment shall be in an 
amount that is an integral multiple of $500,000 and not less than $1,000,000. 
Notwithstanding the immediately preceding sentence, the Administrative Agent 
agrees that it will (subject to the Authorization Letter) accept from the 
Borrower notice by telephone of prepayment by the dates and time specified in 
the immediately preceding sentence, provided that the same is confirmed by the 
Borrower to the Administrative Agent in writing promptly (and in all events on 
the same day as such telephone communication). 
(d)  Each notice of prepayment shall specify the prepayment date and the 
principal amount of each Borrowing (or portion thereof) to be prepaid, shall be 
irrevocable and shall commit the Borrower to prepay such Borrowing by the amount 
stated therein on the date stated therein. All prepayments under this Section 
2.12 shall be subject to Section 4.4 but otherwise without premium or penalty. 
All prepayments under this Section 2.12 shall be accompanied by accrued interest 
on the principal amount being prepaid to the date of payment. 
(e) 
(f)  Section Mandatory Prepayments . In the event of any termination of all the 
Revolving Credit Commitments, the Borrower shall on the date of such termination 
repay or prepay all its outstanding Borrowings of Syndicated Loans and Swingline 
Loans and (if any L/C Exposure exists) remit to the Administrative Agent for 
deposit in the Cash Collateral Account cash in an amount equal to the L/C 
Exposure to secure the payment when due of the reimbursement obligation of the 
Borrower in respect of the aggregate undrawn face amount of Letters of Credit. 
(g) 
(h)  In the event of any partial reduction of the Revolving Credit Commitments, 
then (x) at or prior to the effective date of such reduction, the Administrative 
Agent shall notify the Borrower and the Lenders of the Aggregate Credit Exposure 
after giving effect thereto and (y) if the Aggregate Credit Exposure would 
exceed the Total Revolving Credit Commitment after giving effect to such 
reduction, then on the date of such reduction the Borrower shall prepay 
Borrowings in an amount sufficient to eliminate such excess and (if the 
prepayment of Borrowings is not sufficient to eliminate such excess) remit to 
the Administrative Agent for deposit in the Cash Collateral Account cash in the 
remaining amount of such excess to secure the payment when due of the 
reimbursement obligation of the Borrower in respect of the aggregate undrawn 
face amount of Letters of Credit. Without limiting the generality of the 
reductions referred to in this paragraph of the Revolving Credit Commitments, 
such reductions shall include reductions referred to in paragraphs (c) and (d) 
of Section 2.10 and Section 8.1(g). 
(i) 
(j)  All prepayments of Borrowings under this Section shall be subject to 
Section 4.4, but shall otherwise be without premium or penalty. 
(k) 
(l)  Amounts to be applied pursuant to this Section to the prepayment of 
Swingline Loans and/or Syndicated Loans shall be applied, as applicable, first 
to reduce outstanding Swingline Loans, then to reduce outstanding Syndicated 
Loans that are ABR Loans. Any amounts remaining after each such application 
shall be applied to prepay LIBOR Loans immediately and/or, if elected by the 
Borrower provided no Event of Default exists, be deposited in the Cash 
Collateral Account; and any amount to be so remitted pursuant to paragraph (a) 
or (b) of this Section shall be deposited in the Cash Collateral Account. In the 
case of such an immediate prepayment of LIBOR Loans, the Borrower shall (unless 
an Event of Default exists) be entitled to designate which LIBOR Borrowings are 
to be prepaid, by giving written notice of such 
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designation to the Administrative Agent at or before the remittance to the 
Administrative Agent of the amounts to be applied in prepayment. 
(m) 
(n)       The Administrative Agent shall apply any cash deposited in the Cash 
Collateral Account (i) in respect of LIBOR Loans, to prepay LIBOR Loans on the 
last day of their respective Interest Periods (or, at the direction of the 
Borrower, on any earlier date) until all such outstanding Loans have been 
prepaid or until all the allocable cash on deposit with respect to such Loans 
has been exhausted; and (ii) in respect of L/C Exposure, to pay as and when the 
same becomes due the reimbursement obligation of the Borrower in respect of 
Letters of Credit. If any Letter of Credit so secured by such cash collateral 
expires without being drawn (or, if drawn, whose reimbursement is paid by the 
Borrower with funds other than such cash collateral), the Administrative Agent 
shall remit to the Borrower such cash collateral securing such Letter of Credit 
promptly after a request by the Borrower therefor, provided that no Default or 
Event of Default exists. For purposes of this Agreement, the term "Cash 
Collateral Account"shall mean an account established by the Borrower with the 
Administrative Agent and over which the Administrative Agent shall have 
exclusive dominion and control, including the exclusive right of withdrawal for 
application in accordance with this paragraph. The Administrative Agent will, at 
the request of the Borrower, invest amounts on deposit in the Cash Collateral 
Account in Permitted Investments; provided, however, that (i) the Administrative 
Agent shall not be required to make any investment that, in its sole judgment, 
would require or cause the Administrative Agent to be in, or would result in 
any, violation of any law, statute, rule or regulation, and (ii) the 
Administrative Agent shall have no obligation to invest amounts on deposit in 
the Cash Collateral Account if a Default or Event of Default shall have occurred 
and be continuing, and (iii) as to amounts on deposit for the prepayment of 
LIBOR Borrowings, such Permitted Investments shall mature prior to the last day 
of the applicable Interest Periods of the LIBOR Borrowings to be prepaid. The 
Borrower shall indemnify the Administrative Agent for any losses relating to the 
investments so that the amount available to prepay LIBOR Borrowings on the last 
day of the applicable Interest Period, and to pay L/C Exposure as and when the 
same becomes due, is not less than the amount that would have been available had 
no investments been made pursuant hereto. Other than any interest earned on such 
investments, the Cash Collateral Account shall not bear interest. Interest or 
profits, if any, on such investments shall be deposited in the Cash Collateral 
Account and reinvested and disbursed as specified above. If the maturity of the 
Loans has been accelerated pursuant to this Agreement, the Administrative Agent 
may, in its sole discretion apply all amounts on deposit in the Cash Collateral 
Account to satisfy any of the amounts due under this Agreement. The Borrower 
hereby grants to the Administrative Agent, for its benefit and the benefit of 
the Issuing Bank and the Lenders, a security interest in the Cash Collateral 
Account to secure all amounts due under this Agreement. 
(o) 
(p)  Section Payments . The Borrower shall make each payment (including 
principal of or interest on any Borrowing or reimbursement of any L/C 
Disbursement or any Fees or other amounts) hereunder and under any Facility 
Document not later than 1:00 p.m., local time at the place of payment, on the 
date when due in immediately available funds, without setoff, defense or 
counterclaim. Each such payment (other than Issuing Bank Fees, which shall be 
paid directly to the Issuing Bank) shall be made to the Administrative Agent at 
its offices at 270 Park Avenue, New York, New York or to such other address as 
the Administrative Agent may designate to the Borrower in writing. Each such 
payment shall be made in dollars. The Administrative Agent, or any Lender for 
whose account any such payment is to be made, may (but shall not be obligated 
to) debit the amount of any such payment which is not made by such time to any 
ordinary deposit account of the Borrower with the Administrative Agent or such 
Lender, as the case may be, and any Lender so doing shall promptly notify the 
Administrative Agent; such Lender or (if the Administrative Agent effects such 
debit) the Administrative Agent shall promptly after effecting such debit give 
notice thereof to the Borrower as well, provided however that a failure to give 
such notice to the Borrower shall not affect the validity of such debit or place 
such Lender or the Administrative Agent under any liability to the Borrower. The 
Borrower shall, at the time of making each payment under this Agreement or the 
Notes, specify to the Administrative Agent the principal or other amount payable 
by the Borrower under this Agreement or the Notes to which such payment is to be 
applied (and in the event that it fails to so specify, or if a Default or 
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Event of Default has occurred and is continuing), the Administrative Agent may 
apply such payment as it may elect in its sole discretion (subject to Section 
11.16)). 
(q) 
(r)       Whenever any payment (including principal of or interest on any 
Borrowing or any Fees or other amounts) hereunder or under any other Facility 
Document shall become due, or otherwise would occur, on a day that is not a 
Business Day, such payment may, except as otherwise provided in the definition 
of Interest Period, be made on the next succeeding Business Day, and such 
extension of time shall in such case be included in the computation of interest 
or Fees, if applicable. 
 
1.2. Section Purpose . The Borrower shall use the proceeds of the Loans for 
working capital and general corporate purposes. Such proceeds shall not be used 
for the purpose, whether immediate, incidental or ultimate, of buying or 
carrying "margin stock"within the meaning of Regulation U. The proceeds of the 
initial Borrowing shall be applied to pay in full all amounts (including 
principal, interest and fees) owing on the Closing Date by the Borrower under 
the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of July 23, 1997 (as amended) 
among the Borrower, the lenders signatory thereto, The Chase Manhattan Bank, as 
agent and as swingline bank and as issuing bank, and Fleet Bank, N.A., as 
co-agent. 
1.3. 
1.4. 
 
                          2. ARTICLE LETTERS OF CREDIT 
 
1.1. Section Letters of Credit . Subject to the terms and conditions of this 
Agreement, the Issuing Bank shall issue one or more standby or documentary 
letters of credit (each a "Letter of Credit") denominated in dollars, for the 
account of the Borrower, in form acceptable to the Issuing Bank, provided that, 
after giving effect to the issuance thereof: 
 
          (a) the L/C Exposure shall not exceed $15,000,000, and 
 
          (a) the Aggregate Credit Exposure shall not exceed the Total Revolving 
          Credit Commitment. 
 
This Article shall not be construed to impose an obligation upon the Issuing 
Bank to issue any Letter of Credit that is inconsistent with the terms and 
conditions of this Agreement. 
 
1.1. Section Notice of Issuance, Amendment, Renewal, Extension; Certain 
Conditions . In order to request the issuance of a Letter of Credit (or to 
amend, renew or extend an existing Letter of Credit), the Borrower shall hand 
deliver or telecopy to the Issuing Bank and the Administrative Agent (not later 
than two Business Days in advance of the requested date of issuance, amendment, 
renewal or extension) a notice requesting the issuance of a Letter of Credit 
(together with a completed Letter of Credit application in the Issuing Bank's 
then standard form), or identifying the Letter of Credit to be amended, renewed 
or extended, the date of issuance, amendment, renewal or extension, the date on 
which such Letter of Credit is to expire (which shall comply with Section 3.3), 
the amount of such Letter of Credit, the name and address of the beneficiary 
thereof and such other information as shall be necessary to prepare such Letter 
of Credit. Notwithstanding the immediately preceding sentence, the Issuing Bank 
and the Administrative Agent agree that they will (subject to the Authorization 
Letter) accept from the Borrower such notice by telephone by the date that is 
two Business Days in advance as aforesaid, provided that such notice is 
confirmed in writing promptly (and in all events on the same day as such 
telephone communication) and that (in the case of a requested issuance of a 
Letter of Credit) such confirmation is accompanied by such completed Letter of 
Credit application form. 
1.2. 
(a)  Section Minimum Amount; Expiration Date . The stated amount of each Letter 
of Credit shall not be less than $1,000,000 or such lesser amount as is 
acceptable to the Issuing Bank. 
(b) 
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(c)       Each Letter of Credit shall expire by its terms not later than the 
earlier of (A)(i) in the case of a documentary Letter of Credit, 180 days after 
the issuance thereof (unless the Issuing Bank agrees to a more extended expiry 
date) or (ii) in the case of a standby Letter of Credit, one year after the date 
of issuance thereof (subject to an "evergreen"provision, if and to the extent 
acceptable to the Issuing Bank); or (B) the Maturity Date. 
(d) 
1.3. Section Participations . By the issuance of each Letter of Credit and 
without any further action on the part of the Issuing Bank or the Lenders, the 
Issuing Bank hereby grants to each Lender, and each Lender hereby acquires from 
the Issuing Bank, a participation in such Letter of Credit equal to such 
Lender's Pro Rata Percentage of the aggregate amount available to be drawn under 
such Letter of Credit, effective upon the issuance of such Letter of Credit. In 
consideration and in furtherance of the foregoing, each Lender hereby absolutely 
and unconditionally agrees to pay to the Administrative Agent, for the account 
of the Issuing Bank, such Lender's Pro Rata Percentage of each L/C Disbursement 
made by the Issuing Bank and not reimbursed by the Borrower forthwith on the 
date due as provided in Section 2.2(e). Each Lender acknowledges and agrees that 
its obligation to acquire participations pursuant to this paragraph in respect 
of Letters of Credit is absolute and unconditional and shall not be affected by 
any circumstance whatsoever, including the occurrence and continuance of a 
Default or an Event of Default, and that each such payment shall be made without 
any offset, abatement, withholding or reduction whatsoever. The Administrative 
Agent and the Issuing Bank shall be entitled to offset amounts received for the 
account of a Lender under this Agreement or any of the other Facility Documents 
against unpaid amounts due from such Lender to the Administrative Agent or the 
Issuing Bank hereunder. 
1.4. 
1.5. Section Reimbursement . If the Issuing Bank shall make any L/C Disbursement 
in respect of a Letter of Credit, the Borrower shall pay to the Administrative 
Agent an amount equal to such L/C Disbursement (if the Borrower is notified of 
such L/C Disbursement prior to 3:00 p.m. New York City time on the date such L/C 
Disbursement is made) on the date such L/C Disbursement is made or (otherwise) 
on the Business Day immediately following the date on which such L/C 
Disbursement is made. 
1.6. 
1.7. Section Obligations Absolute . The Borrower's obligation to reimburse L/C 
Disbursements as provided in Section 3.5 shall be absolute, unconditional and 
irrevocable, and shall be performed strictly in accordance with the terms of 
this Agreement, under any and all circumstances whatsoever, and irrespective of: 
1.8. 
 
          (i)  any lack of validity or enforceability of any Letter of Credit or 
          any Facility Document, or any term or provision therein; 
 
          (i)  any amendment or waiver of or any consent to departure from all 
          or any of the provisions of any Letter of Credit or any Facility 
          Document; 
 
          (i)  the existence of any claim, setoff, defense or other right that 
          the Borrower, any other party guaranteeing, or otherwise obligated 
          with, the Borrower, any Subsidiary or other Affiliate thereof or any 
          other person may at any time have against the beneficiary under any 
          Letter of Credit, the Issuing Bank, the Administrative Agent or any 
          Lender or any other person, whether in connection with this Agreement, 
          any other Facility Document or any other related or unrelated 
          agreement or transaction; 
 
          (i)  any draft or other document presented under a Letter of Credit 
          proving to be forged, fraudulent, invalid or insufficient in any 
          respect or any statement therein being untrue or inaccurate in any 
          respect; 
 
          (i)  payment by the Issuing Bank under a Letter of Credit against 
          presentation of a draft or other document that does not comply with 
          the terms of such Letter of Credit, provided 
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          that such draft and other documents substantially comply with the 
          terms of such Letter of Credit; and 
 
          (i)  any other act or omission to act or delay of any kind of the 
          Issuing Bank, the Lenders, the Administrative Agent or any other 
          Person or any other event or circumstances whatsoever, whether or not 
          similar to any of the foregoing, that might, but for the provisions of 
          this Section, constitute a legal or equitable discharge of the 
          Borrower's obligations hereunder. 
 
     Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, it is expressly 
understood and agreed that the absolute and unconditional obligation of the 
Borrower hereunder to reimburse L/C Disbursements will not be excused by the 
gross negligence or wilful misconduct of the Issuing Bank. However, the 
foregoing shall not be construed to excuse the Issuing Bank from liability to 
the Borrower to the extent of any direct damages (as opposed to consequential 
damages, claims in respect of which are hereby waived by the Borrower to the 
extent permitted by applicable law) suffered by the Borrower that are caused by 
the Issuing Bank's gross negligence or wilful misconduct in determining whether 
drafts and other documents presented under a Letter of Credit comply with the 
terms thereof; it is understood that the Issuing Bank may accept documents that 
appear on their face to be in order, without responsibility for further 
investigation, regardless of any notice or information to the contrary and, in 
making any payment under any Letter of Credit (i) the Issuing Bank's exclusive 
reliance on the documents presented to it under such Letter of Credit as to any 
and all matters set forth therein, including reliance on the amount of any draft 
presented under such Letter of Credit, whether or not the amount due to the 
beneficiary thereunder equals the amount of such draft and whether or not any 
document presented pursuant to such Letter of Credit proves to be insufficient 
in any respect, if such document on its face appears to be in order, and whether 
or not any other statement or any other document presented pursuant to such 
Letter of Credit proves to be forged or invalid or any statement therein proves 
to be inaccurate or untrue in any respect whatsoever and (ii) any noncompliance 
in any immaterial respect of the documents presented under such Letter of Credit 
with the terms thereof shall, in each case, be deemed not to constitute wilful 
misconduct or gross negligence of the Issuing Bank. 
 
1.1. Section Disbursement Procedures . The Issuing Bank shall, promptly 
following its receipt thereof, examine all documents purporting to represent a 
demand for payment under a Letter of Credit. The Issuing Bank shall as promptly 
as possible give telephonic notification, confirmed by telecopy, to the 
Administrative Agent and the Borrower of such demand for payment and whether the 
Issuing Bank has made or will make an L/C Disbursement thereunder; provided that 
any failure to give or delay in giving such notice shall not relieve the 
Borrower of its obligation to reimburse the Issuing Bank and the Lenders with 
respect to any such L/C Disbursement. The Administrative Agent shall promptly 
give each Lender notice thereof. 
1.2. 
1.3. Section Interim Interest . If the Issuing Bank shall make any L/C 
Disbursement in respect of a Letter of Credit, then, unless the Borrower shall 
reimburse such L/C Disbursement in full on the date on which such L/C 
Disbursement is made, the unpaid amount thereof shall bear interest for the 
account of the Issuing Bank, for each day from and including the date of such 
L/C Disbursement to but excluding the earlier of the date of payment by the 
Borrower or the date on which interest shall commence to accrue thereon as 
provided in Section 2.2(e), at the rate per annum that would apply to such 
amount if such amount were an ABR Loan. 
1.4. 
1.5. Section Letter of Credit Fees . The Borrower agrees to pay (i) to each 
Lender, through the Administrative Agent, on the last day of March, June, 
September and December of each year and on the date on which the Revolving 
Credit Commitment of such Lender shall be terminated as provided herein, a fee 
(an "L/C Participation Fee") calculated on such Lender's Pro Rata Percentage of 
the average daily aggregate L/C Exposure (excluding the portion thereof 
attributable to unreimbursed L/C Disbursements) during the preceding quarter (or 
shorter period commencing with the date hereof, or ending with the Maturity Date 
or the date on which all Letters of Credit have been canceled or have expired 
and the Revolving Credit Commitments of all Lenders have been terminated) at a 
rate equal to .9375% per annum 
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in respect of standby Letters of Credit and .1875% per annum in respect of 
documentary Letters of Credit, and (ii) to the Issuing Bank with respect to each 
Letter of Credit, a facing fee at a rate equal to .0625% per annum in respect of 
each Letter of Credit (payable at the same times that the L/C Participation Fee 
is payable) plus the standard issuance and drawing fees specified from time to 
time by the Issuing Bank (the "Issuing Bank Fees"). All L/C Participation Fees 
and Issuing Bank Fees shall be computed on the basis of the actual number of 
days elapsed in a year of 360 days. The L/C Participation Fee and the Issuing 
Bank Fees shall be paid on the dates due in immediately available funds, (in the 
case of the L/C Participation Fee) to the Administrative Agent for distribution 
as appropriate among the Lenders and (in the case of the Issuing Bank Fees) 
directly to the Issuing Bank. 
1.6. 
1.7.  Section Resignation of the Issuing Bank . The Issuing Bank may resign at 
any time by giving 180 days' prior written notice to the Administrative Agent, 
the Lenders and the Borrower. The Borrower shall have the right to appoint any 
Lender as successor Issuing Bank, subject to the consent of the Required Lenders 
including the appointed Lender (which consent of the appointed Lender shall be 
in such Lender's sole discretion, and which consent of the other Required 
Lenders shall not be unreasonably withheld). Upon the acceptance of any 
appointment as the Issuing Bank hereunder by a Lender that shall agree to serve 
as successor Issuing Bank, such successor shall succeed to and become vested 
with all the interests, rights and obligations of the retiring Issuing Bank 
(except to the extent provided for in the last sentence of this Section) and the 
retiring Issuing Bank shall be discharged from its obligations to issue 
additional Letters of Credit hereunder. At the time such resignation shall 
become effective, the Borrower shall pay all accrued and unpaid Issuing Bank 
Fees. The acceptance of any appointment as the Issuing Bank hereunder by a 
successor Lender shall be evidenced by an agreement entered into by such 
successor, in a form satisfactory to the Borrower and the Administrative Agent, 
and from and after the effective date of such agreement (i) such successor 
Lender shall have all the rights and obligations of the previous Issuing Bank 
under this Agreement and the other Loan Documents and (ii) references herein and 
in the other Loan Documents to the term "Issuing Bank"shall be deemed to refer 
to such successor or to any previous Issuing Bank, or to such successor and all 
previous Issuing Banks, as the context shall require. After the resignation of 
the Issuing Bank hereunder, the retiring Issuing Bank shall remain a party 
hereto and shall continue to have all the rights and obligations of an Issuing 
Bank under this Agreement and the other Facility Documents with respect to 
Letters of Credit issued by it prior to such resignation, but shall not be 
required to issue additional Letters of Credit. 
1.8. 
1.9.  Section Not Fiduciary . In no event shall the Issuing Bank be deemed a 
fiduciary of the Lenders with respect to Letters of Credit. As between the 
Issuing Bank (on the one hand) and the Lenders (on the other hand), the Issuing 
Bank shall have in connection with the Letters of Credit all the rights and 
protections that are afforded to the Administrative Agent in Article 11. 
1.10. 
1.11. Section Purpose. No Letter of Credit shall be used by the Borrower for the 
purpose, whether immediate, incidental or ultimate, of buying or carrying 
"margin stock"within the meaning of Regulation U. 
1.12. 
1.13. 
 
                  2. ARTICLE YIELD PROTECTION; ILLEGALITY; ETC. 
 
1.1.  Section Alternate Rate of Interest . If prior to the commencement of any 
Interest Period for a LIBOR Borrowing: 
 
(a)                             the Administrative Agent determines (which 
          determination, if made on a reasonable and nondiscriminatory basis, 
          shall be conclusive absent manifest error) that adequate and 
          reasonable means do not exist for ascertaining the Adjusted LIBO Rate 
          for such Interest Period; or 
 
                                       25 
 
 



   31 
 
 
          (a)  the Administrative Agent is advised by the Required Lenders that 
          the Adjusted LIBO Rate for such Interest Period will not adequately 
          and fairly reflect the cost to such Lenders of making or maintaining 
          their Loans included in such Borrowing for such Interest Period; 
 
then the Administrative Agent shall give notice thereof to the Borrower and the 
Lenders by telephone or telecopy as promptly as practicable thereafter and, 
until the Administrative Agent notifies the Borrower and the Lenders that the 
circumstances giving rise to such notice no longer exist, (i) any request to 
convert any Borrowing to, or to continue any Borrowing as, a LIBOR Borrowing 
shall be ineffective, and any LIBOR Borrowing so requested to be continued shall 
be repaid on the last day of the then current Interest Period with respect 
thereto or (at the option of the Borrower) shall be converted to an ABR 
Borrowing in accordance with this Agreement on the last day of the then current 
Interest Period with respect thereto, (ii) if any Syndicated Loan Borrowing 
Request requests a LIBOR Borrowing, such Borrowing shall be made as an ABR 
Borrowing. 
 
(a)  Section Reserve Requirement; Change in Circumstances . Notwithstanding any 
other provision of this Agreement, if after the date of this Agreement any 
change in applicable law or regulation or in the interpretation or 
administration thereof by any Governmental Authority charged with the 
interpretation or administration thereof (whether or not having the force of 
law) shall change the basis of taxation of payments to any Lender or the 
Swingline Bank or the Issuing Bank of the principal of or interest on any LIBOR 
Loan made by such Lender or any Fees or other amounts payable hereunder (other 
than changes in respect of taxes imposed on the overall net income of such 
Lender or the Swingline Bank or the Issuing Bank by the jurisdiction in which 
such Lender or the Swingline Bank or the Issuing Bank has its principal office 
or by any political subdivision or taxing authority therein), or shall impose, 
modify or deem applicable any reserve, special deposit or similar requirement 
against assets of, deposits with or for the account of or credit extended by any 
Lender or the Swingline Bank or the Issuing Bank (except only such reserve 
requirement which is reflected in the Adjusted LIBOR Rate) or shall impose on 
such Lender or the Swingline Bank or the Issuing Bank or the London interbank 
market (or other relevant interbank market) any other condition affecting this 
Agreement or LIBOR Loans made by such Lender or any Letter of Credit or 
participation therein, and the result of any of the foregoing shall be to 
increase the cost to such Lender or the Swingline Bank or the Issuing Bank of 
making or maintaining any LIBOR Loan or of issuing or maintaining any Letter of 
Credit or purchasing or maintaining a participation therein or to reduce the 
amount of any sum received or receivable by such Lender or the Swingline Bank or 
the Issuing Bank hereunder in respect thereof (whether of principal, interest or 
otherwise) by an amount deemed by such Lender or the Swingline Bank or the 
Issuing Bank to be material, then the Borrower shall pay to such Lender or the 
Swingline Bank or the Issuing Bank, as the case may be, upon demand such 
additional amount or amounts as will compensate such Lender or the Swingline 
Bank or the Issuing Bank, as the case may be, for such additional costs incurred 
or reduction suffered. There shall be no duplication of payments in respect of 
Indemnified Taxes and Other Taxes required to be made by this Section and by 
Section 4.5. 
(b) 
(c)  If any Lender or the Swingline Bank or the Issuing Bank shall have 
determined that the adoption after the date hereof of any law, rule, regulation, 
agreement or guideline regarding capital adequacy or any change after the date 
hereof in any law, rule, regulation, agreement or guideline regarding capital 
adequacy (whether or not such law, rule, regulation, agreement or guideline has 
been adopted) or in the interpretation or administration thereof by any 
Governmental Authority charged with the interpretation or administration 
thereof, or compliance by any Lender (or any lending office of such Lender) or 
the Swingline Bank or the Issuing Bank or any Lender's or the Swingline Bank's 
or the Issuing Bank's holding company with any request or directive regarding 
capital adequacy (whether or not having the force of law) of any Governmental 
Authority has or would have the effect of reducing the rate of return on such 
Lender's or the Swingline Bank's or the Issuing Bank's capital or on the capital 
of such Lender's or the Swingline Bank's or the Issuing Bank's holding company, 
if any, as a consequence of this Agreement or the Loans made or 
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participation in Letters of Credit purchased by such Lender pursuant hereto or 
the Letters of Credit issued by the Swingline Bank or the Issuing Bank pursuant 
hereto to a level below that which such Lender or the Swingline Bank or the 
Issuing Bank or such Lender's or the Swingline Bank's or the Issuing Bank's 
holding company could have achieved but for such applicability, adoption, change 
or compliance (taking into consideration such Lender's or the Swingline Bank's 
or the Issuing Bank's policies and the policies of such Lender's or the 
Swingline Bank's or the Issuing Bank's holding company with respect to capital 
adequacy) by an amount deemed by such Lender or the Swingline Bank or the 
Issuing Bank to be material, then from time to time the Borrower shall pay to 
such Lender or the Swingline Bank or the Issuing Bank, as the case may be, such 
additional amount or amounts as will compensate such Lender or the Swingline 
Bank or the Issuing Bank or such Lender's or the Swingline Bank's or the Issuing 
Bank's holding company for any such reduction suffered. 
(d) 
(e)  A certificate of a Lender or the Swingline Bank or the Issuing Bank setting 
forth the amount or amounts necessary to compensate such Lender or the Swingline 
Bank or the Issuing Bank or its holding company, as applicable, as specified in 
paragraph (a) or (b) above shall be delivered to the Borrower and shall (if the 
determination of such amount or amounts is made on a reasonable and 
nondiscriminatory basis) be conclusive absent manifest error. The Borrower shall 
pay such Lender or the Swingline Bank or the Issuing Bank the amount shown as 
due on any such certificate delivered by it within 10 days after its receipt of 
the same. 
(f) 
 
(g)  Failure or delay on the part of any Lender or the Swingline Bank or the 
Issuing Bank to demand compensation for any increased costs or reduction in 
amounts received or receivable or reduction in return on capital shall not 
constitute a waiver of such Lender's or the Swingline Bank or the Issuing Bank's 
right to demand such compensation; provided however that if any Lender or the 
Swingline Bank or the Issuing Bank demands such compensation in respect of a 
period prior to the date on which written demand therefor is given to the 
Borrower, then the obligation of the Borrower to pay such compensation in 
respect of such period shall be limited to the three months prior to the giving 
of such written demand, plus (if such demand results from a retroactive change 
in the aforesaid law, regulation, interpretation, administration, or guideline) 
the period of such retroactivity; however, such limitation shall not apply in 
respect of the period from and after the giving of such written demand. The 
protection of this Section shall be available to each Lender and the Swingline 
Bank or the Issuing Bank regardless of any possible contention of the invalidity 
or inapplicability of the law, rule, regulation, agreement, guideline or other 
change or condition that shall have occurred or been imposed. 
(h) 
(i)  Section Change in Legality . Notwithstanding any other provision of this 
Agreement, if, after the date hereof, any change in any law or regulation or in 
the interpretation thereof by any Governmental Authority charged with the 
administration or interpretation thereof shall make it unlawful for any Lender 
to make or maintain any LIBOR Loan or to give effect to its obligations as 
contemplated hereby with respect to any LIBOR Loan, then, by written notice to 
the Borrower and to the Administrative Agent: 
(j) 
 
               (x)  such Lender may declare that LIBOR Loans will not thereafter 
          (for the duration of such unlawfulness) be made by such Lender 
          hereunder (or be continued for additional Interest Periods) and ABR 
          Loans will not thereafter (for such duration) be converted into LIBOR 
          Loans, whereupon any request for a LIBOR Borrowing (or to convert an 
          ABR Borrowing to a LIBOR Borrowing or to continue a LIBOR Borrowing 
          for an additional Interest Period) shall, as to such Lender only, be 
          deemed a request for an ABR Loan (or a request to continue an ABR Loan 
          as such for an additional Interest Period or to convert a LIBOR Loan 
          into an ABR Loan, as the case may be), unless such declaration shall 
          be subsequently withdrawn; and 
 
               (y)  such Lender may require that all outstanding LIBOR Loans 
          made by it be converted to ABR Loans, in which event all such LIBOR 
          Loans shall be automatically 
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          converted to ABR Loans as of the effective date of such notice as 
          provided in paragraph (b) below. 
 
In the case of any conversion pursuant to the exercise by any Lender of its 
rights under clause (x) or (y) above, all payments and prepayments of principal 
that would otherwise have been applied to repay the LIBOR Loans that would have 
been made by such Lender or the converted LIBOR Loans of such Lender shall 
instead be applied to repay the ABR Loans made by such Lender in lieu of, or 
resulting from the conversion of, such LIBOR Loans. 
 
(a)       For purposes of this Section, a notice to the Borrower by any Lender 
shall be effective as to each LIBOR Loan made by such Lender, if lawful, on the 
last day of the Interest Period then applicable to such LIBOR Loan; in all other 
cases such notice shall be effective on the date of receipt. 
(b) 
1.2. Section Indemnity . The Borrower shall indemnify each Lender against any 
loss or expense that such Lender may sustain or incur as a consequence of (a) 
any event, other than a default by such Lender in the performance of its 
obligations hereunder, which results in (i) such Lender receiving or being 
deemed to receive any amount on account of the principal of any LIBOR Loan prior 
to the end of the Interest Period in effect therefor, (ii) the conversion of any 
LIBOR Loan to an ABR Loan, or the conversion of the Interest Period with respect 
to any LIBOR Loan, in each case other than on the last day of the Interest 
Period in effect therefor, or (iii) any LIBOR Loan to be made by such Lender 
(including any LIBOR Loan to be made pursuant to a conversion or continuation 
under Section 2.11) not being made after notice of such Loan shall have been 
given by the Borrower hereunder (any of the events referred to in this clause 
(a) being called a "Breakage Event") or (b) any default in the making of payment 
or prepayment required to be made hereunder. In the case of any Breakage Event, 
such loss shall include an amount equal to the excess, as reasonably determined 
by such Lender, of (i) its cost of obtaining funds for the LIBOR Loan that is 
the subject of such Breakage Event for the period from the date of such Breakage 
Event to the last day of the Interest Period in effect (or that would have been 
in effect) for such Loan over (ii) the amount of interest likely to be realized 
by such Lender in redeploying the funds released or not utilized by reason of 
such Breakage Event for such period. A certificate of any Lender setting forth 
any amount or amounts which such Lender is entitled to receive pursuant to this 
Section shall be delivered to the Borrower and shall (if the determination of 
such amount or amounts is made on a reasonable and nondiscriminatory basis) be 
conclusive absent manifest error. 
1.3. 
(a)  Section Taxes . Any and all payments by or on account of any obligation of 
the Borrower hereunder shall be made free and clear of and without deduction for 
any Indemnified Taxes or Other Taxes; provided that, if the Borrower shall be 
required to deduct any Indemnified Taxes or Other Taxes from such payments, then 
(i) the sum payable shall be increased as necessary so that after making all 
required deductions (including deductions applicable to additional sums payable 
under this Section) the Administrative Agent, Lender, Swingline Bank or Issuing 
Bank (as the case may be) receives an amount equal to the sum it would have 
received had no such deductions been made, (ii) the Borrower shall make such 
deductions, and (iii) the Borrower shall pay the full amount deducted to the 
relevant Governmental Authority in accordance with applicable law. 
(b) 
(c)       In addition, the Borrower shall pay any Other Taxes to the relevant 
Governmental Authority in accordance with applicable law. 
(d) 
(e)       The Borrower shall indemnify the Administrative Agent, each Lender, 
the Swingline Bank and the Issuing Bank, within 10 days after written demand 
therefor, for the full amount of any Indemnified Taxes or Other Taxes paid by 
the Administrative Agent, such Lender, the Swingline Bank or the Issuing Bank, 
as the case may be, on or with respect to any payment by or on account of any 
obligation of the Borrower hereunder (including Indemnified Taxes or Other Taxes 
imposed or asserted on or attributable to amounts payable under this Section) 
and any penalties, interest and reasonable expenses arising therefrom or 
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with respect thereto, whether or not such Indemnified Taxes or Other Taxes were 
correctly or legally imposed or asserted by the relevant Governmental Authority. 
A certificate as to the amount of such payment or liability delivered to the 
Borrower by a Lender or the Swingline Bank or the Issuing Bank, or by the 
Administrative Agent on its own behalf or on behalf of a Lender or the Swingline 
Bank or the Issuing Bank, shall (if there is a reasonable basis for such payment 
or liability, and if the determination of the amount thereof is made on a 
reasonable basis) be conclusive absent manifest error. 
(f) 
(g)       After payment by the Borrower to the demanding party of the amount 
demanded pursuant to paragraph (c) of this Section, the Borrower shall be 
entitled to commence a legal proceeding against the applicable Governmental 
Authority to recover the Indemnified Taxes or Other Taxes so paid by the 
demanding party; and (after such payment by the Borrower to the demanding party) 
the demanding party shall at the sole expense of the Borrower cooperate with the 
Borrower as the Borrower may reasonably request with respect to such legal 
proceeding, provided that the demanding party may do so without material risk of 
liability. 
(h) 
(i)       As soon as practicable after any payment of Indemnified Taxes or Other 
Taxes by the Borrower to a Governmental Authority, the Borrower shall deliver to 
the Administrative Agent written evidence thereof reasonably satisfactory to the 
Administrative Agent. 
(j) 
(k)       If the Borrower and a Lender (or, in the case of a payment to the 
Administrative Agent, the Administrative Agent) (each, a "Payee") agree that an 
Indemnified Tax paid by the Borrower under Section 4.5 (a) or (c) with respect 
to payments by the Borrower to such Payee should more likely than not be 
refunded by the relevant Governmental Authority under applicable law, such Payee 
shall, at the expense of the Borrower, cooperate with the Borrower as the 
Borrower may reasonably request in order to seek a refund of such Indemnified 
Tax, including the execution by the Payee of such documents acceptable to the 
Payee as the Borrower may reasonably request, provided that the Payee may do so 
without material risk of liability, and provided further that no Payee shall be 
required to disclose its tax returns or other information it deems confidential. 
If any Payee receives a refund of any Indemnified Tax paid by the Borrower under 
Section 4.5 (a) or (c) (including a refund received pursuant to the preceding 
sentence) the amount of such refund received (together with any interest 
received from the Governmental Authority thereon) shall be paid to the Borrower. 
(l) 
1.4. Section Duty to Mitigate . If (i) any Lender or the Swingline Bank or the 
Issuing Bank shall request compensation under Section 4.2, (ii) any Lender or 
the Swingline Bank or the Issuing Bank delivers a notice described in Section 
4.3 or (iii) the Borrower is required to pay any additional amount to any Lender 
or the Swingline Bank or the Issuing Bank or any Governmental Authority on 
account of any Lender or the Swingline Bank or the Issuing Bank, pursuant to 
Section 4.5, then such Lender or the Swingline Bank or the Issuing Bank shall 
use reasonable efforts (which shall not require such Lender or the Swingline 
Bank or the Issuing Bank to incur an unreimbursed loss or unreimbursed cost or 
expense or otherwise take any action inconsistent with its internal policies or 
legal or regulatory restrictions or suffer any disadvantage or burden deemed by 
it to be significant) (x) to file any certificate or document reasonably 
requested in writing by the Borrower or (y) to assign its rights and delegate 
and transfer its obligations hereunder to another of its offices, branches or 
affiliates, if such filing or assignment would reduce its claims for 
compensation under Section 4.2 or enable it to withdraw its notice pursuant to 
Section 4.3 or would reduce amounts payable pursuant to Section 4.5, as the case 
may be, in the future. The Borrower hereby agrees to pay all reasonable costs 
and expenses incurred by any Lender or the Swingline Bank or the Issuing Bank in 
connection with any such filing or assignment, delegation and transfer. 
1.5. 
1.6. Section Replacement of Lenders . If any Lender or the Swingline Bank or the 
Issuing Bank requests compensation under Section 4.2, or if any Lender or the 
Swingline Bank or the Issuing Bank delivers a notice described in Section 4.3, 
or if the Borrower is required to pay any additional amount to any Lender, the 
Swingline Bank, the Issuing Bank or any Governmental Authority for the account 
of any Lender or the 
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Swingline Bank or the Issuing Bank pursuant to Section 4.5, or if any Lender 
defaults in its obligation to fund Loans hereunder, then the Borrower may, at 
its sole expense and effort, upon notice to such Lender or the Swingline Bank or 
the Issuing Bank, as the case may be, and the Administrative Agent, require such 
Lender or the Swingline Bank or the Issuing Bank, as the case may be, to assign 
and delegate, without recourse (in accordance with and subject to the 
restrictions contained in Section 12.5, which restrictions shall apply, for 
purposes of this Section, with reference to the Swingline Bank and the Issuing 
Bank, as well as with reference to a Lender) all its interests, rights and 
obligations under this Agreement to an assignee that shall assume such 
obligations (which assignee may be another Lender, if a Lender accepts such 
assignment); provided that (i) if the assignee is not a Lender, the Borrower 
shall have received the prior written consent of the Administrative Agent (and 
the Swingline Bank and the Issuing Bank), which consent shall not be 
unreasonably withheld; and (ii) such Lender or the Swingline Bank or the Issuing 
Bank shall have received payment of an amount equal to the outstanding principal 
of its Loans and unreimbursed L/C Disbursements and funded participations in 
Swingline Loans, accrued interest thereon and accrued fees and other amounts 
(including amounts under Sections 4.2, 4.3 and 4.5) payable to it hereunder from 
the assignee or the Borrower, and (if the Issuing Bank is to be the assignor) 
the Issuing Bank shall have received from the Borrower cash collateral or other 
collateral satisfactory to it, having a value not less than the aggregate 
undrawn face amount of all Letters of Credit that are outstanding, as security 
for the reimbursement obligation of the Borrower in respect of such Letters of 
Credit; and (iii) in the case of any such assignment resulting from a claim for 
compensation under Section 4.2 or payments required to be made pursuant to 
Section 4.3 or 4.5, such assignment will result in a reduction in such 
compensation or payments. A Lender, the Swingline Bank or the Issuing Bank (as 
the case may be) shall not be required to make any such assignment and 
delegation if, prior thereto, as a result of a waiver by such Lender, the 
Swingline Bank or the Issuing Bank (as the case may be) or otherwise, the 
circumstances entitling the Borrower to require such assignment and delegation 
cease to apply. The interests, rights and obligations hereunder of a Lender that 
serves as either or both of the Issuing Bank or the Swingline Bank hereunder 
shall include its interests, rights and obligations in all such capacities. 
1.7. 
1.8. 
 
                        2. ARTICLE CONDITIONS PRECEDENT. 
 
1.1. Section Documentary Conditions Precedent . The execution and delivery of 
this Agreement by the Lenders, the Administrative Agent, the Swingline Bank and 
the Issuing Bank are subject to the condition precedent that the Administrative 
Agent shall have received on or before the Closing Date each of the following, 
in form and substance satisfactory to the Administrative Agent and its counsel: 
 
(a)  the Syndicated Loan Notes and the Swingline Loan Note, duly executed by the 
Borrower; 
(b) 
(c)  the Authorization Letter, duly executed by the Borrower; 
(d) 
(e)  the Initial Guarantee, duly executed by the Initial Guarantors; 
(f) 
(g)  a certificate of the Secretary or Assistant Secretary of the Borrower, 
dated the Closing Date, attesting to (i) all corporate action taken by the 
Borrower, including resolutions of its Board of Directors authorizing the 
execution, delivery and performance of the Facility Documents to which it is a 
party and each other document to be delivered pursuant to this Agreement, and 
(ii) a true and complete copy of its certificate of incorporation and by-laws; 
(h) 
(i)  a certificate of the Secretary or Assistant Secretary of the Borrower, 
dated the Closing Date, certifying the names and true signatures of the officers 
of the Borrower authorized to sign the Facility Documents to which it is a party 
and the other documents to be delivered by the Borrower under this Agreement; 
(j) 
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(k)  a certificate of a duly authorized officer of the Borrower, dated the 
Closing Date, stating that the representations and warranties in Article 6 are 
true and correct on such date as though made on and as of such date and that no 
event has occurred and is continuing which constitutes a Default or Event of 
Default; 
(l) 
(m)  a certificate of the Secretary or Assistant Secretary of each Initial 
Guarantor dated the Closing Date, attesting to (i) all corporate action taken by 
such Initial Guarantor, including resolutions of its Board of Directors 
authorizing the execution, delivery and performance of the Initial Guarantee, 
and (ii) a true and complete copy of its certificate of incorporation and 
by-laws; 
(n) 
(o)  a certificate of the Secretary or Assistant Secretary of each 
Initial Guarantor, dated the Closing Date, certifying the names and true 
signatures of the officers of such Initial Guarantor authorized to sign the 
Initial Guarantee; 
(p) 
(q)  a favorable opinion of counsel for the Borrower and the Initial Guarantors, 
dated the Closing Date, in substantially the form of Exhibit C and as to such 
other matters as the Administrative Agent, any Lender, the Swingline Bank or the 
Issuing Bank may reasonably request; 
(r) 
(s)  evidence that the Borrower has paid in full (i) all amounts owing under the 
Amended and Restated Credit Agreement referred to in Section 2.15; (ii) all Fees 
that are required to be paid on the Closing Date, and all other fees that are 
required (pursuant to the Fee Letter) to be paid to the Lenders on the Closing 
Date; and (iii) the reasonable fee and disbursements of counsel for the 
Administrative Agent in connection with the closing of the transaction 
contemplated by this Agreement; and 
(t) 
(u)  such other approvals, opinions, certificates and documents as the 
Administrative Agent may reasonably request. 
(v) 
1.2. Section Additional Conditions Precedent . The obligations of the Lenders to 
make any Syndicated Loans pursuant to a Borrowing which increases the amount of 
Syndicated Loans outstanding hereunder (including the initial Borrowing), and of 
the Swingline Bank to make any Swingline Loan (including the initial Borrowing), 
and of the Issuing Bank to issue any Letter of Credit hereunder, shall be 
subject to the further conditions precedent that on the date of such Syndicated 
Loans or such Swingline Loan or such Letter of Credit (as the case may be, the 
following statements shall be true: 
1.3. 
 
     (a) the representations and warranties contained in Article 6 are true and 
     correct on and as of the date of such Syndicated Loans or such Swingline 
     Loan or such Letter of Credit (as the case may be) as though made on and as 
     of such date, except (i) for any change since the date hereof with respect 
     to Section 6.9 or Section 6.10 provided that (x) the Borrower shall have 
     given specific notice of such change to the Lenders and the Administrative 
     Agent in writing and (y) such change does not constitute a Default or Event 
     of Default; and (ii) that any representation and warranty contained in 
     Section 6.5 that specifically relates to January 31, 2000 shall be true and 
     correct as of January 31, 2000; and 
 
     (a) no Default or Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, or would 
     result from such Syndicated Loans or such Swingline Loans or such Letter of 
     Credit. 
 
1.1. Section Deemed Representations . Each Borrowing Request and each acceptance 
by the Borrower of the proceeds of such borrowing, and each request by the 
Borrower for the issuance of a Letter of Credit and each issuance of a Letter of 
Credit, shall constitute a representation and warranty by the Borrower that the 
statements contained in Section 5.2 are true and correct both on the date of 
such Borrowing Request or request for a Letter of Credit and, unless the 
Borrower otherwise notifies the Administrative Agent prior to such Borrowing or 
issuance, as of the date of such Borrowing or issuance. 
1.2. 
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1.3. 
 
                   2. ARTICLE REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES. 
 
The Borrower hereby represents and warrants that: 
 
1.1. Section Incorporation, Good Standing and Due Qualification . Each of the 
Borrower and its Subsidiaries is duly incorporated, validly existing and in good 
standing under the laws of the jurisdiction of its incorporation, has the 
corporate power and authority to own its assets and to transact the business in 
which it is now engaged, and is duly qualified as a foreign corporation and in 
good standing under the laws of each other jurisdiction in which the failure to 
be so qualified would have a material adverse effect on the business, financial 
condition or operations of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries taken as a whole. 
1.2. 
1.3. Section Corporate Power and Authority; No Conflicts . The execution, 
delivery and performance by each of the Borrower and each Guarantor of the 
Facility Documents to which it is a party are within its corporate power and 
authority and have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate action and do 
not and will not: (a) require any consent or approval of its stockholders; (b) 
contravene its charter or by-laws; (c) violate any provision of, or require any 
filing, registration, consent or approval under, any law, rule, regulation 
(including, without limitation, Regulation U), order, writ, judgment, 
injunction, decree, determination or award presently in effect having 
applicability to the Borrower or any Subsidiaries or Affiliates of the Borrower; 
(d) result in a breach of or constitute a default or require any consent under 
any indenture or loan or credit agreement or any other agreement, lease or 
instrument to which the Borrower or such Guarantor is a party or by which it or 
its properties may be bound or affected; (e) result in, or require, the creation 
or imposition of any Lien upon or with respect to any of the properties now 
owned or hereafter acquired by the Borrower or such Guarantor; or (f) cause the 
Borrower (or any Subsidiary or Affiliate of the Borrower, as the case may be) to 
be in default under any such law, rule, regulation, order, writ, judgment, 
injunction, decree, determination or award or any such indenture, agreement, 
lease or instrument. 
1.4. 
1.5. Section Legally Enforceable Agreements . Each Facility Document to which 
the Borrower or a Guarantor is a party is a legal, valid and binding obligation 
of the Borrower or such Guarantor (as the case may be) enforceable against the 
Borrower or such Guarantor (as the case may be) in accordance with its terms, 
except to the extent that such enforcement may be limited by applicable 
bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium and other similar laws 
affecting creditors' rights generally and by general principles of equity 
(regardless of whether enforcement is sought in equity or at law). 
1.6. 
1.7. Section Litigation . There are no actions, suits or proceedings pending or, 
to the knowledge of the Borrower, threatened, against or affecting the Borrower 
or any of its Subsidiaries before any court, governmental agency or arbitrator, 
as to which there is a reasonable possibility of determination adverse to the 
Borrower or such Subsidiary and which (if determined adversely to the Borrower 
or such Subsidiary) would, in any one case or in the aggregate, materially 
adversely affect the financial condition, operations or business of the Borrower 
and its Subsidiaries taken as a whole or the ability of the Borrower or any 
Guarantor to perform its obligations under the Facility Documents to which it is 
a party. 
1.8. 
1.9. Section Financial Statements . The consolidated and consolidating balance 
sheet of the Borrower and its Consolidated Subsidiaries as at January 31, 2000, 
and the related consolidated and consolidating income statement and statements 
of cash flows and changes in stockholders' equity of the Borrower and its 
Consolidated Subsidiaries for the fiscal year then ended, and the accompanying 
footnotes, together with the accompanying opinion of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, 
independent certified public accountants, copies of which have been furnished to 
each of the Lenders, are complete and correct in all material respects and 
fairly present the financial condition of the Borrower and its Consolidated 
Subsidiaries as at such date and the results of the operations of the Borrower 
and its Consolidated Subsidiaries for the period covered by such statements, all 
in accordance with GAAP consistently applied. There are no liabilities of the 
Borrower or any of its Consolidated Subsidiaries, fixed or contingent, which are 
material in relation to the consolidated 
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financial condition of the Borrower but are not reflected in the financial 
statements or in the notes thereto, other than liabilities arising in the 
ordinary course of business since January 31, 2000. No information, exhibit or 
report furnished by the Borrower to the Administrative Agent or any of the 
Lenders in connection with the negotiation of this Agreement, when read together 
with the financial statements referred to in this Section 6.5, contained any 
material misstatement of fact or omitted to state a material fact or any fact 
necessary to make the statements contained therein not materially misleading. 
Since January 31, 2000, there has been no material adverse change in the 
condition (financial or otherwise), business or operations of the Borrower and 
the Consolidated Subsidiaries taken as a whole. 
1.10. 
1.11. Section Ownership and Liens . Each of the Borrower and its Consolidated 
Subsidiaries has title to, or valid leasehold interests in, all of its 
properties and assets, real and personal, including the properties and assets, 
and leasehold interests reflected in the financial statements referred to in 
Section 6.5 (other than any properties or assets disposed of in the ordinary 
course of business, and other than properties and assets that are not material 
to the Borrower and its Subsidiaries taken as a whole and other than any other 
sales that are permitted by this Agreement), and none of the properties and 
assets owned by the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries and none of its 
leasehold interests is subject to any Lien, except as disclosed in such 
financial statements or as may be permitted hereunder. 
1.12. 
1.13. Section Taxes . Each of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries has filed all 
tax returns (foreign, federal, state and local) required to be filed and has 
paid all taxes, assessments and governmental charges and levies shown thereon to 
be due, including interest and penalties, except for such taxes and other 
amounts as are being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings for 
which adequate reserves have been established in accordance with GAAP. 
1.14. 
(a)   Section ERISA . No accumulated funding deficiency (as defined in Section 
302 of ERISA and Section 412 of the Code), whether or not waived, exists with 
respect to any Plan (other than a Multiemployer Plan). No liability to the PBGC 
has been or is expected by the Borrower or any ERISA Affiliate to be incurred 
with respect to any Plan (other than a Multiemployer Plan) by the Borrower, any 
Subsidiary or any ERISA Affiliate which is or would be materially adverse to the 
business, financial condition or operations of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries 
taken as a whole. Neither the Borrower, nor any Subsidiary nor any ERISA 
Affiliate has incurred or presently expects to incur any withdrawal liability 
under Title IV of ERISA with respect to any Multiemployer Plan which is or would 
be materially adverse to the business, financial condition or operations of the 
Borrower and its Subsidiaries taken as a whole. 
(b) 
(c)   Neither the Borrower nor any of its Subsidiaries has breached the 
fiduciary rules of ERISA or engaged in any prohibited transaction in connection 
with which the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries or ERISA Affiliates could be 
subjected to (in the case of any such breach) a suit for damages or (in the case 
of any such prohibited transactions) with a civil penalty assessed under Section 
502(i) of ERISA or a tax imposed by Section 4975 of the Code, which suit, 
penalty or tax, in any case, would be materially adverse to the business, 
financial condition or operations of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries taken as 
a whole. 
(d) 
(e)   There has been no reportable event (within the meaning of Section 4043(b) 
of ERISA) or any other event or condition with respect to any Plan (other than a 
Multiemployer Plan) which presents a risk of termination of any such Plan by the 
PBGC under circumstances which in any case could result in liability which would 
be materially adverse to the business, financial condition or operations of the 
Borrower and its Subsidiaries taken as a whole. 
(f) 
(g)   The present value of all vested accrued benefits under all Plans (other 
than Multiemployer Plans), determined as of the end of the Borrower's most 
recently ended fiscal year on the basis of reasonable actuarial assumptions, did 
not exceed the current value of the assets of such Plans allocable to such 
vested accrued benefits. The terms "present value", "current value", and 
"accrued benefit"have the meanings specified in Section 3 of ERISA. 
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(h) 
(i)   Neither the Borrower nor any of its Subsidiaries is or has ever been 
obligated to contribute to any Multiemployer Plan. 
(j) 
1.15. Section Subsidiaries and Ownership of Stock . Schedule III is a complete 
and accurate list of the Subsidiaries of the Borrower, showing the jurisdiction 
of incorporation or organization of each Subsidiary and showing the percentage 
of the Borrower's ownership of the outstanding stock or other interest of each 
such Subsidiary. All of the outstanding capital stock or other interest of each 
such Subsidiary has been validly issued, is fully paid and nonassessable and is 
owned by the Borrower free and clear of all Liens. 
 
1.1.  Section Credit Arrangements . Schedule IV is a complete and correct list 
of all credit agreements, indentures, purchase agreements, guaranties, Capital 
Leases and other investments, agreements and arrangements presently in effect 
providing for or relating to extensions of credit (including agreements and 
arrangements for the issuance of letters of credit or for acceptance financing 
or for credit lines extended for the purchase of foreign-exchange contracts) in 
respect of which the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries is in any manner 
directly or contingently obligated to pay money (excluding trade payables in the 
ordinary course of business, and excluding other extensions of credit that do 
not exceed $250,000 in the aggregate of all such other extensions of credit), 
including all modifications thereof and amendments thereto; and the maximum 
principal or face amounts of the credit in question, outstanding and which can 
be outstanding, are correctly stated, and all Liens (if any) of any nature given 
or agreed to be given as security therefor are correctly described or indicated 
in such Schedule. 
1.2. 
1.3.  Section Operation of Business . Each of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries 
possesses all licenses, permits, franchises, patents, copyrights, trademarks and 
trade names, or rights thereto, necessary in any material respect to conduct the 
business substantially as now conducted of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries 
taken as a whole, and neither the Borrower nor any of its Subsidiaries is in 
violation of any valid rights of others with respect to any of the foregoing. 
1.4. 
1.5.  Section Hazardous Materials . The Borrower and each of its Subsidiaries 
have obtained all permits, licenses and other authorizations which are required 
under all Environmental Laws, except to the extent failure to have any such 
permit, license or authorization would not have a material adverse effect on the 
consolidated financial condition, operations or business of the Borrower and its 
Consolidated Subsidiaries taken as a whole. The Borrower and each of its 
Subsidiaries are in compliance with the terms and conditions of all such 
permits, licenses and authorizations, and are also in compliance with all other 
limitations, restrictions, conditions, standards, prohibitions, requirements, 
obligations schedules and timetables contained in any applicable Environmental 
Law or in any regulation, code, plan, order, decree, judgment, injunction, 
notice or demand letter issued, entered, promulgated or approved thereunder, 
except to the extent failure to comply would not have a material adverse effect 
on the consolidated financial condition, operations or business of the Borrower 
and its Consolidated Subsidiaries taken as a whole. 
1.6. 
1.7.  In addition, except as set forth in Schedule V hereto: 
1.8. 
(a)  No notice, notification, demand, request for information, citation, summons 
or order has been issued, no complaint has been filed, no penalty has been 
assessed and, to the best of the Borrower's knowledge, no investigation or 
review is pending or threatened by any governmental or other entity with respect 
to any alleged failure by the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries to have any 
permit, license or authorization required under the Environmental Laws in 
connection with the conduct of the business of the Borrower or any of its 
Subsidiaries or with respect to any generation, treatment, storage, recycling, 
transportation, release or disposal, or any release as defined in 42 U.S.C. 
Section 9601(22) ("Release"), of any substance regulated under Environmental 
Laws ("Hazardous Materials") generated by the Borrower or any of its 
Subsidiaries. 
(b) 
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(c)  Neither the Borrower nor any of its Subsidiaries has handled any Hazardous 
Material, other than as a generator, on any property now or previously owned or 
leased by the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries to an extent that it has, or 
is reasonably expected to have, a material adverse effect on the consolidated 
financial condition, operations or business taken as a whole of the Borrower and 
its Consolidated Subsidiaries; and 
(d) 
 
     (i)  no polychlorinated biphenyl is present at any property now or owned or 
     leased by the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries; 
 
     (i)  no asbestos is present at any property now owned or leased by the 
     Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries; 
 
     (i)  there are no underground storage tanks for Hazardous Materials, active 
     or abandoned, at any property now owned or leased by the Borrower or any of 
     its Subsidiaries; 
 
to the extent that any of the same has, or is reasonably expected to have, a 
material adverse effect on the consolidated financial condition, operations or 
business taken as a whole of the Borrower and its Consolidated Subsidiaries. No 
Hazardous Materials have been Released, in a reportable quantity, where such a 
quantity has been established by statute, ordinance, rule, regulation or order, 
at, on or under any property now owned by the Borrower or any of its 
Subsidiaries. 
 
(a)  Neither the Borrower nor any of its Subsidiaries has transported or 
arranged for the transportation of any Hazardous Material to any location which 
is listed on the National Priorities List under the Comprehensive Environmental 
Response, Compensation and Liability Act of 1980, as amended ("CERCLA"), listed 
for possible inclusion on the National Priorities List by the Environmental 
Protection Agency in the Comprehensive Environmental Response and Liability 
Information System as provided by 40 C.F.R. Section 300.5 ("CERCLIS") or on any 
similar state list or which is the subject of federal, state or local 
enforcement actions or other investigations which are reasonably expected to 
lead to claims against the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries for clean-up 
costs, remedial work, damages to natural resources or for personal injury 
claims, including, but not limited to, claims under CERCLA that would be 
materially adverse to the business, financial condition or operations of the 
Borrower and its Consolidated Subsidiaries taken as a whole. 
(b) 
(c)  No Hazardous Material generated by the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries 
has been recycled, treated, stored, disposed of or Released by the Borrower or 
any of its Subsidiaries at any location other than those listed in Schedule III 
hereto. 
(d) 
(e)  No oral or written notification of a Release of a Hazardous material has 
been filed by or on behalf of the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries and no 
property now owned or leased by the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries is 
listed or proposed for listing on the National Priorities List promulgated 
pursuant to CERCLA, on CERCLIS or on any similar state list of sites requiring 
investigation or clean-up. 
(f) 
(g)  There are no Liens arising under or pursuant to any Environmental laws 
which have been imposed on any of the real property or properties owned or 
leased by the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries, and (to the best of the 
Borrower's knowledge) no government actions have been taken or are in process 
which could subject any of such properties to such Liens and neither the 
Borrower nor any of its Subsidiaries would be required to place any notice or 
restriction relating to the presence of Hazardous Materials at any property 
owned by it in any deed to such property. 
(h) 
(i)  There have been no environmental investigations, studies, audits, test, 
reviews or other analyses conducted by or which are in the possession of the 
Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries in relation to any property or facility now 
or previously owned or leased by the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries which 
have 
 
                                       35 
 
 



   41 
 
 
not been made available to the Lenders, except to the extent prepared to satisfy 
routine reporting obligations under the Environmental Laws. 
(j) 
1.2.  Section No Default on Outstanding Judgments or Orders . Each of the 
Borrower and its Subsidiaries has satisfied all judgments and neither the 
Borrower nor any of its Subsidiaries is in default with respect to any judgment, 
writ, injunction, decree, rule or regulation of any court, arbitrator or 
federal, state, municipal or other governmental authority, commission, board, 
bureau, agency or instrumentality, domestic or foreign, except where any such 
defaults in the aggregate would not result in a material adverse effect on the 
business, financial condition or operations of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries 
taken as a whole. 
1.3. 
1.4.  Section No Defaults on Other Agreements . Neither the Borrower nor any of 
its Subsidiaries is subject to any charter or corporate restriction which is 
reasonably expected to have a material adverse effect on the business, 
properties, assets, operations or conditions, financial or otherwise, of the 
Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries, or the ability of the Borrower or any 
Guarantor to carry out its obligations under the Facility Documents to which it 
is a party. Neither the Borrower nor any of its Subsidiaries is a party to any 
indenture, loan or credit agreement or any lease or other agreement or 
instrument which is reasonably expected to have a material adverse effect on the 
ability of the Borrower or any Guarantor to carry out its obligations under the 
Facility Documents to which it is a party. The Borrower is not in default in any 
respect under any of the Prudential Existing Notes or under either note 
agreement pursuant to which they were issued. Neither the Borrower nor any of 
its Subsidiaries is in default in any material respect under any other agreement 
or instrument to which the Borrower or such Subsidiary is a party, except where 
any such defaults in the aggregate would not result in a material adverse affect 
on the business, financial condition or operations of the Borrower and its 
Subsidiaries taken as a whole. 
1.5. 
1.6.  Section Labor Disputes and Acts of God . Neither the business nor the 
properties of the Borrower or of any of its Subsidiaries are affected by any 
fire, explosion, accident, strike, lockout or other labor dispute, drought, 
storm, hail, earthquake, embargo, act of God or of the public enemy or other 
casualty (whether or not covered by insurance), materially and adversely 
affecting the business, financial condition or operations of the Borrower and 
its Subsidiaries taken as a whole. 
1.7. 
 
1.8.  Section Governmental Regulation . Neither the Borrower nor any of its 
Subsidiaries is subject to regulation under the Public Utility Holding Company 
Act of 1935, the Investment Company Act of 1940, the Interstate Commerce Act, 
the Federal Power Act or any statute or regulation limiting its ability to incur 
indebtedness for money borrowed or to obtain letters of credit as contemplated 
hereby. 
1.9. 
1.10. Section Partnerships . Neither the Borrower nor any of its Subsidiaries is 
a partner in any partnership. 
1.11. 
1.12. Section No Forfeiture . No Forfeiture Proceeding is pending. 
1.13. 
1.14. Section Solvency . 
1.15. 
(a)   The present fair saleable value of the assets of the Borrower after giving 
effect to all the transactions contemplated by the Facility Documents and the 
funding of all Revolving Credit Commitments hereunder exceeds the amount that 
will be required to be paid on or in respect of the existing debts and other 
liabilities (including contingent liabilities) of the Borrower and its 
Subsidiaries as they mature. 
(a)   The property of the Borrower does not constitute unreasonably small 
capital for the Borrower to carry out its business as now conducted and as 
presently proposed to be conducted including the capital needs of the Borrower. 
(b) 
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(c)   The Borrower does not intend to, nor does it believe that it will, incur 
debts beyond its ability to pay such debts as they mature (taking into account 
the timing and amounts of cash to be received by the Borrower, and of amounts to 
be payable on or in respect of debt of the Borrower). The cash available to the 
Borrower after taking into account all other anticipated uses of the cash of the 
Borrower, is anticipated to be sufficient to pay all such amounts on or in 
respect of debt of the Borrower when such amounts are required to be paid. 
(d) 
(e)   The Borrower does not believe that final judgments against it in actions 
for money damages will be rendered at a time when, or in an amount such that, 
the Borrower will be unable to satisfy any such judgments promptly in accordance 
with their terms (taking into account the maximum reasonable amount of such 
judgments in any such actions and the earliest reasonable time at which such 
judgments might be rendered). The cash available to the Borrower after taking 
into account all other anticipated uses of the cash of the Borrower (including 
the payments on or in respect of debt referred to in paragraph (c) of this 
Section 6.19), is anticipated to be sufficient to pay all such judgments 
promptly in accordance with their terms. 
(f) 
(g) 
 
                        2. ARTICLE AFFIRMATIVE COVENANTS. 
 
      So long as any of the Notes shall remain unpaid, or any Letter of Credit 
shall remain outstanding, or any Lender shall have any Revolving Credit 
Commitment under this Agreement, the Borrower shall: 
 
1.1.  Section Maintenance of Existence . Preserve and maintain (except as 
otherwise permitted by Section 8.7 or Section 8.8 or Section 8.10), and cause 
each of its Subsidiaries (other than Inactive Subsidiaries) to preserve and 
maintain (except as otherwise permitted by Section 8.7 or Section 8.8 or Section 
8.10), its corporate existence and good standing in the jurisdiction of its 
incorporation, and qualify and remain qualified, and cause each of its 
Subsidiaries to qualify and remain qualified, as a foreign corporation in each 
jurisdiction in which the failure to be so qualified would have a material 
adverse effect on the business, financial condition or operations of the 
Borrower and its Subsidiaries taken as a whole. 
1.2. 
1.3.  Section Conduct of Business . Continue, and cause each of its Subsidiaries 
(other than Inactive Subsidiaries) to continue, to engage primarily in the Core 
Business. 
1.4. 
1.5.  Section Maintenance of Properties . Maintain, keep and preserve, and cause 
each of its Subsidiaries to maintain, keep and preserve, all of the properties 
(tangible and intangible) necessary or useful in the proper conduct of the 
business of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries in good working order and 
condition (ordinary wear and tear excepted), except to the extent that such 
properties are not material to the business, financial condition or operations 
of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries taken as a whole. 
1.6. 
1.7.  Section Maintenance of Records . Keep, and cause each of its Subsidiaries 
to keep, adequate records and books of account, in which complete entries will 
be made in compliance with then-current guidelines as to generally accepted 
accounting principles, reflecting all financial transactions of the Borrower and 
its Subsidiaries. 
1.8. 
1.9.  Section Maintenance of Insurance . Maintain, and cause each of its 
Subsidiaries to maintain, insurance with financially sound and reputable 
insurance companies or associations in such amounts and covering such risks as 
are usually carried by companies engaged in the same or a similar business and 
similarly situated, which insurance may provide for reasonable deductibility 
from coverage thereof. 
1.10. 
(a)   Section Compliance with Laws; Payment of Taxes . Comply, and cause each of 
its Subsidiaries to comply, with all applicable laws, rules, regulations and 
orders, the noncompliance with which would materially adversely affect the 
business, financial condition or operations of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries 
taken as a whole; and 
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(a)  Pay or discharge, and cause each of its Subsidiaries to pay or discharge, 
before the same become delinquent all taxes, assessments and governmental 
charges imposed upon the Borrower or any Subsidiary or any of their respective 
properties; provided however that the Borrower shall not be required to pay or 
discharge or cause to be paid or discharged, any such tax, assessment or 
governmental charge the applicability or validity of which is being contested by 
the Borrower or such Subsidiary in good faith by appropriate proceedings and for 
which adequate reserves have been established in accordance with GAAP. 
(b) 
1.2. Section Right of Inspection . At any reasonable time and from time to time, 
permit the Administrative Agent or any Lender or any agent or representative 
thereof, to examine and make copies and abstracts from the records and books of 
account of, and visit the properties of, the Borrower and any of its 
Subsidiaries on at least one day's advance notice, and to discuss the affairs, 
finances and accounts of the Borrower and any such Subsidiary with any of their 
respective officers and directors and the Borrower's independent accountants. 
1.3. 
1.4. Section Reporting Requirements . Furnish directly to each of the Lenders: 
1.5. 
(a)  as soon as available and in any event within 120 days after the end of each 
fiscal year of the Borrower, a consolidated and consolidating balance sheet of 
the Borrower and its Consolidated Subsidiaries as of the end of such fiscal year 
and a consolidated and consolidating income statement and statements of cash 
flows and changes in stockholders' equity of the Borrower and its Consolidated 
Subsidiaries for such fiscal year, all in reasonable detail and stating in 
comparative form the respective consolidated and consolidating figures for the 
corresponding date and period in the prior fiscal year and all prepared in 
accordance with GAAP and as to the consolidated statements audited and 
accompanied by an opinion thereon acceptable to the Administrative Agent and 
each of the Lenders by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP or other independent 
accountants of national standing selected by the Borrower and acceptable to the 
Required Lenders; 
(b) 
(c)  as soon as available and in any event within 75 days after the end of each 
of the first three quarters of each fiscal year of the Borrower, a consolidated 
and consolidating balance sheet of the Borrower and its Consolidated 
Subsidiaries as of the end of such quarter and a consolidated and consolidating 
income statement and statements of cash flows and changes in stockholders' 
equity, of the Borrower and its Consolidated Subsidiaries for the period 
commencing at the end of the previous fiscal year and ending with the end of 
such quarter, all in reasonable detail and stating in comparative form the 
respective consolidated and consolidating figures for the corresponding date and 
period in the previous fiscal year and all prepared in accordance with GAAP and 
certified by the chief financial officer of the Borrower (subject to year-end 
adjustments); 
(d) 
(e)  promptly upon receipt thereof, copies of any reports submitted to the 
Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries by independent certified public accountants 
in connection with examination of the financial statements of the Borrower or 
any such Subsidiary made by such accountants; 
(f) 
(g)  simultaneously with the delivery of the financial statements referred to 
above, a certificate of the chief financial officer of the Borrower (i) 
certifying that to the best of his knowledge no Default or Event of Default has 
occurred and is continuing or, if a Default or Event of Default has occurred and 
is continuing, a statement as to the nature thereof and the action which is 
proposed to be taken with respect thereto, and (ii) with computations 
demonstrating compliance with the covenants contained in Article 9 and with the 
financial covenants contained in the agreements between the Borrower and The 
Prudential Insurance Company of America pursuant to which the Prudential 
Existing Notes and (if applicable) the Prudential Shelf Notes have been issued; 
(h) 
(i)  simultaneously with the delivery of the annual financial statements 
referred to in Section 7.8(a), a certificate of the independent public 
accountants who audited such statements to the effect that, in making 
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the examination necessary for the audit of such statements, they have obtained 
no knowledge of any condition or event which constitutes a Default or Event of 
Default, or if such accountants shall have obtained knowledge of any such 
condition or event, specifying in such certificate each such condition or event 
of which they have knowledge and the nature and status thereof; 
(j) 
(k)  promptly after the commencement thereof, notice of all actions, suits, and 
proceedings before any court or governmental department, commission, board, 
bureau, agency or instrumentality, domestic or foreign, affecting the Borrower 
or any of its Subsidiaries which, if determined adversely to the Borrower or 
such Subsidiary, would reasonably be expected to have a material adverse effect 
on the financial condition, business, or operations of the Borrower and its 
Subsidiaries taken as a whole; 
(l) 
(m)  as soon as possible and in any event within 10 days after the occurrence of 
each Default or Event of Default a written notice setting forth the details of 
such Default or Event of Default and the action which is proposed to be taken by 
the Borrower with respect thereto; 
(n) 
(o)  as soon as possible, and in any event within ten days after the Borrower 
receives notice from the PBGC or any other Person, or otherwise acquires 
knowledge, that any of the events or conditions specified below with respect to 
any Plan or Multiemployer Plan have occurred or exist, a statement signed by a 
senior financial officer of the Borrower setting forth details respecting such 
event or condition and the action, if any, which the Borrower or its ERISA 
Affiliate proposes to take with respect thereto (and a copy of any report or 
notice required to be filed with or given to PBGC by the Borrower or an ERISA 
Affiliate with respect to such event or condition): 
(p) 
 
     (i)  any reportable event, as defined in Section 4043(b) of ERISA, with 
     respect to a Plan, as to which PBGC has not by regulation waived the 
     requirement of Section 4043(a) of ERISA that it be notified within 30 days 
     of the occurrence of such event (provided that a failure to meet the 
     minimum funding standard of Section 412 of the Code or Section 302 of ERISA 
     including, without limitation, the failure to make on or before its due 
     date a required installment under Section 412(m) of the Code or Section 
     302(e) of ERISA, shall be a reportable event regardless of the issuance of 
     any waivers in accordance with Section 412(d) of the Code) and any request 
     for a waiver under Section 412(d) of the Code for any Plan; 
 
     (i)  the distribution under Section 4041 of ERISA of a notice of intent to 
     terminate any Plan or any action taken by the Borrower or an ERISA 
     Affiliate to terminate any Plan; 
 
     (i)  the institution by PBGC of proceedings under Section 4042 of ERISA for 
     the termination of, or the appointment of a trustee to administer, any 
     Plan, or the receipt by the Borrower or any ERISA Affiliate of a notice 
     from a Multiemployer Plan that such action has been taken by PBGC with 
     respect to such Multiemployer Plan; 
 
     (i)  the complete or partial withdrawal from a Multiemployer Plan by the 
     Borrower or any ERISA Affiliate that results in liability under Section 
     4201 or 4204 of ERISA (including the obligation to satisfy secondary 
     liability as a result of a purchaser default) or the receipt of the 
     Borrower or any ERISA Affiliate of notice from a Multiemployer Plan that it 
     is in reorganization or insolvency pursuant to Section 4241 or 4245 of 
     ERISA or that it intends to terminate or has terminated under Section 4041A 
     of ERISA; 
     (ii) the institution of a proceeding by a fiduciary or any Multiemployer 
     Plan against the Borrower or any ERISA Affiliate to enforce Section 515 of 
     ERISA, which proceeding is not dismissed within 30 days; 
 
     (i)  the adoption of an amendment to any Plan that pursuant to a 
     notification letter from the Internal Revenue Service under Section 
     401(a)(29) of the Code or Section 307 of ERISA would 
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     result in the loss of tax-exempt status of the trust of which such Plan is 
     a part if the Borrower or an ERISA Affiliate fails to timely provide 
     security to the Plan in accordance with the provisions of said Sections; 
 
     (i)  any event or circumstance exists which may reasonably be expected to 
     constitute grounds for the Borrower or any ERISA Affiliate to incur 
     liability under Title IV of ERISA or under Sections 412(c)(11) or 412(n) of 
     the Code with respect to any Plan; and 
 
     (i)  the Unfunded Benefit Liabilities of one or more Plans increase after 
     the date of this Agreement in an amount which is material in relation to 
     the financial condition of the Borrower. 
 
(a)  promptly after the request of any Lender, copies of each annual report 
filed pursuant to Section 104 of ERISA with respect to each Plan (including, to 
the extent required by Section 104 of ERISA, the related financial and actuarial 
statements and opinions and other supporting statements, certifications, 
schedules and information referred to in Section 103) and each annual report 
filed with respect to each Plan under Section 4065 of ERISA; provided, however, 
that in the case of a Multiemployer Plan, such annual reports shall be furnished 
only if they are available to the Borrower or an ERISA Affiliate; 
(b) 
(c)  promptly after the furnishing thereof, copies of any statement or report 
furnished to any other party pursuant to the terms of any indenture, loan or 
credit or similar agreement and not otherwise required to be furnished to the 
Lenders pursuant to any other clause of this Section 7.8; 
(d) 
(e)  promptly after the sending or filing thereof, copies of all proxy 
statements, financial statements and reports which the Borrower or any of its 
Subsidiaries sends to its stockholders, and copies of all regular, periodic and 
special reports, and all registration statements which the Borrower or any such 
Subsidiary files with the Securities and Exchange Commission or any governmental 
authority which may be substituted therefor, or with any national securities 
exchange; 
(f) 
(g)  promptly after the commencement thereof or promptly after the Borrower 
knows of the commencement or threat thereof, notice of any Forfeiture 
Proceeding; 
(h) 
(i) simultaneously with the delivery of the annual financial statements referred 
to in Section 7.8(a), (i) a consolidating balance sheet of the Borrower and its 
domestic Subsidiaries, and a consolidating balance sheet of the non-domestic 
Subsidiaries of the Borrower, as of the end of the applicable fiscal year; and 
(ii) consolidating statements of income of the Borrower and its domestic 
Subsidiaries for the year then ended, and consolidating statements of income of 
the non-domestic Subsidiaries of the Borrower for the year then ended; in each 
case, in a form sufficient to enable the Lenders to determine the amounts owed 
by and paid by the Borrower and its domestic Subsidiaries to the non-domestic 
Subsidiaries of the Borrower, and vice versa; 
(j) 
(k) simultaneously with the delivery of the annual financial statements referred 
to in Section 7.8(a), a letter from the accounting firm that audited such 
financial statements, addressed to the Administrative Agent, the Lenders, the 
Swingline Bank and the Issuing Bank, acknowledging their reliance on such 
financial statements, in compliance with N.J.S.A. 2A:53A-25 (which statute need 
not be expressly referred to in such letter). 
(l) 
(m) such other information respecting the condition or operations, financial or 
otherwise, of the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries as the Administrative 
Agent or any Lender may from time to time reasonably request. 
(n) 
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1.2. Section Subsidiary Guarantee . Cause: 
1.3. 
     (a)  each domestic Subsidiary of the Borrower whose assets at any time 
     represent ten percent (10%) or more of the total assets of the Borrower 
     and its Consolidated Subsidiaries, and 
 
     (a)  each domestic Subsidiary of the Borrower that owns any trademark, 
     tradename, tradedress or patent as a result of a transfer thereof by the 
     Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries to such domestic Subsidiary, and 
 
     (a)  each other domestic Subsidiary of the Borrower, other than domestic 
     Subsidiaries whose combined assets represent less than fifteen percent 
     (15%) of the total assets of the Borrower and its Consolidated 
     Subsidiaries, 
 
to execute and deliver to the Administrative Agent a Guarantee, together with 
written evidence satisfactory to the Administrative Agent that such Guarantee 
has been duly authorized by all necessary action; the same shall be delivered to 
the Administrative Agent (in multiple duplicate original copies, one for each 
Lender, the Swingline Bank, the Issuing Bank and the Administrative Agent) 
within 30 days after the date on which (in the case of clause (a)) the assets of 
such Subsidiary first represent 10% or more of the total assets of the Borrower 
and its Consolidated Subsidiaries, or (in the case of clause (b)) such 
Subsidiary acquires ownership of such trademark, tradename, tradedress or 
patent, or (in the case of clause (c)) the 15% limit described in clause (c) is 
exceeded. 
 
8.10. Section Equal and Ratable Lien . Make or cause to be made, if any property 
(whether now owned or hereafter acquired) is subjected to a Lien in violation of 
Section 8.3, effective provision satisfactory in form and substance to the 
Required Lenders whereby the obligations of the Borrower under this Agreement 
and the Notes will be secured by such Lien equally and ratably with any and all 
other liabilities secured thereby. Such violation of Section 8.3 shall be an 
Event of Default, whether or not any such provision is made pursuant to this 
Section. 
8.11. 
8.12. Section Prudential Guarantees . Obtain, within 45 days after the Closing 
Date, from The Prudential Insurance Company of America a written release of the 
guarantees previously provided to it by NAW Corporation and NAWC Corum 
Corporation in respect of the Prudential Existing Notes and the Prudential Shelf 
Notes, and provide a copy of such release to the Administrative Agent promptly 
after the Borrower obtains such release. 
8.13. 
8.14. 
 
                         9. ARTICLE NEGATIVE COVENANTS. 
 
      So long as any of the Notes shall remain unpaid, or any Letter of Credit 
shall be outstanding, or any Lender shall have any Revolving Credit Commitment 
under this Agreement, the Borrower shall not: 
 
8.10. Section Debt . Create, incur, assume or suffer to exist, or permit any of 
its Subsidiaries to create, incur, assume or suffer to exist any Debt, except: 
 
      (a)  Debt of the Borrower under this Agreement or the Notes; 
 
      (a)  Debt described in Schedule IV, including renewals, extensions or 
refinancings thereof (and including refinancings by institutions other than 
those institutions identified on Schedule IV), provided that the principal 
amount thereof does not increase; 
 
      (a)  Debt of the Borrower subordinated (on terms satisfactory to the 
Administrative Agent and the Required Lenders) to the Borrower's obligations 
under this Agreement and the Notes; 
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     (a)  Debt of the Borrower to any Guarantor or of any Guarantor to the 
     Borrower or any other Guarantor; and Debt of any Subsidiary which is not a 
     Guarantor to any other Subsidiary which is not a Guarantor (which Debt 
     described in this clause (d) shall be permitted under Section 8.5); 
 
     (a)  Debt consisting of leases permitted under Section 8.4 or of guaranties 
     permitted under subsections (a), (b), (c) and (d) of Section 8.2; 
 
     (a)  other Debt of the Borrower or any Subsidiary of the Borrower, provided 
     that the aggregate amount of such Debt outstanding at any time shall not 
     exceed $15,000,000 (as to all of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries) (which 
     $15,000,000 limitation shall be inclusive of the outstanding amounts of the 
     working capital lines, the foreign lines and the letters of credit referred 
     to in Schedule IV and renewals, extensions and refinancings thereof); and 
     provided further that such Debt shall have a maturity of not later than one 
     year after the incurrence thereof; and provided further that: 
 
               (i)  in the case of indebtedness of the Borrower or any domestic 
          Subsidiary for money borrowed, such indebtedness shall be owing to one 
          or more of the Lenders independently of this Agreement; and 
 
               (ii) in the case of non-domestic Subsidiaries of the Borrower, 
          the aggregate amount of such Debt as to all non-domestic Subsidiaries 
          that is outstanding at any time shall not exceed $5,000,000 (which 
          $5,000,000 limitation shall be inclusive of the foreign lines referred 
          to in Schedule IV and renewals, extensions and refinancings thereof); 
          (such Debt described in this clause (ii) may be payable to one or more 
          of the Lenders or to any other creditor); 
 
     and provided further that (as to all of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries 
     in the aggregate): 
 
               (x) the amount of outstanding Debt permitted by this clause (f) 
          consisting of liability in respect of letters of credit (excluding 
          Letters of Credit issued under this Agreement) shall not exceed 
          $3,000,000 at any time, whether such liability is for outstanding 
          letters of credit that have not yet been drawn upon, or outstanding 
          reimbursement obligations as to letters of credit that have been drawn 
          upon (which $3,000,000 limitation shall be inclusive of the letters of 
          credit identified in Schedule IV and renewals and extensions thereof); 
          and 
 
               (y) the amount of outstanding Debt permitted by this clause (f) 
          that is secured by a Lien permitted by Section 8.3(h) shall not exceed 
          $8,000,000 at any time; and 
 
     (a)  Debt of the Borrower or any domestic Subsidiary of the Borrower not 
     otherwise permitted by this Section, provided that: 
 
          (i)  50% of the amount of the gross proceeds of such Debt is 
          (immediately upon the incurrence of such Debt) paid to the 
          Administrative Agent (x) for application to the reduction of the 
          outstanding Swingline Loans and (if the outstanding amount of the 
          Swingline Loans is, or is thereby reduced to, zero) the outstanding 
          Syndicated Loans; and (y) (if the outstanding amount of the Syndicated 
          Loans is, or is thereby reduced to, zero) for deposit with the 
          Administrative Agent in the Cash Collateral Account as security for 
          the Borrower's reimbursement obligation in respect of Letters of 
          Credit; and 
 
          (i)  the Total Revolving Credit Commitment is permanently reduced by 
          an amount equal to 50% of the amount of the gross proceeds of such 
          Debt; and 
 
          (i)  the Borrower provides to Administrative Agent at least 20 days 
          before the incurrence of such Debt, for distribution to the Lenders, a 
          pro-forma consolidated balance 
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          sheet and income statement of the Borrower and its Consolidated 
          Subsidiaries after giving effect to the incurrence of such Debt, 
          together with a written certification of the Borrower that the 
          incurrence of such Debt will not result in a Default, either 
          immediately or (based upon the Borrower's reasonable and good faith 
          projections) at any time thereafter. 
 
The Borrower further covenants that any letter of credit in respect of which the 
Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries become liable as permitted by this Section 
will be for less than $1,000,000 (excluding Letters of Credit issued hereunder). 
 
8.10. Section Guaranties, Etc . Assume, guarantee, endorse or otherwise be or 
become directly or contingently responsible or liable, or permit any of its 
Subsidiaries to assume, guarantee, endorse or otherwise be or become directly or 
indirectly responsible or liable (including, but not limited to, an agreement to 
purchase any obligation, stock, assets, goods or services or to supply or 
advance any funds, asset, goods or services, or an agreement to maintain or 
cause such Person to maintain a minimum working capital or net worth or 
otherwise to assure the creditors of any Person against loss) for the 
obligations of any Person, except 
8.11. 
 
     (a)  guaranties by endorsement of negotiable instruments for deposit or 
     collection or similar transactions in the ordinary course of business; 
 
     (a)  guaranties by Subsidiaries pursuant to Section 7.9; 
 
     (a)  guaranties by the Borrower of ordinary rent obligations incurred by 
     any of its domestic Subsidiaries for the lease of retail stores; 
 
     (a)  guaranties by the Borrower of obligations incurred by any of its 
     domestic Subsidiaries in the ordinary course of business other than for 
     borrowed money, letters of credit or acceptance financing; 
 
     (a)  guaranties by the Borrower in favor of any of its Subsidiaries, and 
     guaranties by any Subsidiary of the Borrower in favor of the Borrower or 
     another Subsidiary of the Borrower, as to obligations owing to the 
     guaranteed party by a Subsidiary of the Borrower or by the Borrower; 
     provided, however, that in no event shall the outstanding guaranty 
     liability permitted by this clause (e) exceed at any time $15,000,000 as to 
     the Borrower and its Subsidiaries in the aggregate; 
 
     (a)  letters of credit permitted under Section 8.1 (including Letters of 
     Credit issued hereunder); 
     (b)  guaranties by the Guarantors of the Prudential Existing Notes and the 
     Prudential Shelf Notes; and 
 
     (a)  other guaranties, provided however that in no event shall the 
     outstanding guaranty liability permitted by this clause (h) exceed at any 
     time $1,000,000 as to the Borrower and its Subsidiaries in the aggregate. 
 
8.10. Section Liens. Create, incur, assume or suffer to exist, or permit any of 
its Subsidiaries to create, incur, assume or suffer to exist, any Lien, upon or 
with respect to any of its properties, now owned or hereafter acquired 
(including, without limitation, any Lien upon any stock or other securities 
issued by a Subsidiary), except: 
8.11. 
     (a)  Liens for taxes or assessments or other government charges or levies 
     if not yet due and payable or if due and payable if they are being 
     contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings and for which 
     appropriate reserves are maintained; 
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     (a)  Liens imposed by law, such as mechanic's, materialmen's, landlord's, 
     warehousemen's and carrier's Liens, and other similar Liens, securing 
     obligations incurred in the ordinary course of business which are not past 
     due for more than 30 days, or which are being contested in good faith by 
     appropriate proceedings and for which appropriate reserves have been 
     established; 
 
     (a)  Liens under workmen's compensation, unemployment insurance, social 
     security or similar legislation (other than ERISA); 
 
     (a)  Liens, deposits or pledges to secure the performance of bids, tenders, 
     contracts (other than contracts for the payment of money), leases 
     (permitted under the terms of this Agreement), public or statutory 
     obligations, surety, stay, appeal, indemnity, performance or other similar 
     bonds, or other similar obligations arising in the ordinary course of 
     business; 
 
     (a)  judgment and other similar Liens arising in connection with court 
     proceedings; provided that the execution or other enforcement of such Liens 
     is effectively stayed and the claims secured thereby are being actively 
     contested in good faith and by appropriate proceedings; 
 
     (a)  easements, rights-of-way, restrictions and other similar encumbrances 
     which, in the aggregate, do not materially interfere with the occupation, 
     use and enjoyment by the Borrower or any such Subsidiary of the property or 
     assets encumbered thereby in the normal course of its business or 
     materially impair the value of the property subject thereto; 
 
     (a)  Liens securing obligations of such a Subsidiary to the Borrower; 
 
     (a)  purchase money Liens on any property hereafter acquired or the 
     assumption of any Lien on property existing at the time of such 
     acquisition, or a Lien incurred in connection with any conditional sale or 
     other title retention agreement or a Capital Lease; provided that: 
 
          (i)  any property subject to any of the foregoing is acquired by the 
          Borrower or any such Subsidiary in the ordinary course of its business 
          and the Lien on any such property is created contemporaneously with 
          such acquisition; 
 
          (i)  the obligation secured by any Lien so created, assumed or 
          existing shall not exceed 95% of the lesser of cost or fair market 
          value as of the time of acquisition of the property covered thereby to 
          the Borrower or such Subsidiary acquiring the same; 
 
          (i)  each such Lien shall attach only to the property so acquired and 
          fixed improvements thereon; 
 
          (i)  the obligations secured by such Lien are permitted by the 
          provisions of Section 8.1(f)(y) and the related expenditure is 
          permitted under Section 9.5; 
 
     (a)  Liens identified on Schedule IV, including renewals, extensions or 
     refinancings thereof (and including refinancings by institutions other than 
     those institutions identified on Schedule IV), provided that the principal 
     amount secured by such Liens does not increase; 
 
     (a)  other Liens, provided however that in no event shall the outstanding 
     liabilities secured by Liens permitted by this clause (j) exceed at any 
     time $1,000,000 as to the Borrower and its Subsidiaries in the aggregate. 
 
8.10. Section Leases . Create, incur, assume or suffer to exist, or permit any 
of its Subsidiaries to create, incur, assume or suffer to exist, any obligation 
as lessee for the rental or hire of any real or personal property, except: 
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8.11. 
 
     (a)  leases existing on the date of this Agreement and any extensions or 
     renewals thereof; 
 
     (a)  Capital Leases permitted by Sections 8.1 and 8.3; and 
 
     (a)  other leases (excluding Capital Leases) that are, in the judgment of 
     the board of directors of the Borrower, appropriate for the business 
     objectives of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries, provided however that (x) 
     the Retail Rent Differential shall not exceed $6,000,000 for any fiscal 
     year of the Borrower after January 31, 2000, and (y) the sum of the Retail 
     Rent Differential for all fiscal years of the Borrower after January 31, 
     2000 shall not exceed $18,000,000. The term "Retail Rent Differential"for 
     any fiscal year means the excess of (i) the aggregate amount of rent paid 
     by the Borrower and its Subsidiaries for such year in respect of leases of 
     retail stores (excluding Capital Leases), over (ii) the aggregate amount of 
     rent paid by the Borrower and its Subsidiaries for the fiscal year ending 
     January 31, 2000 in respect of leases of retail stores (excluding Capital 
     Leases). If the lease for any such retail store commenced during the fiscal 
     year ending January 31, 2000, the rent paid thereunder during such fiscal 
     year shall be deemed to be the rent payable thereunder on an annualized 
     basis, instead of the rent actually paid. If the lease for any retail store 
     terminated during the fiscal year ending January 31, 2000, the rent paid 
     thereunder during such fiscal year shall be deemed to be zero, instead of 
     the actual rent paid. 
 
8.10. Section Investments . Make, or permit any of its Subsidiaries to make, any 
loan or advance to any Person or purchase or otherwise acquire, or permit any 
such Subsidiary to purchase or otherwise acquire, any capital stock, assets 
(except as otherwise permitted by this Agreement), obligations or other 
securities of, make any capital contribution to, or otherwise invest in, or 
acquire any interest in, any Person, except: 
8.11. 
 
     (a)  direct obligations of the United States of America or any agency 
     thereof with maturities of two years or less from the date of acquisition; 
     (b)  commercial paper of a domestic issuer rated at least "A-1"by Standard 
     & Poor's Corporation or "P-1"by Moody's Investors Service, Inc.; 
 
     (a)  certificates of deposit with maturities of one year or less from the 
     date of acquisition issued by any commercial bank operating within the 
     United States of America having capital and surplus in excess of 
     $200,000,000; 
 
     (a)  for stock, obligations or securities received in settlement of debts 
     (created in the ordinary course of business) owing to the Borrower or any 
     such Subsidiary; 
 
     (a)  inventory purchased in the ordinary course of business of the Borrower 
     or such Subsidiary; 
 
     (a)  any Acquisition permitted by Section 8.11; 
 
     (a)  investments in stocks of investment companies registered under the 
     Investment Company Act of 1940 which are no-load money-market funds and 
     which invest primarily in obligations of the type described in clauses (a), 
     (b) and (c) of this Section and which are classified as current assets in 
     accordance with GAAP, provided that any such investment company shall have 
     an aggregate net asset value of not less than $50,000,000; 
 
     (a)  advances to employees of the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries that 
     do not exceed $500,000 outstanding at any time in the aggregate as to all 
     such employees of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries; 
 
     (a)  loans, advances, and other investments by any foreign Subsidiary of 
     the Borrower to or in any other foreign Subsidiary of the Borrower that is 
     wholly owned by the Borrower; 
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     (a)  loans and advances made by the Borrower or a domestic Subsidiary of 
     the Borrower in order to enable the recipient to pay premiums payable in 
     respect of any policy of life insurance issued on the life of Gedalio 
     Grinberg (either individually or together with his spouse), provided that 
     (w) such recipient is the owner of such policy, and (x) subject to the 
     recipient's retention of the incidents of such ownership, such recipient 
     collaterally assigns its rights in the policy to the Borrower or such 
     Subsidiary, on a first-priority basis, as security for the repayment of 
     such loans and advances, and (y) such recipient agrees to apply, and does 
     apply, the proceeds of such policy payable upon the death of the 
     insured(s), to the repayment in full of such loans and advances before such 
     proceeds are applied to any other liability or are otherwise disposed of, 
     and (z) the aggregate amount of such loans and advances made in any fiscal 
     year of the Borrower does not exceed $1,500,000; 
 
     (a)  fully collateralized repurchase agreements with a term of not more 
     than 30 days for securities described in clause (a) above and entered into 
     with a financial institution satisfying the criteria described in clause 
     (c) above; 
 
     (a)  investments of up to $25,000,000 in the aggregate by foreign 
     Subsidiaries of the Borrower in stock of companies whose assets consist 
     exclusively of cash, interest-bearing securities, notes and other debt 
     obligations issued by sovereign states, governments, governmental agencies, 
     municipalities, financial institutions and other corporate borrowers, 
     provided that 90% of the amount of such assets of each such company have an 
     Acceptable Credit Rating or are fully guaranteed by a Person that has an 
     Acceptable Credit Rating (as used herein, the term "Acceptable Credit 
     Rating"means a credit rating of AAA or AA by Standard & Poor's or Moody's 
     Investors Service, Inc., or a credit rating that is, in the judgment of the 
     Administrative Agent, equivalent thereto by a credit-rating agency that is 
     acceptable to the Administrative Agent); 
 
     (a)  other investments of up to $10,000,000 in the aggregate as to all of 
     the Borrower and its Subsidiaries; 
 
     (a)  as permitted under Sections 8.7(c) and 8.7(d); and 
 
     (a)  Permitted Investments made by the Administrative Agent for the account 
     of the Borrower pursuant to Section 2.13(f). 
 
8.10. Section Dividends . Declare or pay any dividends (other than dividends 
payable solely in shares of its common stock), purchase, redeem, retire or 
otherwise acquire for value any of its capital stock now or hereafter 
outstanding, or make any distribution of assets to its stockholders as such 
whether in cash, assets or in obligations of the Borrower, or allocate or 
otherwise set apart any sum for the payment of any dividend or distribution on, 
or for the purchase, redemption or retirement of any shares of its capital 
stock, or make any other distribution by reduction of capital or otherwise in 
respect of any shares of its capital stock, or permit any of its Subsidiaries to 
do any of the foregoing, or permit any of its Subsidiaries to purchase or 
otherwise acquire for value any stock of the Borrower or another such Subsidiary 
(except as permitted by Section 8.8(b)), except that the Borrower may pay 
dividends or acquire its stock (or both), provided that: 
8.11. 
 
               (x) no Default or Event of Default exists either immediately 
          prior to such payment or acquisition, or after giving effect to such 
          payment or acquisition; and 
 
               (y) the aggregate amount expended by the Borrower after January 
          31, 2000 for all such dividends and acquisitions does not exceed the 
          sum of (i) $25,000,000, plus (ii) 50% of the cumulative net income of 
          the Borrower for its fiscal year ending January 31, 2000 and each 
          subsequent fiscal year that shall have ended prior to the payment of 
          such dividend or the acquisition of such stock (which net income for 
          any year shall be adjusted to exclude non-recurring gains, except to 
          the extent that the Borrower shall have received actual cash 
          representing such gain in such year), 
 
 
                                       46 



   52 
 
 
          less (iii) 100% of the cumulative net loss (if any) of the Borrower 
          for its fiscal year ending January 31, 2000 and each subsequent fiscal 
          year that shall have ended prior to the payment of such dividend or 
          the acquisition of such stock; and 
 
               (z) the aggregate amount expended by the Borrower for all such 
          acquisitions of its stock is less than (i) $10,000,000 during the 
          period from February 1, 2000 through April 30, 2000 and (ii) 
          $15,000,000 for the period from February 1, 2000 through July 31, 
          2000; 
 
and except that any Subsidiary may pay dividends or make distributions to the 
Borrower and to any wholly-owned Subsidiary of the Borrower. 
 
8.10. Section Sale of Assets . Sell, lease, assign, transfer or otherwise 
dispose of, or permit any of its Subsidiaries to sell, lease, assign, transfer 
or otherwise dispose of, any of its now owned or hereafter acquired assets 
(including, without limitation, shares of stock and indebtedness of such 
Subsidiaries, receivables and leasehold interests), except: 
8.11. 
 
          (a)  for inventory disposed of in the ordinary course of business; 
 
          (a)  the sale or other disposition of assets no longer used or useful 
          in the conduct of its business; 
 
          (a)  that any such Subsidiary may sell, lease, assign, transfer or 
          otherwise dispose of its assets to the Borrower or to another 
          Subsidiary that shall have previously executed and delivered a 
          Guarantee pursuant to Section 7.9; 
 
          (a)  that any foreign Subsidiary of the Borrower may sell, lease, 
          assign, transfer or otherwise dispose of its assets to another foreign 
          Subsidiary of the Borrower that is wholly owned by the Borrower; 
 
          (a)  as contemplated under Section 8.8(a) or (b); and 
 
          (a)  for Designated Sales. 
 
In no event shall any disposition of assets by the Borrower or any Subsidiary be 
for less than fair market value. 
 
8.10. Section Stock of Subsidiaries, Etc . Sell or otherwise dispose of, or 
permit any of its Subsidiaries to sell or otherwise dispose of, any shares of 
capital stock of any of its Subsidiaries, except: 
8.11. 
 
          (a)  for a sale of all or substantially all of the stock of any 
          Subsidiary for less than $3,000,000 where (i) the sales proceeds are 
          made available to the Borrower and (ii) such proceeds represent the 
          fair value of such Subsidiary; 
 
          (a)  the shares of any foreign Subsidiary of the Borrower may be sold 
          to another foreign Subsidiary of the Borrower that is wholly owned by 
          the Borrower; 
 
          (a)  the shares of any domestic Subsidiary of the Borrower may be sold 
          to another domestic Subsidiary of the Borrower that is wholly-owned by 
          the Borrower and that is a Guarantor; and 
 
          (a)  for Designated Sales; 
 
or permit any such Subsidiary to issue any additional shares of its capital 
stock, except directors' qualifying shares and except in connection with a 
transaction permitted by (a), (b) or (c) above to the extent necessary to 
effectuate such transaction. 
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8.10. Section Transactions with Affiliates . Enter into any transaction, 
including, without limitation, the purchase, sale or exchange of property or the 
rendering of any service, with any Affiliate or permit any of its Subsidiaries 
to enter into any transaction, including, without limitation, the purchase, sale 
or exchange of property or the rendering of any service, with any Affiliate, 
except in the ordinary course of and pursuant to the reasonable requirements of 
the Borrower's or such Subsidiary's business (including without limitation 
direct and indirect promotional and advertising efforts of the Borrower, 
consistent with past practice) and upon fair and reasonable terms that are 
(except for loans and advances permitted by clauses (h) and (j) of Section 8.5) 
no less favorable to the Borrower or such Subsidiary than would obtain in a 
comparable arm's length transaction with a Person not an Affiliate. 
8.11. 
8.12. Section Mergers, Etc . Merge or consolidate with, or sell, assign, lease 
or otherwise dispose of (whether in one transaction or in a series of 
transactions) all or substantially all of its assets (whether now owned or 
hereafter acquired) to, any Person, or acquire all or substantially all of the 
assets or of a line of business of any Person (or enter into any agreement to do 
any of the foregoing), or permit any of its Subsidiaries to do so, except: 
8.13. 
 
     (a)  for Acquisitions that are permitted pursuant to Section 8.11; 
 
     (a)  sales of assets that are permitted pursuant to clauses (c) and (d) of 
     Section 8.7 and clauses (a) and (b) of Section 8.8; and 
 
     (a)  for Designated Sales. 
 
8.10. Section Acquisitions. Make any Acquisition unless: 
8.11. 
     (i)  no Default or Event of Default exists either immediately prior to such 
     Acquisition or after giving effect to such Acquisition; and 
 
     (i)  such Acquisition is approved by the board of directors of the 
     corporation (if any) which is the subject of such Acquisition, or is 
     recommended by such board to the shareholders of such corporation; and 
 
     (i)  if the principal business of the corporation or other entity which is 
     the subject of such Acquisition is not in the Core Business, then the 
     aggregate amount expended by the Borrower or any Subsidiary for such 
     Acquisition, and for all other Acquisitions where the principal business of 
     the corporation or other entity which is the subject thereof is not in the 
     Core Business, is not more than $20,000,000. 
 
As used herein, the term "Acquisition"means any transaction pursuant to which 
the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries (a) acquires equity securities (or 
warrants, options or other rights to acquire such securities) of any corporation 
or other entity other than the Borrower or any corporation which is not then a 
Subsidiary of the Borrower, pursuant to a solicitation of tenders therefor, or 
in one or more negotiated block, market or other transactions not involving a 
tender offer, or a combination of any of the foregoing, or (b) makes any 
corporation or other entity a Subsidiary of the Borrower, or causes any such 
corporation or other entity to be merged into the Borrower or any of its 
Subsidiaries, in any case pursuant to a merger, purchase of securities or of 
assets or any reorganization providing for the delivery or issuance to the 
holders of the then outstanding securities of such corporation or other entity, 
in exchange for such securities, of cash or securities of the Borrower or any of 
its Subsidiaries, or a combination thereof, or (c) purchases all or 
substantially all of the assets or of any line of business of any corporation or 
other entity. 
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8.10. Section No Activities Leading to Forfeiture . Engage in, or permit any of 
its Subsidiaries to engage in, the conduct of any business or activity which 
would reasonably be expected to result in a Forfeiture Proceeding. 
8.11. 
8.12. Section No Material Change in Business . Make or permit any of its 
Subsidiaries (other than an Inactive Subsidiary) to make a material change in 
the nature of its business such that it is no longer primarily engaged in the 
Core Business. 
8.13. 
8.14. Section No Restriction . Agree, or permit any of its Subsidiaries to 
agree, to any restriction on the right of any Subsidiary to pay to the Borrower 
any dividends or repayments of loan advances. 
8.15. 
8.16. Section Swap and Exchange Agreements . Enter into, or permit any of its 
Subsidiaries to enter into, any interest-rate swap, cap, floor, collar or other 
similar agreement, or any foreign exchange contract, currency swap agreement or 
other similar agreement, except for the purpose of hedging its risk in the 
ordinary course of business. 
8.17. 
8.18. Section Certain Subsidiary Liabilities . Permit any domestic Subsidiary of 
the Borrower that acquires ownership of any trademark, tradename, tradedress or 
patent from the Borrower or any other Subsidiary to be liable for total 
liabilities in excess of $750,000, excluding liabilities to the Borrower or to 
any Guarantor and excluding its liability under its Guarantee, except for the 
guaranties by the Guarantors of the Prudential Existing Notes and the Prudential 
Shelf Notes. 
8.19. 
                         9.ARTICLE FINANCIAL COVENANTS. 
 
     So long as any of the Notes shall remain unpaid, or any Letter of Credit 
shall remain outstanding, or any Lender shall have any Revolving Credit 
Commitment under this Agreement: 
 
9.1. Section Tangible Net Worth . The Borrower shall at all times from and after 
the Closing Date maintain a Consolidated Tangible Net Worth of not less than the 
sum of $120,000,000 plus the Incremental TNW Amount. 
9.2. 
9.3. Section Debt Ratio . The Borrower shall not permit the Debt Ratio to exceed 
either (a) 50% as of the end of each fiscal year of the Borrower, or (b) 65% at 
all other times. 
9.4. 
9.5. Section Interest Coverage Ratio . The Borrower shall maintain, as of the 
last day of each fiscal quarter of the Borrower (called, for purposes of this 
Section, the "determination date"), an Interest Coverage Ratio for the period 
consisting of such quarter and the three preceding fiscal quarters in excess of 
the ratio set forth below opposite the applicable determination date: 
9.6. 
 
 
 
 
               Determination Date                  Interest Coverage Ratio 
               ------------------                  ----------------------- 
                                          
               April 30, 2000               2.25 to 1.00 
               July 31, 2000                       2.25 to 1.00 
               October 31, 2000                    2.50 to 1.00 
               January 31, 2001                    3.25 to 1.00 
               April 30, 2001               3.25 to 1.00 
               July 31, 2001                       3.25 to 1.00 
               October 31, 2001                    3.25 to 1.00 
               Thereafter                          3.50 to 1.00 
 
 
 
 
9.1. Section Average Debt Coverage Ratio . The Borrower shall not permit the 
Average Debt Coverage Ratio as of the last day of any fiscal quarter for the 
period of four consecutive fiscal quarters ending on such 
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day to be more than (a) 3.50 to 1.0, where such day is on or before October 31, 
2000, or (b) 3.25 to 1.0, where such day is after October 31, 2000. 
9.2. 
9.3. Section Year-End Debt Coverage Ratio . The Borrower shall not permit the 
Debt Coverage Ratio as of the end of any fiscal year to be more than (a) 2.25 to 
1.0 as of January 31, 2001, or (b) 2.0 to 1.0 as of the end of any fiscal year 
thereafter. 
9.4. 
9.5. Section Capital Expenditures . The Borrower shall not permit Consolidated 
Capital Expenditures to exceed (on a noncumulative basis) (a) $12,500,000 during 
the fiscal year ending January 31, 2001, (b) $15,000,000 during the fiscal year 
ending January 31, 2002, or (c) $15,000,000 during the fiscal year ending 
January 31, 2003; furthermore, the Borrower shall not permit Consolidated 
Capital Expenditures to exceed $40,000,000 during the period from February 1, 
2000 through the Maturity Date. 
9.6. 
9.7. 
                          10.ARTICLE EVENTS OF DEFAULT. 
 
9.1. Section Events of Default . Any of the following events shall be an "Event 
of Default": 
 
(a)  the Borrower shall: (i) fail to pay the principal of any Note as and when 
due and payable; or (ii) fail to pay interest on any Note or any fee or other 
amount due hereunder as and when due and payable and such failure shall continue 
for three days; 
(b) 
(c)  any representation or warranty made or deemed made by the Borrower or a 
Guarantor in this Agreement or in any other Facility Document or which is 
contained in any certificate, document, opinion, financial or other statement 
furnished at any time under or in connection with any Facility Document shall 
prove to have been incorrect in any material respect on or as of the date made 
or deemed made; 
(d) 
(e)  the Borrower shall: (i) fail to perform or observe any term, covenant or 
agreement contained in Section 2.15 or Section 3.12, or Articles 8 or 9; or (ii) 
fail to perform or observe any term, covenant or agreement on its part to be 
performed or observed (other than the obligations specifically referred to 
elsewhere in this Section 10.1) in any Facility Document and (in the case of a 
failure referred to in this clause (ii)), such failure shall continue for 30 
consecutive days; 
(f) 
(g)  the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries shall: (i) fail to pay any 
indebtedness, including but not limited to indebtedness for borrowed money 
(other than the payment obligations described in (a) above), of the Borrower or 
such Subsidiary, as the case may be, or any interest or premium thereon, when 
due (whether by installment, scheduled maturity, required prepayment, 
acceleration, demand or otherwise); or (ii) fail to perform or observe any term, 
covenant or condition on its part to be performed or observed under any 
agreement or instrument relating to any such indebtedness, when required to be 
performed or observed, if the effect of such failure to perform or observe is to 
accelerate, or to permit the acceleration of, after the giving of notice or 
passage of time, or both, the maturity of such indebtedness, provided that (in 
the case of both (i) and (ii)) the aggregate principal amount of such 
indebtedness as to which such failure to pay has occurred (and not merely the 
installment or other portion thereof not paid), or as to which the maturity is 
or is permitted to be accelerated by reason of such failure to perform or 
observe, shall be $1,000,000 or more; or any such indebtedness whose principal 
amount is $1,000,000 or more shall be declared to be due and payable, or 
required to be prepaid (other than by a regularly scheduled required 
prepayment), prior to the stated maturity thereof; 
(h) 
(i)  the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries: (i) shall generally not, or be 
unable to, or shall admit in writing its inability to, pay its debts as such 
debts become due; or (ii) shall make an assignment for the benefit of creditors, 
petition or apply to any tribunal for the appointment of a custodian, receiver 
or trustee for it or a substantial part of its assets; or (iii) shall commence 
any proceeding under any bankruptcy, reorganization, arrangement or readjustment 
of debt law or statute, or (except in the case of an Inactive 
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Subsidiary) any dissolution or liquidation law or statute, of any jurisdiction 
whether now or hereafter in effect; or (iv) shall have had any such petition or 
application filed or any such proceeding shall have been commenced, against it, 
in which an adjudication or appointment is made or order for relief is entered, 
or which petition, application or proceeding remains undismissed or unstayed for 
a period of 30 days or more; or shall be the subject of any proceeding under 
which its assets may be subject to seizure, forfeiture or divestiture (other 
than a proceeding in respect of a Lien permitted under Section 8.3 (a)); or (v) 
by any act or omission shall indicate its consent to, approval of or 
acquiescence in any such petition, application or proceeding or order for relief 
or the appointment of a custodian, receiver or trustee for all or any 
substantial part of its property; or (vi) shall suffer any such custodianship, 
receivership or trusteeship to continue undischarged for a period of 30 days or 
more; 
(j)  one or more judgments, decrees or orders for the payment of money in excess 
of $1,000,000 in the aggregate shall be rendered against the Borrower or any of 
its Subsidiaries and such judgments, decrees or orders shall continue 
unsatisfied and in effect for a period of 60 consecutive days without being 
vacated, discharged, satisfied or stayed or bonded pending appeal; 
(k) 
(l)  any event or condition shall occur or exist with respect to any Plan or 
Multiemployer Plan concerning which the Borrower is under an obligation to 
furnish a report to the Lenders in accordance with Section 7.8(h) hereof and as 
a result of such event or condition, together with all other such events or 
conditions, the Borrower or any ERISA Affiliate has incurred or in the opinion 
of the Required Lenders is reasonably likely to incur a liability to a Plan, a 
Multiemployer Plan, the PBGC, or a Section 4042 Trustee (or any combination of 
the foregoing) which is material in relation to the financial position of the 
Borrower and its Subsidiaries, on a consolidated basis; 
(m) 
(n)  the Unfunded Benefit Liabilities of one or more Plans have increased after 
the date of this Agreement in an amount which is material; 
(o) 
(p)  if at any time the capital stock of the Borrower owned by the Grinberg 
Group represents less than 25% of the voting power of (x) all outstanding 
capital stock of the Borrower and (y) all outstanding securities and rights that 
are then convertible into or exchangeable for capital stock of the Borrower or 
upon the exercise of which capital stock of the Borrower will be issued in 
respect of such securities or rights; 
(q) 
(r)  there is a seizure by or forfeiture in favor of any governmental authority 
of any property of the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries having a value in 
excess of $1,000,000, other than by an eminent domain proceeding where the 
Borrower or such Subsidiary receives reasonable compensation therefor; or 
(s) 
(t)  any Guarantee shall at any time after its execution and delivery and for 
any reason cease to be in full force and effect (except as permitted by Section 
12.1(h)) or shall be declared null and void, or the validity or enforceability 
thereof shall be contested by the Guarantor thereunder, or such Guarantor shall 
deny it has any further liability or obligation thereunder or shall fail to 
perform its obligations thereunder. 
(u) 
9.2. Section Remedies. If any Event of Default shall occur and be continuing, 
the Administrative Agent may or, upon request of the Required Lenders, shall by 
notice to the Borrower, do any or all of the following: (a) declare the 
Revolving Credit Commitments to be terminated, whereupon the same shall 
forthwith terminate; (b) declare the outstanding principal of the Notes, all 
interest thereon and all other amounts payable under this Agreement or the Notes 
to be forthwith due and payable, whereupon the Notes, all such interest and all 
such amounts shall become and be forthwith due and payable, without presentment, 
demand, protest or further notice of any kind, all of which are hereby expressly 
waived by the Borrower (provided that, in the case of an Event of Default 
referred to in Section 10.1(e) as to the Borrower, the Revolving Credit 
Commitments shall be immediately terminated, and the Notes, all interest thereon 
and all other amounts payable under this Agreement shall be immediately due and 
payable without any notice and without presentment, demand, protest or other 
formalities of any kind, all of which are hereby expressly waived by the 
Borrower); and (c) direct the Borrower immediately to pay (and the Borrower 
agrees that upon receipt of such a notice, or upon the occurrence of an Event of 
Default referred to in Section 10.1(e) 
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as to the Borrower, the Borrower will immediately pay) to the Administrative 
Agent such additional amount of cash as is equal to the L/C Exposure to the 
extent not already secured by cash collateral under Section 2.13, to be held by 
the Administrative Agent in the Cash Collateral Account as security for the 
Borrower's reimbursement obligation in respect of Letters of Credit. 
9.3. 
          10.ARTICLE THE AGENTS; RELATIONS AMONG LENDERS AND BORROWER. 
 
9.1. Section Appointment, Powers and Immunities of Administrative Agent . Each 
Lender (in its capacity as Lender and, as applicable, Swingline Bank and Issuing 
Bank) hereby irrevocably (but subject to removal by the Required Lenders 
pursuant to Section 11.9) appoints and authorizes the Administrative Agent to 
act as its agent hereunder and under any other Facility Document with such 
powers as are specifically delegated to the Administrative Agent by the terms of 
this Agreement and any other Facility Document, together with such other powers 
as are reasonably incidental thereto. The Administrative Agent shall have no 
duties or responsibilities except those expressly set forth in this Agreement 
and any other Facility Document, and shall not by reason of this Agreement be a 
trustee for any Lender. The Administrative Agent shall not be responsible to the 
Lenders for any recitals, statements, representations or warranties made by the 
Borrower or any officer or official of the Borrower or any other Person 
contained in this Agreement or any other Facility Document, or in any 
certificate or other document or instrument referred to or provided for in, or 
received by any of them under, this Agreement or any other Facility Document, or 
for the value, legality, validity, effectiveness, genuineness, enforceability or 
sufficiency of this Agreement or any other Facility Document or any other 
document or instrument referred to or provided for herein or therein, for the 
perfection or priority of any collateral security for the Loans or the 
reimbursement obligations in respect of Letters of Credit or for any failure by 
the Borrower to perform any of its obligations hereunder or thereunder. The 
Administrative Agent may employ agents and attorneys-in-fact and shall not be 
responsible, except as to money or securities received by it or its authorized 
agents, for the negligence or misconduct of any such agents or attorneys-in-fact 
selected by it with reasonable care. Neither the Administrative Agent nor any of 
its directors, officers, employees or agents shall be liable or responsible for 
any action taken or omitted to be taken by it or them hereunder or under any 
other Facility Document or in connection herewith or therewith, except for its 
or their own gross negligence or willful misconduct. The Borrower shall pay any 
fee agreed to by the Borrower and the Administrative Agent with respect to the 
Administrative Agent's services hereunder. 
 
9.1. Section Reliance by Administrative Agent . The Administrative Agent shall 
be entitled to rely upon any certification, notice or other communication 
(including any thereof by telephone, telex, telegram or cable) believed by it to 
be genuine and correct and to have been signed or sent by or on behalf of the 
proper Person or Persons, and upon advice and statements of legal counsel, 
independent accountants and other experts selected by the Administrative Agent. 
The Administrative Agent may deem and treat each Lender as the holder of the 
Loans made by it and its participations in Letters of Credit for all purposes 
hereof unless and until an Assignment and Assumption Agreement shall have been 
furnished to the Administrative Agent in accordance with Section 12.5, but the 
Administrative Agent shall not be required to deal with any Person who has 
acquired a participation in any Loan or any such participation from a Lender. As 
to any matters not expressly provided for by this Agreement or any other 
Facility Document, the Administrative Agent shall in all cases be fully 
protected in acting, or in refraining from acting, hereunder in accordance with 
instructions signed by the Required Lenders, and such instructions of the 
Required Lenders and any action taken or failure to act pursuant thereto shall 
be binding on all of the Lenders and any other holder of all or any portion of 
any Loan or any such participation. 
9.2. 
9.3. Section Defaults . The Administrative Agent shall not be deemed to have 
knowledge of the occurrence of a Default or Event of Default (other than the 
non-payment of principal of or interest on the Loans to the extent the same is 
required to be paid to the Administrative Agent for the account of the Lenders) 
unless the Administrative Agent has received notice from a Lender or the 
Borrower specifying such Default or Event of Default and stating that such 
notice is a "Notice of Default." In the event that the Administrative Agent 
receives such a notice of the occurrence of a Default or Event of Default, the 
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Administrative Agent shall give prompt notice thereof to the Lenders (and shall 
give each Lender prompt notice of each such non-payment). The Administrative 
Agent shall (subject to Section 11.8) take such action with respect to such 
Default or Event of Default which is continuing as shall be directed by the 
Required Lenders; provided that, unless and until the Administrative Agent shall 
have received such directions, the Administrative Agent may take such action, or 
refrain from taking such action, with respect to such Default or Event of 
Default as it shall deem advisable in the best interest of the Lenders; and 
provided further that the Administrative Agent shall not be required to take any 
such action which it determines to be contrary to law. 
9.4. 
9.5. Section Rights of Administrative Agent as a Lender . With respect to its 
Revolving Credit Commitment and the Loans made by it and the Letters of Credit, 
the entity which is the Administrative Agent in its capacity as a Lender 
hereunder shall have the same rights and powers hereunder as any other Lender 
and may exercise the same as though it were not acting as the Administrative 
Agent, and the term "Lender"or "Lenders"shall, unless the context otherwise 
indicates, include the entity which is the Administrative Agent in its capacity 
as a Lender. The entity which is the Administrative Agent and its Affiliates may 
(without having to account therefor to any Lender) accept deposits from, lend 
money to (on a secured or unsecured basis), and generally engage in any kind of 
banking, trust or other business with, the Borrower (and any of its Affiliates) 
as if it were not acting as the Administrative Agent, and the entity which is 
the Administrative Agent may accept fees and other consideration from the 
Borrower for services in connection with this Agreement or otherwise without 
having to account for the same to the Lenders. Although the Administrative Agent 
and its Affiliates may in the course of such relationships and relationships 
with other Persons acquire information about the Borrower, its Affiliates and 
such other Persons, the Administrative Agent shall have no duty to disclose such 
information to the Lenders. 
9.6. 
9.7. Section Indemnification of Administrative Agent . The Lenders agree to 
indemnify the Administrative Agent (to the extent not reimbursed under Section 
12.3 or under the applicable provisions of any other Facility Document, but 
without limiting the obligations of the Borrower under Section 12.3 or such 
provisions), ratably in accordance with their respective Pro Rata Percentages, 
for any and all liabilities, obligations, losses, damages, penalties, actions, 
judgments, suits, costs, expenses or disbursements of any kind and nature 
whatsoever which may be imposed on, incurred by or asserted against the 
Administrative Agent in any way relating to or arising out of this Agreement, 
any other Facility Document or any other documents contemplated by or referred 
to herein or the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby (including, without 
limitation, the costs and expenses which the Borrower is obligated to pay under 
Section 12.3 or under the applicable provisions of any other Facility Document 
but excluding, unless a Default or Event of Default has occurred, normal 
administrative costs and expenses incident to the performance of its agency 
duties hereunder) or the enforcement of any of the terms hereof or thereof or of 
any such other documents or instruments; provided that no Lender shall be liable 
for any of the foregoing to the extent they arise from the gross negligence or 
willful misconduct of the party to be indemnified. 
9.8. 
9.9. Section Documents . The Administrative Agent will forward to each Lender, 
promptly after the Administrative Agent's receipt thereof, a copy of each 
report, notice or other document required by this Agreement or any other 
Facility Document to be delivered to the Administrative Agent for such Lender. 
9.10. 
9.11. Section Non-Reliance on Administrative Agent and Other Lenders . Each 
Lender agrees that it has, independently and without reliance on the 
Administrative Agent or any other Lender, and based on such documents and 
information as it has deemed appropriate, made its own credit analysis of the 
Borrower and its Subsidiaries and decision to enter into this Agreement and that 
it will, independently and without reliance upon the Administrative Agent or any 
other Lender, and based on such documents and information as it shall deem 
appropriate at the time, continue to make its own analysis and decisions in 
taking or not taking action under this Agreement or any other Facility Document. 
The Administrative Agent shall not be required to keep itself informed as to the 
performance or observance by the Borrower of this Agreement or any other 
Facility Document or any other document referred to or provided for herein or 
therein or to inspect the properties or books of the Borrower or any Subsidiary. 
Except for notices, reports and other 
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documents and information expressly required to be furnished to the Lenders by 
the Administrative Agent hereunder, the Administrative Agent shall not have any 
duty or responsibility to provide any Lender with any credit or other 
information concerning the affairs, financial condition or business of the 
Borrower or any Subsidiary (or any of their Affiliates) which may come into the 
possession of the Administrative Agent or any of its Affiliates. The 
Administrative Agent shall not be required to file this Agreement, any other 
Facility Document or any document or instrument referred to herein or therein, 
for record or give notice of this Agreement, any other Facility Document or any 
document or instrument referred to herein or therein, to anyone. 
9.12. 
9.13. Section Failure of Administrative Agent to Act . Except for action 
expressly required of the Administrative Agent hereunder, the Administrative 
Agent shall in all cases be fully justified in failing or refusing to act 
hereunder unless it shall have received further assurances (which may include 
cash collateral) of the indemnification obligations of the Lenders under Section 
11.5 in respect of any and all liability and expense which may be incurred by it 
by reason of taking or continuing to take any such action. 
9.14. 
9.15. Section Resignation or Removal of Administrative Agent . Subject to the 
appointment and acceptance of a successor Administrative Agent as provided 
below, the Administrative Agent may resign at any time by giving written notice 
thereof to the Lenders and the Borrower, and the Administrative Agent may be 
removed at any time for cause by Lenders having Syndicated Loans outstanding, 
L/C Exposure and unused Revolving Credit Commitments representing at least 66"% 
of the sum of all Syndicated Loans outstanding, L/C Exposure and unused 
Revolving Credit Commitments; provided that the Borrower and the other Lenders 
shall be promptly notified thereof. Upon any such resignation or removal, the 
Required Lenders shall have the right to appoint a successor Administrative 
Agent, subject (unless an Event of Default exists) to the approval of the 
Borrower, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld. If no successor 
Administrative Agent shall have been so appointed by the Required Lenders and 
shall have accepted such appointment within 30 days after the retiring 
Administrative Agent's giving of notice of resignation or the Required Lenders' 
removal of the retiring Administrative Agent, then the retiring Administrative 
Agent may, on behalf of the Lenders, appoint a successor Administrative Agent, 
subject (unless an Event of Default exists) to the approval of the Borrower, 
which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld, which shall be a bank which 
has an office in New York, New York. The Required Lenders or the retiring 
Administrative Agent, as the case may be, shall upon the appointment of a 
successor Administrative Agent promptly so notify the Borrower and the other 
Lenders. Upon the acceptance of any appointment as Administrative Agent 
hereunder by a successor Administrative Agent, such successor Administrative 
Agent shall thereupon succeed to and become vested with all the rights, powers, 
privileges and duties of the retiring Administrative Agent, and the retiring 
Administrative Agent shall be discharged from its duties and obligations 
hereunder. After any retiring Administrative Agent's resignation or removal 
hereunder as Administrative Agent, the provisions of this Article 11 shall 
continue in effect for its benefit in respect of any actions taken or omitted to 
be taken by it while it was acting as the Administrative Agent. 
9.16. 
9.17. Section 11.10.Amendments Concerning Agency Function . The Administrative 
Agent shall not be bound by any waiver, amendment, supplement or modification of 
this Agreement or any other Facility Document which affects its duties hereunder 
or thereunder unless it shall have given its prior consent thereto. 
9.18. 
9.19. Section 11.11.Liability of Administrative Agent . The Administrative Agent 
shall not have any liabilities or responsibilities to the Borrower on account of 
the failure of any Lender to perform its obligations hereunder or to any Lender 
on account of the failure of the Borrower to perform its obligations hereunder 
or under any other Facility Document. 
9.20. 
9.21. Section 11.12.Transfer of Agency Function . Without the consent of the 
Borrower or any Lender, the Administrative Agent may at any time or from time to 
time transfer its functions as Administrative Agent hereunder to any of its 
offices wherever located, provided that the Administrative Agent shall promptly 
notify the Borrower and the Lenders thereof. 
9.22. 
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9.23. Section 11.13.Non-Receipt of Funds by the Administrative Agent . Unless 
the Administrative Agent shall have been notified by a Lender or the Borrower 
(either one as appropriate being the "Payor") prior to the date on which such 
Lender is to make payment hereunder to the Administrative Agent of the proceeds 
of a Loan or the Borrower is to make payment to the Administrative Agent, as the 
case may be (either such payment being a "Required Payment"), which notice shall 
be effective upon receipt, that the Payor does not intend to make the Required 
Payment to the Administrative Agent, the Administrative Agent may assume that 
the Required Payment has been made and may, in reliance upon such assumption 
(but shall not be required to), make the amount thereof available to the 
intended recipient on such date and, if the Payor has not in fact made the 
Required Payment to the Administrative Agent, the recipient of such payment 
(and, if such recipient is the Borrower and the Payor Lender fails to pay the 
amount thereof to the Administrative Agent forthwith upon demand, the Borrower) 
shall, on demand, repay to the Administrative Agent the amount made available to 
it together with interest thereon for the period from the date such amount was 
so made available by the Administrative Agent until the date the Administrative 
Agent recovers such amount at a rate per annum equal to (i) in the case of the 
Borrower, the interest rate applicable at such time to the applicable Loan, and 
(ii) in the case of such Lender, a rate determined by the Administrative Agent 
to represent its cost of overnight or short-term funds in the relevant currency 
(which determination shall be conclusive absent manifest error). If a Lender 
makes a Required Payment to the Administrative Agent pursuant to the immediately 
preceding sentence and the Borrower shall have repaid such amount to the 
Administrative Agent pursuant to such sentence, the Administrative Agent shall 
promptly return to the Borrower any amount (including interest) paid by the 
Borrower to the Administrative Agent pursuant to such sentence. 
9.24. 
9.25. Section 11.14.Withholding Taxes . Each Lender represents to the 
Administrative Agent and the Borrower that it is entitled to receive any 
payments to be made to it hereunder without the withholding of any tax and will 
furnish to the Administrative Agent such forms, certifications, statements and 
other documents as the Administrative Agent may request from time to time to 
evidence such Lender's exemption from the withholding of any tax imposed by any 
jurisdiction or to enable the Administrative Agent to comply with any applicable 
laws or regulations relating thereto. Without limiting the effect of the 
foregoing, if any Lender is not created or organized under the laws of the 
United States of America or any state thereof, in the event that the payment of 
interest by the Borrower is treated for U.S. income tax purposes as derived in 
whole or in part from sources from within the U.S., such Lender will furnish to 
the Administrative Agent Form 4224 or Form 1001 of the Internal Revenue Service, 
or such other forms, certifications, statements or documents, duly executed and 
completed by such Lender as evidence of such Lender's exemption from the 
withholding of U.S. tax with respect thereto. The Administrative Agent shall not 
be obligated to make any payments hereunder to such Lender in respect of any 
Loan or reimbursement of a drawing under a Letter of Credit or such Lender's 
Revolving Credit Commitment until such Lender shall have furnished to the 
Administrative Agent the requested form, certification, statement or document. 
9.26. 
9.27. Section 11.15.Several Obligations and Rights of Lenders . The failure of 
any Lender to make any Loan to be made by it on the date specified therefor 
shall not relieve any other Lender of its obligation to make its Loan on such 
date, but no Lender shall be responsible for the failure of any other Lender to 
make a Loan to be made by such other Lender. No Lender shall be responsible for 
any failure of the Swingline Bank to make a Swingline Loan required to be made 
hereunder, or for any failure of the Issuing Bank to issue a Letter of Credit 
required to be issued hereunder. The amounts payable at any time hereunder to 
each Lender, the Swingline Bank and the Issuing Bank shall be a separate and 
independent debt, and each of them shall be entitled to protect and enforce its 
rights arising out of this Agreement, and it shall not be necessary for any 
other of them to be joined as an additional party in any proceeding for such 
purpose. 
9.28. 
9.29. Section 11.16.Pro Rata Treatment of Syndicated Loans, Etc . Except to the 
extent otherwise expressly provided: (a) each Borrowing of Loans pursuant to 
Section 2.1 shall be made from the Lenders, each reduction or termination of the 
amount of the Revolving Credit Commitments under Section 2.10 shall be applied 
to the Revolving Credit Commitments, and each payment of Commitment Fees 
accruing under Section 2.7 shall be made for the account of the Lenders, pro 
rata according to the amounts of their 
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respective unused Revolving Credit Commitments; (b) each conversion under 
Section 2.11 of Syndicated Loans of a particular Type (but not conversions 
provided for by Article 4), shall be made pro rata among the Lenders holding 
Syndicated Loans of such Type according to the respective principal amounts of 
such Syndicated Loans by such Lenders; (c) each prepayment and payment of 
principal of or interest on Syndicated Loans of a particular Type and a 
particular Interest Period shall be made to the Administrative Agent for the 
account of the Lenders holding Syndicated Loans of such Type and Interest Period 
pro rata in accordance with the respective unpaid principal amounts of such 
Syndicated Loans of such Interest Period held by such Lenders; and (d) each 
payment of L/C Participation Fees accruing under Section 3.9 shall be made for 
the account of the Lenders, pro rata according to their respective Pro Rata 
Percentages of the average daily aggregate L/C Exposure (excluding the portion 
thereof attributable to unreimbursed L/C Disbursements). 
9.30. 
9.31. Section 11.17.Sharing of Payments Among Lenders . If a Lender shall obtain 
payment of any principal of or interest on any Syndicated Loan made by it, or of 
any reimbursement obligation of the Borrower as to Letters of Credit, through 
the exercise of any right of setoff, banker's lien, counterclaim, or by any 
other means it shall promptly purchase from the other Lenders participations in 
(or, if and to the extent specified by such Lender, direct interests in) the 
Loans made by the other Lenders and Letters of Credit in such amounts, and make 
such other adjustments from time to time as shall be equitable to the end that 
all the Lenders shall share the benefit of such payment (net of any expenses 
which may be incurred by such Lender in obtaining or preserving such benefit) 
pro rata in accordance with the unpaid principal and interest on the Loans and 
Letter of Credit participations held by each of them. To such end the Lenders 
shall make appropriate adjustments among themselves (by the resale of 
participations sold or otherwise) if such payment is rescinded or must otherwise 
be restored. The Borrower agrees that any Lender so purchasing a participation 
(or direct interest) in the Loans made by other Lenders or Letters of Credit may 
exercise all rights of setoff, banker's lien, counterclaim or similar rights 
with respect to such participation (or direct interest). Nothing contained 
herein shall require any Lender to exercise any such right or shall affect the 
right of any Lender to exercise, and retain the benefits of exercising, any such 
right with respect to any other indebtedness of the Borrower. 
9.32. 
9.33. Section 11.18.Syndication Agent and Documentation Agent . Each of the 
Syndication Agent and the Documentation Agent shall have only such powers and 
duties as may be hereafter delegated to it by the Administrative Agent (with the 
written approval of the Borrower and all the Lenders) and accepted by the 
Syndication Agent or the Documentation Agent (as the case may be), and no other 
powers or duties. With respect to each function undertaken by it pursuant to any 
power or duty so delegated, the Syndication Agent or the Documentation Agent (as 
the case may be) shall enjoy all the benefits and protections conferred on the 
Administrative Agent in this Article 11 and elsewhere in this Agreement 
(including, without limitation, all immunities, indemnifications, rights and 
other protective provisions) with the same effect as if the Syndication Agent or 
the Documentation Agent (as the case may be) were included in the definition of 
"Administrative Agent". Each of the Syndication Agent and the Documentation 
Agent may resign at any time by giving written notice thereof to the Lenders and 
the Borrower, and each of the Administrative Agent and the Documentation Agent 
may be removed at any time with or without cause by the Required Lenders. 
Neither the Syndication Agent nor the Documentation Agent shall be entitled to 
any agency fee for serving as the Syndication Agent or the Documentation Agent 
(as the case may be) hereunder, except as may be hereafter agreed to in a 
separate written agreement between the Borrower and the Syndication Agent or the 
Documentation Agent (as the case may be) (and no such agreement shall reduce the 
amount of the agency fee payable to the Administrative Agent or require the 
Administrative Agent to share such fee with the Syndication Agent or the 
Documentation Agent (as the case may be). 
9.34. 
9.35. 
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                            10.ARTICLE MISCELLANEOUS. 
 
9.1. Section Amendments and Waivers . Except as otherwise expressly provided in 
this Agreement, any provision of this Agreement may be amended or modified only 
by an instrument in writing signed by the Borrower, the Administrative Agent and 
the Required Lenders, or by the Borrower and the Administrative Agent acting 
with the consent of the Required Lenders, and any provision of this Agreement 
may be waived by the Required Lenders or by the Administrative Agent acting with 
the consent of the Required Lenders; provided that no amendment, modification or 
waiver shall, unless by an instrument signed by all of the Lenders or by the 
Administrative Agent acting with the consent of all of the Lenders: (a) increase 
or extend the term, or extend the time for the reduction or termination, of the 
Revolving Credit Commitments, (b) extend the date fixed for the payment of 
principal of or interest on any Loan or any fees payable hereunder, (c) reduce 
the amount of any payment of principal thereof or the rate at which interest is 
payable thereon or any fee payable hereunder, (d) alter the terms of this 
Section 12.1 or any other provision hereof specifying that the approval of all 
Lenders is required (including such provisions contained in the first sentence 
of Section 11.18 and in Section 12.5(a)), (e) amend the definition of the term 
"Required Lenders", (f) waive the condition precedent set forth in Section 
5.2(a)(ii), (g) release collateral in any material amount, (h) release 
guarantees in any material amount (provided that the Administrative Agent shall 
release, without the consent of any Lenders, any Guarantee of a Subsidiary all 
of whose stock (or substantially all of whose stock) is sold to a Person other 
than another Subsidiary in a sale that is otherwise permitted by this 
Agreement), (i) permit any Liens not permitted by Section 8.3, (j) change the 
several nature of the obligations of the Lenders under this Agreement, (k) 
increase the $10,000,000 maximum aggregate limitation on Swingline Loans, or the 
$15,000,000 maximum aggregate limitation on the L/C Exposure, or (l) add any 
further Person (beyond the Borrower) as a Person that may borrow from the 
Lenders under this Agreement; and provided, further, that no amendment, 
modification or waiver shall, unless in an instrument signed by Lenders whose 
aggregate Pro Rata Percentages equal or exceed 66"% or by the Administrative 
Agent acting with the consent of such Lenders, waive any requirement set forth 
in Section 2.10 or Section 8.1(g) for the reduction or termination of the 
Revolving Credit Commitments (it being agreed however that any extension of the 
fixed time for any such termination is governed by clause (a) of the immediately 
preceding proviso); and provided, further that any amendment of Article 11 
hereof or any amendment which increases the obligations of the Administrative 
Agent hereunder shall require the consent of the Administrative Agent; and 
provided further that any amendment which increases the obligations of the 
Swingline Bank hereunder shall require the consent of the Swingline Bank; and 
provided further that any amendment which increases the obligations of the 
Issuing Bank hereunder shall require the consent of the Issuing Bank. No failure 
on the part of the Administrative Agent or any Lender or the Swingline Bank or 
the Issuing Bank to exercise, and no delay in exercising, any right hereunder 
shall operate as a waiver thereof or preclude any other or further exercise 
thereof or the exercise of any other right. The remedies herein provided are 
cumulative and not exclusive of any remedies provided by law. 
9.2. Section Usury . Anything herein to the contrary notwithstanding, the 
obligations of the Borrower under this Agreement and the Notes shall be subject 
to the limitation that payments of interest shall not be required to the extent 
that receipt thereof would be contrary to provisions of law applicable to a 
Lender limiting rates of interest which may be charged or collected by such 
Lender. 
9.3. 
9.4. Section Expenses . The Borrower shall (i) pay all reasonable costs, 
expenses and charges of the Administrative Agent (including reasonable fees and 
charges of external legal counsel for the Administrative Agent) incurred in 
connection with the preparation of this Agreement and the other Facility 
Documents, any waiver or consent hereunder or thereunder, and any amendment 
hereto or thereto, and (ii) reimburse the Administrative Agent, the Lenders, the 
Swingline Bank and the Issuing Bank on demand for all reasonable costs, 
expenses, and charges (including reasonable fees and charges of external legal 
counsel for the Administrative Agent, any Lender, the Swingline Bank or the 
Issuing Bank and costs allocated by their respective internal legal departments) 
incurred by any of them in connection with the performance or enforcement of 
this Agreement, the other Facility Documents or any Letter of Credit. The 
Borrower agrees to indemnify the Administrative Agent, each Lender, the 
Swingline Bank and the Issuing Bank and their respective directors, officers, 
employees and agents from, and hold each of them harmless against, any and 
 
 
                                       57 



   63 
 
 
all losses, liabilities, claims, damages or expenses incurred by any of them 
arising out of or by reason of any investigation or litigation or other 
proceedings (including any threatened investigation or litigation or other 
proceedings) relating to any actual or proposed use by the Borrower or any 
Subsidiary of the proceeds of the Loans or any Letter of Credit, including 
without limitation, the reasonable fees and disbursements of counsel incurred in 
connection with any such investigation or litigation or other proceedings (but 
excluding any such losses, liabilities, claims, damages or expenses incurred by 
reason of the gross negligence or willful misconduct of the Person to be 
indemnified). 
9.5. 
9.6. Section Survival . The obligations of the Borrower under Article 4 and 
Section 12.3 shall survive the repayment of the Loans and the expiration of the 
Letters of Credit and the termination of the Revolving Credit Commitments. 
9.7. 
(a)  Section Assignment; Participations . This Agreement shall be binding upon, 
and shall inure to the benefit of, the Borrower, the Administrative Agent, the 
Co-Agent, the Lenders, the Swingline Bank, the Issuing Bank and their respective 
successors and assigns, except that the Borrower may not assign or transfer its 
rights or obligations hereunder without the written approval of all the Lenders. 
(b) 
(c)  After first obtaining the approval of the Administrative Agent, the 
Swingline Bank, the Issuing Bank and (provided no Event of Default exists as a 
result of the commencement of a case with respect to the Borrower under the 
Federal Bankruptcy Code) the Borrower, which approval will not be unreasonably 
withheld, each Lender may assign to one or more banks, finance companies, 
insurance or other financial institutions all or a portion of its rights and 
obligations under this Agreement (including all or a portion of its Revolving 
Credit Commitment and the Syndicated Loans owing to it and its participations in 
Letters of Credit); provided, however, that (i) each such assignment shall be of 
a constant, and not a varying, percentage of the assigning Lender's rights and 
obligations under this Agreement and the assignment shall cover the same 
percentage of such Lender's Revolving Credit Commitment and Syndicated Loans and 
participations in Letters of Credit; (ii) unless the Administrative Agent and 
the Borrower otherwise consent, the amount of the Revolving Credit Commitment of 
the assigning Lender being assigned pursuant to each such assignment (determined 
as of the effective date of the Assignment and Assumption Agreement with respect 
to such assignment) shall in no event be less than Five Million Dollars 
($5,000,000) and shall be an integral multiple of One Million Dollars 
($1,000,000); (iii) the parties to each such assignment shall execute and 
deliver to the Administrative Agent, for its approval and acceptance, an 
Assignment and Assumption Agreement in substantially the form attached hereto as 
Exhibit E with such changes therein (if any) as the Administrative Agent may 
approve (the "Assignment and Assumption Agreement"); and (iv) the Administrative 
Agent shall receive from the assignor a processing fee of Five Thousand Dollars 
($5,000). Without restricting the right of the Administrative Agent, the 
Swingline Bank, the Issuing Bank or (provided no Event of Default exists as a 
result of the commencement of a case with respect to the Borrower under the 
Federal Bankruptcy Code) the Borrower to reasonably object to any bank, finance 
company, insurance or other financial institution becoming an assignee of an 
interest of a Lender hereunder, each proposed assignee must be an existing 
Lender or a bank, finance company, insurance or other financial institution 
which (i) has (or, in the case of a bank which is a subsidiary, such bank's 
parent has) a rating of its senior unsecured debt obligations of not less than 
Baa-1 by Moody's Investors Services, Inc. or a comparable rating by a rating 
agency acceptable to the Administrative Agent and (ii) has total assets in 
excess of Ten Billion Dollars ($10,000,000,000). Upon such execution, delivery, 
approval and acceptance, and on the effective date specified in the applicable 
Assignment and Assumption Agreement, (a) the assignee thereunder shall become a 
party hereto and a "Lender"for purposes hereof and, to the extent that rights 
and obligations hereunder have been assigned to it pursuant to such Assignment 
and Assumption Agreement, shall have the rights and obligations of a Lender 
hereunder and (b) the Lender-assignor thereunder shall, to the extent that 
rights and obligations hereunder have been assigned by it pursuant to such 
Assignment and Assumption Agreement, relinquish its rights and be released from 
its obligations under this Agreement. 
(d) 
(e)  By executing and delivering an Assignment and Assumption Agreement, the 
Lender-assignor thereunder and the assignee thereunder confirm to and agree with 
each other and the other parties hereto as 
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follows: (i) other than as provided in such Assignment and Assumption Agreement, 
such assigning Lender makes no representation or warranty and assumes no 
responsibility with respect to any statements, warranties or representations 
made in or in connection with this Agreement or any other Facility Document or 
the execution, legality, validity, enforceability, genuineness, sufficiency or 
value of this Agreement or any other Facility Document or any other instrument 
or document furnished pursuant hereto; (ii) such assigning Lender makes no 
representation or warranty and assumes no responsibility with respect to the 
financial condition of the Borrower or any Subsidiary or the performance or 
observance by the Borrower or any Subsidiary of any of their respective 
obligations under any Facility Document or any other instrument or document 
furnished pursuant hereto; (iii) such assignee confirms that it has received a 
copy of this Agreement, together with copies of the most recent financial 
statements referred to in Section 7.8(a) and (b) and such other Facility 
Documents and other documents and information as it has deemed appropriate to 
make its own credit analysis and decision to enter into such Assignment and 
Assumption Agreement; (iv) such assignee will, independently and without 
reliance upon the Administrative Agent, such assigning Lender or any other 
Lender and based on such documents and information as it shall deem appropriate 
at the time, continue to make its own credit decisions in taking or not taking 
action under this Agreement; (v) such assignee appoints and authorizes the 
Administrative Agent to take such action as agent on its behalf and to exercise 
such powers under this Agreement and the other Facility Documents as are 
delegated to the Administrative Agent by the terms hereof and thereof, together 
with such powers as are reasonably incidental thereto; and (vi) such assignee 
agrees that it will perform in accordance with their terms all of the 
obligations which by the terms of this Agreement are required to be performed by 
it as a Lender. 
(f) 
(g)  The Administrative Agent shall maintain a copy of each Assignment and 
Assumption Agreement delivered to and accepted by it and shall record the names 
and addresses of each Lender and the Revolving Credit Commitment of, and 
principal amount of the Syndicated Loans owing to, and the amount of 
participations in Letters of Credit of, such Lender from time to time. The 
Borrower, the Administrative Agent and the Lenders may treat each Person whose 
name is so recorded as a Lender hereunder for all purposes of this Agreement. 
(h) 
(i)  Upon its receipt of an Assignment and Assumption Agreement executed by an 
assigning Lender and an assignee and consented to by the Borrower (except that 
no such consent of the Borrower shall be required if an Event of Default exists 
as a result of the commencement of a case with respect to the Borrower under the 
Federal Bankruptcy Code), the Swingline Bank and the Issuing Bank, the 
Administrative Agent shall, if such Assignment and Assumption Agreement has been 
properly completed and is in substantially the form of Exhibit E, (i) accept 
such Assignment and Assumption Agreement, (ii) record the information contained 
therein and (iii) give prompt notice thereof to the Borrower and the Lenders. 
Upon request, the Borrower shall execute and deliver to the Administrative Agent 
appropriate promissory notes in favor of each assignee evidencing such 
assignee's Pro Rata Percentage of the Total Revolving Credit Commitment. If the 
Lender-assignor shall have assigned its entire Revolving Credit Commitment and 
Syndicated Loans, the original promissory note evidencing such Revolving Credit 
Commitment and Syndicated Loans shall be cancelled and returned to the Borrower. 
(j) 
(k)  Each Lender may sell participations to one or more banks, finance 
companies, insurance or other financial institutions in or to all or a portion 
of its rights and obligations under this Agreement (including without limitation 
all or a portion of its Revolving Credit Commitment and the Syndicated Loans 
owing to it); provided, however, that (i) such Lender's obligations under this 
Agreement (including without limitation its Revolving Credit Commitment and its 
participations in Letters of Credit) shall remain unchanged, (ii) such Lender 
shall remain solely responsible to the other parties hereto for the performance 
of such obligations, (iii) such participant shall have no rights under any of 
the Facility Documents, (iv) the Borrower, the Administrative Agent and the 
other Lenders shall continue to deal solely and directly with such Lender in 
connection with such Lender's rights and obligations under this Agreement and 
with regard to any and all payments to be made under this Agreement and its 
Note, and (v) the agreement executed by such Lender in favor of the participant 
shall not give the participant the right to require such Lender to take or omit 
to take any action hereunder except action directly relating to (i) the 
extension of a payment date with respect to 
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any portion of the principal of or interest on any amount outstanding hereunder 
allocated to such participant, (ii) the reduction of the principal amount 
outstanding hereunder allocated to such participant or (iii) the reduction of 
the rate of interest payable on such amount or any amount of fees payable 
hereunder to a rate or amount, as the case may be, below that which the 
participant is entitled to receive under its agreement with such Lender. 
(l) 
(m)  The Borrower will use reasonable efforts to cooperate with the 
Administrative Agent and Lenders in connection with the assignment of interests 
under this Agreement or the sale of participations herein. 
(n) 
(o)  No Lender shall be permitted to assign or sell all or any portion of its 
rights and obligations under this Agreement to the Borrower or any Affiliate of 
the Borrower. 
(p) 
(q)  Any Lender that proposes to sell any assignment or participation hereunder 
may furnish any information concerning the Borrower and its Affiliates in the 
possession of such Lender from time to time to assignees and participants 
(including prospective assignees and participants); provided that such Lender 
shall require any such prospective assignee or such participant (prospective or 
otherwise) to agree in writing to maintain the confidentiality of such 
information, as provided in Section 12.14. 
(r) 
(s)  In addition to the assignments and participations permitted under the 
foregoing provisions of this Section, any Lender may (without any need to comply 
with any of the formal or procedural requirements of this Section) assign and 
pledge all or any portion of its Revolving Credit Commitment and Loans to (i) 
any affiliate of such Lender or (ii) any Federal Reserve Bank as collateral 
security pursuant to Regulation A of the Board of Governors of the Federal 
Reserve System and any Operating Circular issued by such Federal Reserve Bank. 
No such assignment shall release the assigning Lender from its obligations 
hereunder. 
(t) 
9.8. Section Notices . Unless the party to be notified otherwise notifies the 
other party in writing as provided in this Section, and except as otherwise 
provided in this Agreement, notices shall be given to the Administrative Agent 
by telephone, confirmed by telecopy or other writing, and to the Lenders and to 
the Borrower by ordinary or certified mail or telecopy, addressed to such party 
at its address on its signature page of this Agreement. Notices shall be 
effective: (a) if given by mail, 72 hours after deposit in the mails with 
postage prepaid, addressed as aforesaid; and (b) if given by telecopy, when the 
telecopy is transmitted as aforesaid, provided that receipt of such telecopy is 
confirmed; provided however that notices to the Administrative Agent and the 
Lenders and the Swingline Bank and the Issuing Bank under Articles 2 and 3 shall 
be effective upon receipt. 
9.9. 
9.10. Section Setoff . The Borrower agrees that, in addition to (and without 
limitation of) any right of setoff, banker's lien or counterclaim a Lender may 
otherwise have, each Lender shall be entitled, at its option, to offset balances 
(general or special, time or demand, provisional or final) held by it for the 
account of the Borrower at any of such Lender's offices, in dollars or in any 
other currency, against any amount payable by the Borrower to such Lender under 
this Agreement or such Lender's Note which is not paid when due (regardless of 
whether such balances are then due to the Borrower), in which case it shall 
promptly notify the Borrower and the Administrative Agent thereof; provided that 
such Lender's failure to give such notice shall not affect the validity thereof 
or place such Lender under any liability to the Borrower. Payments by the 
Borrower hereunder shall be made without setoff or counterclaim. 
9.11. 
(a)  SECTION JURISDICTION; IMMUNITIES . THE BORROWER HEREBY IRREVOCABLY SUBMITS 
TO THE JURISDICTION OF ANY NEW YORK STATE OR UNITED STATES FEDERAL COURT SITTING 
IN NEW YORK COUNTY OVER ANY ACTION OR PROCEEDING ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO 
THIS AGREEMENT OR THE NOTES OR ANY OTHER FACILITY DOCUMENT OR ANY LETTER OF 
CREDIT, AND THE BORROWER HEREBY IRREVOCABLY AGREES THAT ALL CLAIMS IN RESPECT OF 
SUCH ACTION OR PROCEEDING MAY BE HEARD AND DETERMINED IN SUCH NEW YORK STATE OR 
FEDERAL COURT. THE BORROWER IRREVOCABLY CONSENTS TO THE SERVICE OF ANY AND ALL 
PROCESS IN 
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ANY SUCH ACTION OR PROCEEDING BY THE MAILING OF COPIES OF SUCH PROCESS TO THE 
BORROWER AT ITS ADDRESS SPECIFIED IN SECTION 12.6. THE BORROWER AGREES THAT A 
FINAL JUDGMENT IN ANY SUCH ACTION OR PROCEEDING SHALL BE CONCLUSIVE AND MAY BE 
ENFORCED IN OTHER JURISDICTIONS BY SUIT ON THE JUDGMENT OR IN ANY OTHER MANNER 
PROVIDED BY LAW. THE BORROWER FURTHER WAIVES ANY OBJECTION TO VENUE IN SUCH 
STATE AND ANY OBJECTION TO AN ACTION OR PROCEEDING IN SUCH STATE ON THE BASIS OF 
FORUM NON CONVENIENS. THE BORROWER FURTHER AGREES THAT ANY ACTION OR PROCEEDING 
BROUGHT AGAINST THE AGENT SHALL BE BROUGHT ONLY IN NEW YORK STATE OR UNITED 
STATES FEDERAL COURT SITTING IN NEW YORK COUNTY. THE BORROWER WAIVES ANY RIGHT 
IT MAY HAVE TO JURY TRIAL. 
(b) 
(c)  Nothing in this Section 12.8 shall affect the right of the Administrative 
Agent or any Lender to serve legal process in any other manner permitted by law 
or affect the right of the Administrative Agent or any Lender to bring any 
action or proceeding against the Borrower or its property in the courts of any 
other jurisdictions. 
(d) 
(e)  To the extent that the Borrower has or hereafter may acquire any immunity 
from jurisdiction of any court or from any legal process (whether from service 
or notice, attachment prior to judgment, attachment in aid of execution, 
execution or otherwise) with respect to itself or its property, the Borrower 
hereby irrevocably waives such immunity in respect of its obligations under this 
Agreement and the Notes. 
9.12. Section Table of Contents; Headings . Any table of contents and the 
headings and captions hereunder are for convenience only and shall not affect 
the interpretation or construction of this Agreement. 
9.13. 
9.14. Section 12.10.Severability . The provisions of this Agreement are intended 
to be severable. If for any reason any provision of this Agreement shall be held 
invalid or unenforceable in whole or in part in any jurisdiction, such provision 
shall, as to such jurisdiction, be ineffective to the extent of such invalidity 
or unenforceability without in any manner affecting the validity or 
enforceability thereof in any other jurisdiction or the remaining provisions 
hereof in any jurisdiction. 
9.15. 
9.16. Section 12.11.Counterparts . This Agreement may be executed in any number 
of counterparts, all of which taken together shall constitute one and the same 
instrument, and any party hereto may execute this Agreement by signing any such 
counterpart. 
9.17. 
9.18. Section 12.12.Integration . The Facility Documents set forth the entire 
agreement among the parties hereto relating to the transactions contemplated 
thereby and supersede any prior oral or written statements or agreements with 
respect to such transactions. 
9.19. 
9.20. SECTION 12.13.GOVERNING LAW . THIS AGREEMENT SHALL BE GOVERNED BY, AND 
INTERPRETED AND CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH, THE LAW OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK. 
9.21. 
9.22. Section 12.14.Confidentiality . Each Lender (in its capacity as Lender 
and, as applicable, as Swingline Bank and Issuing Bank) and the Administrative 
Agent agrees (on behalf of itself and each of its Affiliates, directors, 
officers, employees and representatives) to use reasonable precautions to keep 
confidential, in accordance with safe and sound banking practices, any 
non-public information supplied to it by the Borrower pursuant to this Agreement 
which is identified by the Borrower as being confidential at the time the same 
is delivered to the Lenders or the Administrative Agent, provided that nothing 
herein shall limit the disclosure of any such information (i) to the extent 
required by statute, rule, regulation or judicial process, (ii) to counsel for 
any of the Lenders or the Administrative Agent, (iii) to bank examiners, 
auditors or accountants, (iv) in connection with any litigation to which any one 
or more of the Lenders is a party or (v) to any assignee or participant (or 
prospective assignee or participant) so long as such assignee or participant (or 
prospective assignee or participant) first executes and delivers to the 
respective Lender a 
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Confidentiality Agreement in substantially the form of Exhibit F hereto; and 
provided finally that in no event shall any Lender or the Administrative Agent 
be obligated or required to return any materials furnished by the Borrower. 
9.23. 
9.24. Section 12.15.Treatment of Certain Information . The Borrower (a) 
acknowledges that services may be offered or provided to it (in connection with 
this Agreement or otherwise) by each Lender or by one or more of their 
respective subsidiaries or Affiliates and (b) acknowledges that information 
delivered to each Lender by the Borrower may be provided to each such subsidiary 
and Affiliate. 
9.25. 
     IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be 
duly executed as of the day and year first above written. 
 
 
                                            MOVADO GROUP, INC., as Borrower 
 
 
                                            By: /s/ Richard Cote 
                                               Name: Richard Cote 
                                               Title: EVP 
 
                                            Address for Notices: 
                                            Movado Group, Inc. 
                                            125 Chubb Avenue 
                                            Lyndhurst, NJ 07071 
                                            Attention: Chief Financial Officer 
 
                                            Telecopier No.:  201-460-3768 
 
                                            with a simultaneous copy to: 
                                            --------------------------- 
 
                                            Movado Group, Inc. 
                                            300 Tice Boulevard, 2nd Floor 
                                            Woodcliff Lake, NJ 07675 
                                            Attention: General Counsel 
                                            Telecopier No.:  201-460-4540 
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                                            THE CHASE MANHATTAN BANK, as 
Administrative Agent, Lender, Swingline Bank and Issuing Bank 
 
 
                                            By: /s/ Leonard D. Noll 
                                                   Leonard D. Noll 
                                                   Vice President 
 
                                            Address for Notices as 
                                            Administrative Agent: 
 
                                            The Chase Manhattan Bank 
                                            New York Agency 
                                            1 Chase Manhattan Plaza 
                                            New York, New York  10081 
                                            Telecopier No.:  212-552-5650 
 
 
                                            with a simultaneous copy to: 
                                            --------------------------- 
 
                                            The Chase Manhattan Bank 
                                            East 36 Midland Avenue 
                                            Paramus, New Jersey 07652 
                                            Attention:  Mr. Leonard D. Noll 
                                            Telecopier No.:  201-599-6824 
 
                                            Lending Office: 
 
                                            The Chase Manhattan Bank 
                                            270 Park Avenue 
                                            New York, New York 10017 
 
                                            Address for Notices as Lender, 
                                            Swingline Bank and Issuing Bank: 
 
                                            The Chase Manhattan Bank 
                                            East 36 Midland Avenue 
                                            Paramus, New Jersey 07652 
                                            Attention: Mr. Leonard D. Noll 
                                            Telecopier No.: 201-599-6824 
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                                            FLEET BANK, N.A., as Syndication 
Agent and Lender 
 
 
                                            By: /s/ Christian J. Covello 
                                                   Christian J. Covello 
                                                   Vice President 
 
                                            Lending Office and Address for 
                                            Notices: 
 
                                            Fleet Bank, N.A. 
                                            1185 Avenue of the Americas 
                                            New York, New York 10036 
                                            Attention: Mr. Christian J. Covello 
                                            Telecopier No.:  212-703-1724 
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                                            THE BANK OF NEW YORK, as 
Documentation Agent and Lender 
 
 
                                            By: /s/ Linda Mae Coppa 
                                                   Linda Mae Coppa 
                                                   Vice President 
 
                                            Lending Office and Address for 
                                            Notices: 
 
                                            The Bank of New York 
                                            385 Rifle Camp Road 
                                            West Paterson, New Jersey 07424 
                                            Attention:  Ms. Linda Mae Coppa 
                                            Telecopier No.:  973-357-7705 
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                                            EUROPEAN AMERICAN BANK, as Lender 
 
 
                                            By: /s/ Anthony V. Patina 
                                                   Anthony V. Pantina 
                                                   Vice President 
 
                                            Lending Office and Address for 
                                            Notices: 
 
                                            European American Bank 
                                            335 Madison Avenue, 17th Floor 
                                            New York, New York 10017 
                                            Attention: Mr. Anthony V. Pantina 
                                            Telecopier No.: 212-503-2667 
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                                            SUMMIT BANK, as Lender 
 
 
                                            By: /s/ Michael Bernal 
                                                   Michael Bernal 
                                                   Vice President 
 
                                            Lending Office and Address for 
                                            Notices: 
 
                                            Summit Bank 
                                            750 Walnut Avenue 
                                            Cranford, New Jersey 07016 
                                            Attention: Mr. Michael Bernal 
                                            Telecopier No.: 908-709-6115 
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                                   EXHIBIT A-1 
 
                                 PROMISSORY NOTE 
 
                               (Syndicated Loans) 
 
 
$_______________________                                          [Date of Note] 
 
 
     MOVADO GROUP, INC., a New York corporation (the "Borrower"), for value 
received, hereby promises to pay to the order of _______________________ (the 
"Lender"), at the office of The Chase Manhattan Bank (the "Administrative 
Agent") described in the Credit Agreement (as such term is hereinafter defined), 
for the account of the appropriate Lending Office of the Lender, the principal 
amount of ___________________________ Dollars or, if less, the amount of the 
Syndicated Loans made by the Lender to the Borrower pursuant to the Credit 
Agreement outstanding, in immediately available funds, on the dates, in the 
currency and in the manner provided in the Credit Agreement. The Borrower also 
promises to pay interest on the unpaid principal balance hereof, for the period 
such balance is outstanding, at said office for the account of such Lending 
Office at the rates of interest provided in the Credit Agreement, on the dates, 
in the currency and in the manner provided in the Credit Agreement. 
 
     The date and amount of each Syndicated Loan made by the Lender to the 
Borrower under the Credit Agreement, and whether such Loan is a LIBOR Loan or an 
ABR Loan, and the date and amount of each payment of principal thereof, shall be 
recorded by the Lender on its books and, prior to any transfer of this Note (or, 
at the discretion of the Lender, at any other time), endorsed by the Lender on 
the schedule attached hereto or any continuation thereof. 
 
     This is one of the Syndicated Loan Notes referred to in that certain Credit 
Agreement (as amended from time to time, the "Credit Agreement") dated as of 
June ___, 2000 among the Borrower, the Lenders signatory thereto (including the 
Lender), The Chase Manhattan Bank as Administrative Agent, as Swingline Bank and 
as Issuing Bank, Fleet Bank, N.A., as Syndication Agent, and The Bank of New 
York, as Documentation Agent. This Note evidences the Syndicated Loans made by 
the Lender thereunder. All capitalized terms not defined herein shall have the 
meanings given to them in the Credit Agreement. 
 
     The Credit Agreement provides for the acceleration of the maturity of the 
principal of this Note upon the occurrence of certain Events of Default 
specified therein. 
 
     The Borrower waives presentment, notice of dishonor, protest and any other 
notice or formality with respect to this Note. 
 
     This Note shall be governed by, and interpreted and construed in accordance 
with, the laws of the State of New York. 
 
                                            MOVADO GROUP, INC. 
 
 
                                            By: 
                                               -------------------------------- 
                                               Name: 
                                               Title: 
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            Amount      LIBOR          Amount of       Balance         Notation 
Date        of Loan     or ABR          Payment      Outstanding          By 
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                                   EXHIBIT A-2 
 
                                 PROMISSORY NOTE 
 
                                (Swingline Loans) 
 
 
$10,000,000    [Date of Note] 
 
 
     MOVADO GROUP, INC., a New York corporation (the "Borrower"), for value 
received, hereby promises to pay to the order of THE CHASE MANHATTAN BANK (the 
"Swingline Bank"), at the office of The Chase Manhattan Bank (the 
"Administrative Agent") described in the Credit Agreement (as such term is 
hereinafter defined), for the account of the appropriate Lending Office of the 
Swingline Bank, the principal sum of Ten Million Dollars or, if less, the amount 
of the Swingline Loans made by the Swingline Bank to the Borrower pursuant to 
the Credit Agreement that are outstanding, in lawful money of the United States, 
in immediately available funds, on the dates and in the manner provided in the 
Credit Agreement. The Borrower also promises to pay interest on the unpaid 
principal balance hereof, for the period such balance is outstanding, at said 
office for the account of such Lending Office in lawful money of the United 
States at the rates of interest provided in the Credit Agreement, on the dates 
and in the manner provided in the Credit Agreement. 
 
     The date and amount of each Swingline Loan made by the Swingline Bank to 
the Borrower under the Credit Agreement, and each payment of principal thereof, 
shall be recorded by the Swingline Bank on its books and, prior to any transfer 
of this Note (or, at the discretion of the Swingline Bank, at any other time), 
endorsed by the Swingline Bank on the schedule attached hereto or any 
continuation thereof. 
 
     This is the Swingline Loan Note referred to in that certain Credit 
Agreement (as amended from time to time, the "Credit Agreement") dated as of 
June ___, 2000 among the Borrower, the Lenders signatory thereto, The Chase 
Manhattan Bank as Administrative Agent, as Swingline Bank and as Issuing Bank, 
Fleet Bank, N.A., as Syndication Agent, and The Bank of New York, as 
Documentation Agent. This Note evidences the Swingline Loans made by the 
Swingline Bank thereunder. All capitalized terms not defined herein shall have 
the meanings given to them in the Credit Agreement. 
 
     The Credit Agreement provides for the acceleration of the maturity of the 
principal of this Note upon the occurrence of certain Events of Default 
specified therein. 
 
     The Borrower waives presentment, notice of dishonor, protest and any other 
notice or formality with respect to this Note. 
 
     This Note shall be governed by, and interpreted and construed in accordance 
with, the laws of the State of New York. 
 
 
                                            MOVADO GROUP, INC. 
 
 
                                            By: 
                                               -------------------------------- 
                                               Name: 
                                               Title: 
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                Amount           Amount of       Balance               Notation 
Date             of Loan         Payment         Outstanding           By 
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                                    EXHIBIT B 
 
 
                                                   June ___, 2000 
 
 
 
The Chase Manhattan Bank, as 
 Administrative Agent and as Swingline Bank and 
 as Issuing Bank 
New York Agency 
1 Chase Manhattan Plaza 
New York, New York 10081 
 
Re:  The Credit Agreement dated as of the date hereof (which, as the same may 
     hereafter be amended, will be called herein the "Credit Agreement") among 
     Movado Group, Inc., the Lenders signatory thereto, The Chase Manhattan 
     Bank, as Administrative Agent, and as Swingline Bank and as Issuing Bank, 
     Fleet Bank, N.A., as Syndication Agent, and The Bank of New York, as 
     Documentation Agent 
 
Ladies and Gentlemen: 
 
     In connection with the captioned Credit Agreement, we hereby designate any 
one of the following persons to give to you instructions, including notices 
required pursuant to the Agreement, orally or by telephone or teleprocess or 
email: 
 
               NAME 
 
               Howard Regenbogen 
               Kenneth Adams 
               Frank Kimick 
               William Edelmann 
               Rick Cote 
 
     Instructions may be honored on the oral, telephonic, teleprocess or email 
instructions of anyone purporting to be any one of the above designated persons. 
We will furnish you with confirmation of each such instruction either by telex 
(whether tested or untested) or in writing signed by any person designated above 
(including any telecopy which appears to bear the signature of any person 
designated above) on the same day that the instruction is provided to you but 
your responsibility with respect to any instruction shall not be affected by 
your failure to receive such confirmation or by its contents. Transactions that 
are the subject of such instructions are to be processed through Movado Group, 
Inc. DDA Account #0381130798 at the Administrative Agent, or such other account 
as may be mutually agreed to by you and us (our agreement as to such other 
account to be evidenced by a writing signed by two of the above-designated 
persons). 
 
     You shall be fully protected in, and shall incur no liability to us for, 
acting upon any instructions which you in good faith believe to have been given 
by any person designated above, and in no event shall you be liable for special, 
consequential or punitive damages. In addition, we agree to hold you and your 
agents harmless from any and all liability, loss and expense arising directly or 
indirectly out of instructions that we provide to you in connection with the 
Credit Agreement except for liability, loss or expense occasioned by the gross 
negligence or willful misconduct of you or your agents. 
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     Upon notice to us, you may, at your option, refuse to execute any 
instruction, or part thereof, without incurring any responsibility for any loss, 
liability or expense arising out of such refusal if you in good faith believe 
that the person delivering the instruction is not one of the persons designated 
above or if the instruction is not accompanied by an authentication method that 
We have agreed to in writing. 
 
     We will promptly notify you in writing of any change in the persons 
designated above and, until you have actually received such written notice and 
have had a reasonable opportunity to act upon it, you are authorized to act upon 
instructions, even though the person delivering them may no longer be 
authorized. 
 
 
 
                                            Very truly yours, 
 
                                            MOVADO GROUP, INC. 
 
                                            By: 
                                               -------------------------------- 
                                               Name: 
                                               Title: 
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                                    EXHIBIT C 
 
         (Letterhead of counsel to the Borrower and Initial Guarantors) 
 
 
                                     June ___, 2000 
 
 
To each of the Lenders, the Swingline 
Bank, the Issuing Bank, the Administrative Agent, 
the Syndication Agent and the Documentation Agent 
that are parties to the Credit 
Agreement hereinafter referred to 
 
Ladies and Gentlemen: 
 
     We have acted as counsel to Movado Group, Inc., a New York corporation (the 
"Borrower"), in connection with the that certain Credit Agreement (the "Credit 
Agreement") dated as of the date hereof among the Borrower, the Lenders 
signatory thereto, The Chase Manhattan Bank as Administrative Agent, as 
Swingline Bank and as Issuing Bank, Fleet Bank, N. A., as Syndication Agent and 
The Bank of New York, as Documentation Agent. We have also acted as counsel to 
SwissAm, Inc., a New Jersey corporation, and Movado Corporation, a Delaware 
corporation (the "Initial Guarantors"), in connection with the Initial 
Guarantee. Except as otherwise defined herein, all terms used herein and defined 
in the Credit Agreement shall have the meanings assigned to them therein. 
 
     In connection with this opinion, we have examined executed copies of the 
Facility Documents and such other documents, records, agreements and 
certificates as we have deemed appropriate. We have also reviewed such matters 
of law as we have considered relevant for the purpose of this opinion. 
 
     Based upon the foregoing, we are of the opinion that: 
 
1.   Each of the Borrower and the Initial Guarantors is a corporation duly 
incorporated, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the State 
of New York (in the case of the Borrower) or New Jersey (in the case of SwissAm 
Corporation) or Delaware (in the case of Movado Corporation); and each of them 
has the corporate power and authority to own its assets and to transact the 
business in which it is now engaged and is duly qualified as a foreign 
corporation and in good standing under the laws of each other jurisdiction in 
which the failure to be so qualified would have a material adverse effect on the 
business, financial condition or operations of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries 
taken as a whole. 
2. 
3.   2.  The execution, delivery and performance by each of the Borrower and the 
Initial Guarantors of the Facility Documents to which it is a party are within 
its corporate power and authority and have been duly authorized by all necessary 
corporate action and do not: (a) require any consent or approval of its 
stockholders; (b) contravene its charter or by-laws; (c) violate any provision 
of, or require any filing, registration, consent or approval under, any law, 
rule, regulation (including, without limitation, Regulation U), order, writ, 
judgment, injunction, decree, determination or award presently in effect having 
applicability to the Borrower or any Initial Guarantor; (d) result in a breach 
of or constitute a default or require any consent under any indenture or loan or 
credit agreement or any other agreement, lease or instrument to which the 
Borrower or any Initial Guarantor is a party or by which it or its properties 
may be bound or affected; (e) result in, or require, the creation or imposition 
of any Lien upon or with respect to any of the properties now owned or hereafter 
acquired by the Borrower or any Initial Guarantor; or (f) cause the Borrower or 
any Subsidiary to be in default under any such law, rule, regulation, order, 
writ, judgment, injunction, decree, determination or award or any such 
indenture, agreement, lease or instrument. 
4. 
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(a)  3.   Each Facility Document to which the Borrower is a party is a legal, 
valid and binding obligation of the Borrower, enforceable against the Borrower 
in accordance with its terms, except to the extent that such enforcement may be 
limited by applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium and 
other similar laws affecting creditors' rights generally and by general 
principles of equity (regardless of whether enforcement is sought in equity or 
at law). 
(b) 
(c)       The Initial Guarantee is a legal, valid and binding obligation of the 
Initial Guarantors, enforceable against the Initial Guarantors in accordance 
with its terms, except to the extent that such enforcement may be limited by 
applicable bankruptcy, insolvency and other similar laws affecting creditors' 
rights generally and by general principles of equity (regardless of whether 
enforcement is sought in equity or at law). 
(d) 
(e)  4. To the best of our knowledge (after due inquiry), there are no pending 
or threatened actions, suits or proceedings against or affecting the Borrower or 
any of its Subsidiaries before any court, governmental agency or arbitrator, 
which could reasonable be expected to, in any one case or in the aggregate, 
materially adversely affect the financial condition, operations, properties or 
business of the Borrower and the Subsidiaries taken as a whole or the ability of 
the Borrower or any Initial Guarantor to perform its obligations under the 
Facility Documents to which it is a party. 
(f) 
(g)  The opinions expressed herein are for the sole benefit of the Lenders, the 
Administrative Agent, the Swingline Bank, the Issuing Bank and their respective 
successors and assigns and counsel, and may be relied upon by such Persons, but 
may not be relied upon in any manner by any other Person without our prior 
written consent. The opinions expressed herein are as of the date hereof, and we 
make no undertaking to supplement such opinions as facts and circumstances come 
to our attention or changes in law occur which could affect such opinions. 
(h) 
(i)                                                Very truly yours, 
(j) 
(k) 
(l) 
(m) 
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                                    EXHIBIT D 
 
                                    GUARANTEE 
 
 
     REFERENCE IS HEREBY MADE to the Credit Agreement dated as of June ___, 2000 
(which, as the same has heretofore been or may hereafter be amended from time to 
time, will be called herein the "Credit Agreement") among Movado Group, Inc., a 
New York corporation (the "Borrower"), the Lenders signatory thereto, The Chase 
Manhattan Bank, as Administrative Agent, as Swingline Bank and as Issuing Bank, 
Fleet Bank, N.A., as Syndication Agent, and The Bank of New York, as 
Documentation Agent. All capitalized terms used herein and not defined shall 
have the respective meanings ascribed to them in the Credit Agreement. 
 
     WHEREAS, the Credit Agreement provides for the extension of credit by the 
Lenders, the Swingline Bank and the Issuing Bank (all of which, together with 
the Administrative Agent, will be called herein the "Creditors") to the 
Borrower; and 
 
     WHEREAS, all the obligations and liabilities (whether now existing or 
hereafter arising) of the Borrower to any or all of the Creditors under the 
Credit Agreement or any of the other Facility Documents (whether for principal, 
interest, fees, reimbursement obligations, indemnification obligations, costs of 
enforcement or otherwise) will be called herein the "Obligations"; and 
 
     WHEREAS, the Guarantor has obtained and expects to obtain substantial 
economic benefit from the extension of credit by the Creditors to the Borrower 
under the Credit Agreement; and 
 
     WHEREAS, the execution and delivery of this guaranty by the Guarantor is 
required pursuant to the terms of the Credit Agreement; 
 
     NOW, THEREFORE, for valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of 
which is hereby acknowledged, and to induce the Creditors to extend credit to 
the Borrower under the Facility Documents, the Guarantor hereby agrees with the 
Creditors as follows: 
 
1.   The Guarantor hereby unconditionally guarantees to the Creditors that the 
Borrower will promptly pay, perform and observe all the Obligations, and that 
all sums stated to be payable in, or which become payable under, the Facility 
Documents by the Borrower will be promptly paid in full when due, whether at 
stated maturity or earlier by reason of acceleration or otherwise, and, in the 
case of one or more extensions of time of payment or performance or renewals of 
any Obligation, that the same will be promptly paid or performed (as the case 
may be) when due according to such extension or renewal, whether at stated 
maturity or earlier by reason of acceleration or otherwise, irrespective of the 
validity, regularity, or enforceability of any of the Facility Documents and 
irrespective of any present or future law or order of any government (whether of 
right or in fact and whether the Creditors shall have consented thereto) or of 
any agency thereof purporting to reduce, amend, restructure or otherwise affect 
any Obligation of the Borrower or other obligor or to vary the terms of payment; 
provided, however, that the liability of the Guarantor hereunder with respect to 
the Obligations shall be limited to an aggregate amount equal to the largest 
amount that would not render such liability subject to avoidance under Section 
548 of the Federal Bankruptcy Code or any comparable provisions of any 
applicable state law. 
2. 
3.   The Guarantor agrees that, as among the Guarantors and the Creditors, the 
Obligations may be declared to be due and payable for purposes of this guaranty 
notwithstanding any stay, injunction or other prohibition which may prevent, 
delay or vitiate any such declaration as against the Borrower and that, in the 
event of any such declaration (or attempted declaration), such Obligations 
(whether or not due and payable by the Borrower) shall forthwith become due and 
payable by the Guarantor for purposes of this guaranty. The Guarantor further 
guarantees that all payments made by the Borrower to the Creditors of any 
Obligation 
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will, when made, be final and agrees that if any such payment is recovered from, 
or repaid by, any Creditor in whole or in part in any bankruptcy, insolvency or 
similar proceeding instituted by or against the Borrower, this guaranty shall 
continue to be fully applicable to such Obligation to the same extent as though 
the payment so recovered or repaid had never been originally made on such 
Obligation. 
4. 
5.   This is a guaranty of payment and not of collection only. 
6. 
7.   The Guarantor hereby consents that from time to time, without notice to or 
further consent of the Guarantor, the payment, performance or observance of any 
or all of the Obligations may be waived or the time of payment or performance 
thereof extended or accelerated, or renewed in whole or in part, or the terms of 
the Facility Documents or any part thereof may be changed (including, without 
limitation, an increase or decrease in the Total Revolving Credit Commitment or 
any Lender's Revolving Credit Commitment or rate of interest thereon) and any 
collateral therefor may be exchanged, surrendered or otherwise dealt with as the 
Administrative Agent may determine, and any of the acts mentioned in the 
Facility Documents may be done, all without affecting the liability of the 
Guarantor hereunder. The Guarantor hereby waives presentment of any instrument, 
demand of payment, protest and notice of non-payment or protest thereof or of 
any exchange, sale, surrender or other handling or disposition of such 
collateral, and any requirement that any Creditor exhaust any right, power or 
remedy or proceed against the Borrower under the Facility Documents or against 
any other person under any other guaranty of, or security for, any of the 
Obligations. The Guarantor hereby further waives any defense whatsoever which 
might constitute a defense available to, or discharge of, the Borrower or a 
guarantor. No payment by the Guarantor pursuant to any provision hereunder shall 
entitle the Guarantor, by subrogation to the rights of any Creditor or 
otherwise, to any payment by the Borrower (or out of the property of the 
Borrower) except after payment in full of all sums (including interest, costs 
and expenses) which may be or become payable by the Borrower to the Creditors at 
any time or from time to time. 
8. 
9.   This guaranty shall be a continuing guaranty, and any other guarantor, and 
any other party liable upon or in respect of any Obligation hereby guaranteed 
may be released without affecting the liability of any Guarantor. The liability 
of the Guarantor hereunder shall be joint and several with the liability of any 
other guarantor or other party upon or in respect of the Obligations. 
10. 
11.  Any Creditor may assign its rights and powers hereunder, with all or any of 
the Obligations, and, in the event of such assignment, the assignee hereof or of 
such rights and powers, shall have the same rights and remedies as if originally 
named herein. 
12. 
13.  Notice of acceptance of this guaranty and of the incurring of any and all 
of the Obligations of the Borrower pursuant to the Facility Documents is hereby 
waived. THIS GUARANTY AND ALL RIGHTS, OBLIGATIONS AND LIABILITIES ARISING 
HEREUNDER SHALL BE GOVERNED BY AND CONSTRUED ACCORDING TO THE LAWS OF THE STATE 
OF NEW YORK. Unless the context otherwise requires, all terms used herein which 
are defined in the Uniform Commercial Code shall have the meanings therein 
stated. 
14. 
15.  The Guarantor agrees that , in addition to (and without limitation of) any 
right of setoff, banker's lien or counterclaim any Creditor may otherwise have, 
each of the Creditors shall be entitled, at its option, to setoff and apply 
balances (general or special, time or demand, provisional or final) held by it 
for account of the Guarantor at any of its offices in dollars or in any other 
currency, against any amounts owing hereunder that are not paid when due 
(regardless of whether such balances are then due to the Guarantor), in which 
case it shall promptly notify the Guarantor thereof; provided however that any 
failure to give such notice shall not affect the validity thereof. 
16. 
17.  No provision of this guaranty may be modified or waived without the prior 
written consent of the Administrative Agent and the Required Lenders. 
18. 
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19.  Without limiting the rights of any Creditor under any other agreement, any 
financial accommodation (including, without limitation, interest accruing at the 
agreed to contract rate after the commencement of any bankruptcy, reorganization 
or similar proceeding) extended by the Guarantor to or for the account of the 
Borrower, or in respect of which the Borrower may be liable to the Guarantor in 
any capacity, is hereby subordinated to all the Obligations, and such financial 
accommodation of the Guarantor to the Borrower, if the Administrative Agent so 
requests, shall be collected, enforced and received by the Guarantor as trustee 
for the Creditors and be paid over to the Administrative Agent on account of the 
Obligations but without reducing or affecting in any manner the liability of 
such Guarantor, or any other Guarantor, under the other provisions of this 
guaranty. 
 
1.   The Guarantor hereby irrevocably submits to the jurisdiction of any New 
York State or Federal court sitting in New York City in any action or proceeding 
arising out of or relating to this guaranty, and the Guarantor hereby 
irrevocably agrees that all claims in respect of such action or proceeding may 
be heard and determined in such New York State or Federal court. The Guarantor 
irrevocably consents to the service of any and all process in any such action or 
proceeding by the mailing of copies of such process to the Guarantor at its 
address specified on the signature page hereof. The Guarantor agrees that a 
final judgment in any such action or proceeding shall be conclusive and may be 
enforced in other jurisdictions by suit on the judgment or in any other manner 
provided by law. Nothing in this paragraph shall affect the rights of the 
Creditors to serve legal process in any other manner permitted by law or affect 
the rights of the Creditors to bring any action or proceeding against the 
Guarantor or any of its property in the courts of any other jurisdiction. To the 
extent that the Guarantor has or hereafter may acquire any immunity from 
jurisdiction of any court or from any legal process (whether from service or 
notice, attachment prior to judgment, attachment in aid of execution, execution 
or otherwise) with respect to itself or its property, the Guarantor hereby 
irrevocably waives such immunity in respect of its Obligations under this 
guaranty. The Guarantor hereby expressly waives any and every right to a trial 
by jury in any action on or related to this guaranty, the Obligations or the 
enforcement of either or all of the same, and does further expressly waive any 
and every right to interpose any counterclaim in any such action or proceeding. 
The Guarantor agrees to reimburse the Creditors on demand for all reasonable 
costs, expenses, and charges (including, without limitation, reasonable 
attorneys' fees) incurred by the Administrative Agent or the Lenders in 
connection with any enforcement of this guaranty. 
2. 
3.   The rights, powers and remedies granted to the Creditors herein shall be 
cumulative and in addition to any rights, powers and remedies to which the 
Creditors may be entitled either by operation of law or pursuant to the Facility 
Documents or any other document or instrument delivered or from time to time to 
be delivered to the Administrative Agent or any Lender in connection with the 
Facility Documents. 
4. 
     IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Guarantor has caused this instrument to be duly 
executed by its proper officer(s) this ____ day of ______________, 200__. 
 
WITNESS:                                           [NAME OF GUARANTOR] 
 
 
                                              
                                                    By 
- --------------------------------                       ----------------------------------- 
Name:                                                  Name: 
     ---------------------------                            ------------------------------ 
                                                       Title: 
                                                             ----------------------------- 
 
                                                    Address of Guarantor: 
 
                                                    ------------------------------------- 
 
                                                    ------------------------------------- 
 
                                                    ------------------------------------- 
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                                    EXHIBIT E 
 
                       ASSIGNMENT AND ASSUMPTION AGREEMENT 
 
                         Dated as of ____________, 200__ 
 
 
          Reference is made to the Credit Agreement dated as of June ___, 2000 
(which, as the same has been or may have been amended, will be called herein the 
"Credit Agreement"), among Movado Group, Inc., a New York corporation (the 
"Borrower"), the Lenders signatory thereto, The Chase Manhattan Bank, as 
Administrative Agent, as Swingline Bank and as Issuing Bank, and Fleet Bank, 
N.A., as Syndication Agent, and The Bank of New York, as Documentation Agent. 
Terms defined in the Credit Agreement and used herein without definition shall 
have the respective meanings ascribed to such terms in the Credit Agreement. 
 
          [Name of assigning bank] ("Assignor") and [name of assignee] 
("Assignee") hereby agree as follows: 
 
1.        The Assignor hereby sells and assigns to the Assignee, and the 
Assignee hereby purchases and assumes from the Assignor, a _____ percent (___%) 
interest in all of the Assignor's rights and obligations under the Credit 
Agreement as of the Assignment Date (as hereinafter defined), including without 
limitation (a) the Assignor's Revolving Credit Commitment (including, without 
limitation, the Assignor's obligation to make Syndicated Loans and to 
participate in Letters of Credit) and (b) the Assignor's outstanding Syndicated 
Loans. 
2. 
(a)       The Assignor represents to the Assignee that as of the date hereof, 
before giving effect to the assignment contemplated hereby, its Revolving Credit 
Commitment is $__________ and the aggregate outstanding principal amount of its 
Syndicated Loans equals $__________. The Assignor further represents that it is 
the legal and beneficial owner of the interest being assigned by it hereunder 
and that such interest is free and clear of any adverse claim. 
(b) 
(c)       Except as expressly provided in subsection (a) of this Section, the 
Assignor makes no representation or warranty in connection with this Assignment 
and Assumption Agreement. Without limiting the generality of the immediately 
preceding sentence: the Assignee makes no representation or warranty and assumes 
no responsibility with respect to any statements, warranties or representations 
made in or in connection with the Credit Agreement or any other Facility 
Document or the execution, legality, validity, enforceability, genuineness, 
sufficiency or value of the Credit Agreement or any other Facility Document or 
any other instrument or document furnished pursuant thereto; and the Assignee 
makes no representation or warranty and assumes no responsibility with respect 
to the financial condition of the Borrower or any Subsidiary or the performance 
or observance by the Borrower or any Subsidiary of any of their respective 
obligations under any Facility Document or any other instrument or document 
furnished pursuant to the Credit Agreement. 
(d) 
3.        The Assignee represents and warrants that it is legally authorized to 
enter into this Agreement. The Assignee also acknowledges, agrees and confirms 
that (a) it has received a copy of the Credit Agreement, together with copies of 
the most recent financial statements referred to in Sections 7.8(a) and (b) of 
the Credit Agreement, and such other Facility Documents and other documents and 
information as it has deemed appropriate to make its own credit analysis and 
decision to enter into this Assignment and Assumption Agreement; and (b) it will 
independently and without reliance upon the Administrative Agent, the Assignor 
or any other Lender and based on such documents and information as it shall deem 
appropriate at the time, continue to make its own credit decisions in taking or 
not taking action under the Credit Agreement; and (c) it appoints and authorizes 
the Administrative Agent to take such action as agent on its behalf and to 
exercise such powers under the Credit Agreement and the other Facility Documents 
as are 
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delegated to the Administrative Agent by the terms thereof, together with such 
powers as are reasonably incidental thereto; and (d) it agrees that it will 
perform in accordance with their terms all the obligations which by the terms of 
this Credit Agreement are required to be performed by it as a Lender. 
4. 
5.        The effective date for this Assignment and Assumption Agreement shall 
be ___________, 200__ (the "Assignment Date"), provided that this agreement 
shall have been executed and delivered by the Assignor and the Assignee and 
consented to by the Administrative Agent and the Borrower (except that the 
consent of the Borrower shall not be required if an Event of Default exists as a 
result of the commencement of a case with respect to the Borrower under the 
Federal Bankruptcy Code). Following the execution of this Assignment and 
Assumption Agreement, each such party shall deliver its duly executed 
counterpart hereof to the Administrative Agent for acceptance and recording in 
the record maintained by the Administrative Agent pursuant to Section 12.5(d) of 
the Credit Agreement. 
6. 
7.        Upon such acceptance and recording, and from and after the Assignment 
Date, (i) the Assignee shall become a party to the Credit Agreement and a 
"Lender"for purposes thereof, and to the extent provided in this Assignment and 
Assumption Agreement, shall have the rights and obligations of a Lender 
thereunder, and (ii) the Assignor shall, with respect to that portion of its 
interest under the Credit Agreement assigned hereunder, relinquish its rights 
and be released from its obligations under the Credit Agreement. 
8. 
9.        Upon such acceptance and recording, and from and after the Assignment 
Date, the Administrative Agent shall make all payments in respect of the rights 
and interests assigned hereby (including payments of principal, interest, fees 
and other amounts) to the Assignee. Each of the Assignor and the Assignee hereby 
agree that if it receives any amount under any Facility Document which is for 
the account of the other of them, it shall receive the same for the account of 
such other party to the extent of such other party's interest therein and shall 
promptly pay the same to such other party. 
10. 
11.       This Assignment and Assumption Agreement shall be governed by and 
construed in accordance with the laws of the State of New York (without 
reference to conflict of laws). 
12. 
13.       This Assignment and Assumption Agreement may be executed in any number 
of counterparts, each of which shall be an original, but all of which together 
shall constitute one and the same Agreement. 
14. 
15.       IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Agreement has been executed as of the day 
first above written. 
16. 
17.                                                [Assignor] 
18. 
19. 
20. 
21. 
                                                   By: 
22.                                                   Name: 
23.                                                   Title: 
24. 
                                                   [Assignee] 
 
 
 
 
                                                   By: 
                                                      Name: 
                                                      Title: 
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Consented to: 
 
MOVADO GROUP, INC. 
 
 
By: 
   Name: 
   Title: 
 
THE CHASE MANHATTAN BANK, AS ADMINISTRATIVE 
AGENT, AS SWINGLINE BANK AND AS ISSUING BANK 
 
 
By: 
   Name: 
   Title: 
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                                    EXHIBIT F 
 
                            CONFIDENTIALITY AGREEMENT 
 
 
                                             __________________, 200____ 
 
[Insert Name and 
 Address of Prospective 
 Participant or Assignee] 
 
Re:            Credit Agreement dated as of June ___, 2000 (which, as the same 
               may hereafter be amended, will be called herein the "Credit 
               Agreement") among Movado Group, Inc., the Lenders signatory 
               thereto, The Chase Manhattan Bank, as Administrative Agent, as 
               Swingline Bank and as Issuing Bank, Fleet Bank, N.A., as 
               Syndication Agent, and The Bank of New York, as Documentation 
               Agent 
 
Dear _____________: 
 
               As a Lender, party to the Credit Agreement, we have agreed with 
Movado Group, Inc. (the "Borrower") pursuant to Section 12.14 of the Credit 
Agreement to use reasonable precautions to keep confidential, except as 
otherwise provided therein, all non-public information identified by the 
Borrower as being confidential at the time the same is delivered to us pursuant 
to the Credit Agreement. 
 
               As provided in said Section 12.14, we are permitted to provide 
you, as a prospective [holder of a participation in the Loans (as defined in the 
Credit Agreement)] [assignee Lender], with certain of such non-public 
information subject to the execution and delivery by you, prior to receiving 
such non-public information, of a Confidentiality Agreement in this form. Such 
information will not be made available to you until your execution and return to 
us of this Confidentiality Agreement. 
 
               Accordingly, in consideration of the foregoing, you agree (on 
behalf of yourself and each of your affiliates, directors, officers, employees 
and representatives) that (A) such information will not be used by you except in 
connection with the proposed [participation] [assignment] mentioned above and 
(B) you shall use reasonable precautions, in accordance with your customary 
procedures for handling confidential information and in accordance with safe and 
sound banking practices, to keep such information confidential, provided that 
nothing herein shall limit the disclosure of any such information (i) to the 
extent required by statute, rule, regulation or judicial process, (ii) to your 
counsel or to counsel for any of the Lenders or the Administrative Agent, (iii) 
to bank examiners, auditors or accountants, (iv) in connection with any 
litigation to which you or any one or more of the Lenders is a party; and 
provided that in no event shall you be obligated to return any materials 
furnished to you pursuant to this Confidentiality Agreement. 
 
               Would you please indicate your agreement to the foregoing by 
signing at the place provided below the enclosed copy of this Confidentiality 
Agreement. 
 
                                                   Very truly yours, 
 
                                                   [Insert Name of Lender] 
 
 
 
 
                                                   By: 
                                                      -------------------------- 
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The foregoing is agreed to 
as of the date of this letter. 
 
 
[Insert name of prospective 
participant or assignee] 
 
 
By: 
   -------------------------------- 
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                                   SCHEDULE I 
 
                 Lenders and Their Revolving Credit Commitments 
 
 
 
 
                                    Lender's Revolving           Lender's Pro 
Name of Lender               Credit Commitment            Rata Percentage 
- --------------               -----------------            --------------- 
                                                    
The Chase Manhattan Bank            $ 22,500,000                        22.5% 
 
Fleet Bank, N.A.                    $ 22,500,000                        22.5% 
 
The Bank of New York         $ 22,500,000                        22.5% 
 
European American Bank              $ 18,500,000                        18.5% 
 
Summit Bank                         $ 14,000,000                        14.0% 
 
 
Total Revolving 
Credit Commitment                   $100,000,000          100% 
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                                   SCHEDULE II 
 
                                APPLICABLE RATES 
 
 
 
 
- ----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 Average Debt Coverage Ratio           LIBOR Loan Spread             Commitment Fee Rate 
=============================================================================================== 
                                                                
Category 1 
- ---------- 
 
Less than or equal to 1.75                    .75%                           .20% 
- ----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Category 2 
- ---------- 
 
Greater than 1.75, but less 
than or equal to 2.5                         1.00%                           .25% 
- ----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Category 3 
- ---------- 
 
Greater than 2.5, but less than 
or equal to 3                                1.50%                           .30% 
- ----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Category 4 
- ---------- 
 
Greater than 3                               2.00%                           .40% 
- ----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
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                                  SCHEDULE III 
               Subsidiaries of Movado Group, Inc. (the "Company") 
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                                   SCHEDULE IV 
 
                       Credit Arrangements (Section 6.10) 
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                                   SCHEDULE V 
 
                      Environmental Matters (Section 6.12) 
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THIS SCHEDULE CONTAINS SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION EXTRACTED FROM THE 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED JULY 31, 2000. 
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